LANCASTER

Exyl CITY COUNCIL

Promoting City, Coast & Countryside

INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER AND OFFICER DELEGATED DECISIONS

THURSDAY, 11 DECEMBER 2025

Please find enclosed Decision Notice in connection with the following:

ICMD22 Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Plan Decision to Proceed to Referendum
(Pages 2 - 131)

Please note that this is subject to call-in.

Queries regarding these documents

Please contact Liz Bateson, Democratic Support - email ebateson@Ilancaster.gov.uk.

Democratic Support,
Town Hall,

Dalton Square,
Lancaster,

LAl 1PJ

Published on THURSDAY, 11 DECEMBER 2025



Agenda Item 1 Page 2

LANCASTER

CITY COUNCIL

Promoting City, Coast & Countryside
EXECUTIVE DECISIONS TAKEN BY CABINET PORTFOLIO HOLDER OR DELEGATED OFFICER
NOTICE OF DECISION

TITLE OF DECISION:
Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Plan Decision to Proceed to Referendum

NAME OF DECISION TAKER: COUNCILLOR TYLDESLEY

POSITION AND PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR PLANNING
RESPONSIBILITY HELD:

CONTACT OFFICER: PAUL HATCH

TELEPHONE: 01524 582329
E-MAIL: phatch@lancaster.

Details of Decision:

That the Cabinet Member endorses the proposed changes to the Neighbourhood Plan, as set out in
in the Examiners Report and agrees that decision statement can be issued to inform interested
parties that the modified Neighbourhood Plan should proceed to Referendum as soon as reasonably
possible.

That Cabinet Member agrees to the advance funding of the Referendum which will be claimed back
from the Government in due course.

Reasons for the decision:

Halton-with-Aughton Parish Council are undertaking the preparation their neighbourhood plan, the
content of which has been subject to independent examination over the course of the 2025. The
content and direction of their plan has been found to meet the basic conditions of neighbourhood
planning and, subject to modifications, can proceed to public referendum. The Parish Council have
indicated that they wish to proceed to this next stage and are currently preparing a Referendum
Version of the Plan which will be published early in the new year.

Given the plan has been found to meet the Basic Conditions of neighbourhood planning, the Council
have legal responsibilities in supporting and facilitating the referendum stage of the process, which

will be led by the Council’s Elections team. Subject to a successful outcome at referendum then the

finalised version of the plan will be presented to Full Council for approval in due course.

IS THE DECISION NO

I confirm that | am authorising the decision as set out above in accordance with Rule 3 (Sub-
Delegation of Executive Functions) of Cabinet Procedure Rules Part 3, Section 2 of the
Constitution

SIGNATURE OF DECISION TAKER: | ClIr Tyldesley

THIS SECTION TO BE COMPLETED BY DEMOCRATIC SERVICES REFNO. | |cMD22

DATE DECISION DATE RECEIVED BY
TAKEN: 11.12.25 DEMOCRATIC SERVICES: | 111225
DATE DECISION IMPLEMENTATION DATE
PUBLISHED: 11.12.25 (publication day + 5 19.12.25

working days):




1.2

Page 3

CABINET

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Plan Decision to
Proceed to Referendum

Individual Cabinet Member Decision
(Councillor Tyldesley)

Report of Chief Officer — Planning & Climate Change

PURPOSE OF REPORT

To seek approval from the cabinet member for the Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Plan
to proceed to referendum at the earliest possible opportunity.

Non-Key Decision Referral from Cabinet
Member
key decision

This report is public

RECOMMENDATION OF THE CHIEF OFFICER — PLANNING & CLIMATE
CHANGE

1. That the Cabinet Member endorses the proposed changes to the
Neighbourhood Plan, as set out in in the Examiners Report and agrees
that decision statement can be issued to inform interested parties that
the modified Neighbourhood Plan should proceed to Referendum as
soon as reasonably possible.

2. That Cabinet Member agrees to the advance funding of the Referendum
which will be claimed back from the Government in due course.

INTRODUCTION

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the Localism Act 2011 give
local communities direct power to develop their shared vision for their neighbourhood
and deliver the sustainable development they need. Neighbourhood planning
provides a powerful set of tools for local people to get the right type of development
for their community. The referendum is the culmination of the neighbourhood plan
production process.

Halton-with-Aughton Parish Council is seeking to prepare their own neighbourhood
plan under the powers described and have now reached an advanced stage in its



2.0

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

Page 4

preparation. The Independent Examination into the Plan took place between May to
August 2025 and an Examiners Report has now received indicating that, subject to
modifications their neighbourhood plan can be advanced to the referendum stage.
These modifications have now been made.

PROPOSAL DETAILS

Halton-with-Augton Parish Council began work on their Neighbourhood Plan
following the areas designation in 2015. In preparing the document the group has
placed community engagement at the heart of their plan, undertaking a series of
consultations and building evidence to support the policies contained in the plan.

The content of the plan seeks to address a range of issues including landscape and
the natural environment, built heritage, housing need, high quality and sustainable
design, transport and local community facilities. It also sets out a range of community
aspirations around the delivery of new traffic calming, parking, recreational provision,
green spaces and footpaths which the community would wish to see advanced as
part of any future development proposals in the Parish.

The Parish Council (who are responsible for preparing the plan) fulfilled the statutory
requirements of neighbourhood plan making process and have undertaken
consultation on a draft plan in the Summer of 2024. Lancaster City Council
consulted on the Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan (2024-
2031) for seven weeks from Monday 10 March 2025 to 12 noon Monday 28 April
2025 (regulation 16)

Following the publication of the final version of the Halton-with-Aughton
Neighbourhood Plan, the documentation was scrutinised by an independent
examiner. The examiner was appointed jointly between the City Council and Parish
Council. The examination of the plan was carried out through the written
representations procedure and did not involve any form of hearing sessions. The final
version of the Examiners Report was received on the 31 July 2025 and
recommended that, subject to a series of modifications, the plan can proceed to
referendum. The most significant modification required related to the replacement of
a policy relating to management of water and flood risk to ensure that it most
appropriately reflected national planning policy and took into account the relative
position of the relevant responsible water authorities. The Examiner’s Report is
attached at Appendix B of this Report.

The modifications set out by the Examiner are considered to be necessary to ensure
that the neighbourhood plan meets the Basic Conditions as required by the Localism
Act. The basic conditions for neighbourhood plan making are:

¢ Having regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by
the Secretary of State it is appropriate to make the neighbourhood plan.

e The making of the neighbourhood plan contributes to the achievement of
sustainable development.

e The making of the neighbourhood plan is in general conformity with the
strategic policies contained in the development plan for the area of the
authority.

¢ The making of the order (or neighbourhood plan) does not breach, and is
otherwise compatible with, EU obligations.



2.6

2.7

2.8

3.0
3.1

4.0

Page 5

e Prescribed conditions are met in relation to the Order (or plan) and prescribed
matters have been complied with in connection with the proposal for the order
(or neighbourhood plan).

Officers have reviewed the plan in light of the proposed modifications and conclude
that the plan will continue to meet the Basic Conditions when incorporating the
Examiner’'s modifications. Since receiving the modifications, the Qualifying Body
agree that the changes are acceptable, and they have amended the Neighbourhood
Plan accordingly and have confirmed that they wish for it to proceed to referendum at
the earliest practicable opportunity.

If approved, the referendum will be held at the earliest practicable opportunity, in
accordance with legislation. The question to be used in the referendum is set by the
‘Neighbourhood Planning (Referendums) Regulations 2012’, and must be “Do you
want Lancaster City Council to use the neighbourhood plan for Halton-with-Aughton
to help it decide planning applications in the neighbourhood area?”

If more than 50% of those voting in the referendum answer “yes”, the plan would then
form part of the Development Plan for the City Council and would then need to be
formally ‘made’ (adopted) by the Council. This ‘making’ of the neighbourhood plan
would be a decision made by full Council.

DETALS OF CONSUTLATION

The Halton-with- Neighbourhood Plan was formally consulted upon at Regulation 16
(The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended) stage prior
to the submission of the neighbourhood plan for examination by the appointed

Examiner.

OPTIONS AND OPTIONS ANALYSIS (including Risk Assessment)

Option 1: Accept the
modifications of the
Examiner, issue a
decision statement to
this effect and approve
the Neighbourhood
Plan to go forward to
referendum.

Option 2: Reject some
of the modifications of
the  Examiner and
delegate authority to
the Planning Manager
to publish the decision.

Option 3: Reject all of
the modifications of
the Examiner.

Advantages

The benefit of a
Neighbourhood Plan
shaped by local
residents of Halton with
Aughton Parish,
enables the community
to influence
development in their
area through plan
making. It will enable
the community as a
whole to decide if the
Neighbourhood Plan
should be used by the

That the plan could be
prepared in line with (or
closer in line with) the
original intentions of the
Parish Council.

None known.
Rejection of all the
modifications would
mean rejection of the
Neighbourhood Plan
on the basis that the
Council could not be
satisfied that the Plan
could met the Basic
Conditions required
by Schedule 4B Town
and Country Planning
Act 1990.




Page 6

Council for determining
planning applications.

Disadvantages

None known

Officers and the Parish
Council have agreed
the modifications are
acceptable and that
the plan is suitable to
be the subject of a
referendum.

Rejecting modifications
may remove clarity,
factual correctness or
compatibility with other
local authority plans or
policies. It could also
lead to the Basic
Conditions requirement
not being met.

Rejecting modification
will require further
consideration by
officers as to the
suitability of the plan
and further
consideration by
Council.

The Neighbourhood
Plan would not be
made.

Risks

Acceptance of the
Examiners’

recommendations and
adoption could lead to

legal challenge.

Removal of some of
the modifications may
lead to the
Neighbourhood Plan
not meeting the Basic
Conditions and to the
ultimate decision that
the plan should not be
progressed.

Removal of some of
the Examiner’s
recommendations may
also create ambiguity
and uncertainty in the
application of the Plan.
This could lead to legal
challenge and difficulty
in the application of
planning policy to
planning decisions.

The Neighbourhood
Plan, with the
Examiners’
recommendations, is
agreeable to the
Neighbourhood
group. To reject the
Neighbourhood Plan
by not accepting the
modifications could be
subject to public law
challenge.

5.0 CONCLUSIONS

5.1 The preferred option is Option 1. Given the level of work undertaken by the Parish
Council alongside the extensive consultation that took place prior to the Examination



5.2

5.3

Page 7

of the plan it is considered that subject to the outcome of the referendum that it is the
will of the community of Halton-with-Aughton Parish for a neighbourhood plan to be
adopted.

The Independent Examiner has scrutinised plan in making an assessment as to
whether it meets the Basic Conditions and subject to modification is of the view that
the plan is ready to proceed to Referendum.

In conclusion it is the opinion of the Director that the Halton-with-Aughton
Neighbourhood Plan is ready to proceed to referendum, subject to modifications as
recommended by the Examiner being made.

RELATIONSHIP TO POLICY FRAMEWORK

Neighbourhood Planning contributes to the Council’s corporate plan priorities, in particular,
sustainable economic growth.

Once made (adopted), neighbourhood plans will form part of the Council’s Lancaster District
Local Plan.

CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT
(including Health & Safety, Equality & Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, HR,
Sustainability and Rural Proofing)

The Examiner has confirmed that the Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Plan meets the
Basic Conditions (subject to recommended modifications). One of these conditions is that it
must be compatible with human rights requirements. Officers agree that the plan, with
modifications meets the Basic Conditions.

There are not considered to be any equality impacts relating to recommendations of this
report.

Another of the Basic Conditions is to contribute the achievement of sustainable development.
The neighbourhood plan was supported by a Strategic Environmental Assessment screening
that concluded that the plan would not trigger significant environmental effects. In addition to
this, the Council has confirmed that it believes the plan meets the Basic Conditions including
in terms of sustainability.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

The Council’s Legal duties are set out within the body of this Report and within the relevant
sections of the Localism Act 2011. In accordance with regulation 12 (4) Schedule 4B of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as applicable by virtue of s38A (3) of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004), the Council must hold a referendum if it is satisfied either:

a. The proposed Neighborhood Plan meets the following conditions

() The basic conditions are met
(ii) It is compatible with the ECHR
(iii) It complies with the provision made by or under S38A (6) and S38B
of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
Or

b. The proposed NP would meet the criteria if modifications are made (whether or not
recommended by the examiner).




Page 8

As per paragraph 2.5 of the report, the modifications set out by the Examiner, will ensure that
the Neighbourhood Plan will meets the basic requires. The Examiner has also confirmed via
their report that the plan does not breach and is compatible with the ECHR.

If Council resolves to reject some of the Examiner’s recommendation, it will have to give clear
reasons for its rejection. If the rejection is due to some new evidence, fact or a different
interpretation of a fact, then the authority will have no notify prescribed persons of the
proposed decision (and the reason for it) and invite representations. The Authority may refer
the issue to independent examination.

If the Council rejects all of the Examiner’'s recommendations then the Authority will not be able
to satisfy itself that the Basic Conditions are met. This would mean that the Plan would have
to be refused. This could be subject to a public law challenge if the Council’s rejection of all
the modifications is not justified by sound reasoning.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

As set out in the body of the report, to support the preparation of any neighbourhood plan
Lancaster City Council has a duty to provide officer support to the community preparing the
plan and as a result will also incur additional costs to cover (1) various stages of publicity, (2)
Independent Examination and (3) a referendum. The local planning authorities are able to
claim monies from DLUHC to offset the costs of undertaking this work.

A payment of £20,000 becomes eligible once the local authority have set a date for the
referendum following a successful examination and this is expected to sufficiently cover all
costs.

Given the advance stage of the Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Plan the Independent
Examination has already taken place, costing the City Council £7.500 + VAT. The Council’s
democratic service officers have advised that the estimated direct costs of holding a
referendum (comprising printing and posting of voting materials, the Poll Station day staff and
count voters) would be in the region of £9,450.

Budgets will be updated accordingly to provide provision for the costs in the year that they are
expected to occur.

There are no financial implications associated with the recommended changes to the
Neighbourhood Plan as set out in the Examiners Report.

OTHER RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
Human Resources:

Managing a referendum will also need the resources of democratic services officers, this
would need to be funded from the grant, and may require additional staff resources if it impacts
on other elections.

Information Services:
None.

Property:

None.

Open Spaces:




Page 9

SECTION 151 OFFICER’S COMMENTS

The section 151 Officer has been consulted and has no comments to add.

MONITORING OFFICER’S COMMENTS

The Monitoring Officer has been consulted and has no comments to add.

BACKGROUND PAPERS Contact Officer: Paul Hatch
Telephone: 01524 582329

Appendix A -  Halton-with-Aughton E-mail; phatch@lancaster.qgov.uk

Neighbourhood Plan Submission Version

Appendix B - Examiners report — the
examiner's report is appended for
consideration and should be read in
conjunction with the submission version of the
neighbourhood plan

https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/assets/attach/1
5075/Halton-with-Aughton-NDP-Report-of-
Independent-Examination-310725.pdf



https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/assets/attach/15075/Halton-with-Aughton-NDP-Report-of-Independent-Examination-310725.pdf
https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/assets/attach/15075/Halton-with-Aughton-NDP-Report-of-Independent-Examination-310725.pdf
https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/assets/attach/15075/Halton-with-Aughton-NDP-Report-of-Independent-Examination-310725.pdf
mailto:phatch@lancaster.gov.uk

b o -

., 4 £e 3
e | Wi P AR E‘J ‘“&;. '3-35;\ @1“"""’ J“:‘_ Vie, 0 S - _;‘."1. i’ & - L

N o T g T v % Py ”s@“a"'iﬁ‘,;"-',.....‘ﬁ..\é&ﬁ,-,.“_i“;,".& .

I ‘ : ; s 2 o g g i

HALTON-WITH-AUGHTON .,,-_f;r;éeﬁ_‘
NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN..
2024 - 2031 '

December 2024 TR e It J

B / I H g i .I I“; ‘, M Bt ¥
R i VR F AR ma B i

& & { A 3 | #F L) 4 i it i ) i oy
SR Tl i | A £AL: . h ?!_, i i i ? : X l({ . . i, g
. iy j F O L R v o ) i i




Page 11

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

Contents

1.  Introduction and BackGrOUNG............oeiiiiiiiiiie ittt e e s et te e e e e e s etbre e e e e eesattaeeeeesnteaeeeeesnnses 4
2. A Description of Halton-with-Aughton Parish ... 8
S T VA (o o - [ o @] o T =Tot 4 1Y/ RPN 11
4. Landscape and Natural ENVIFONMENT .......ceiiiiiiiiiiie ettt e e et e e e e s et bre e e e eesastaeeeessaaseaeeeesannees 14
T o] =T oV oY o TU T = TV 1 Ll o 1T 1 - T PR 29
LS & Fo 1V 1 =48 [T RPN 32
7.  High Quality and SUStainable DESIGN ........uueuiiiiiiiiiiieiieeee et e e ee e e e aeeseeeeaaaaaeeeeeeesenennnns 40
T I = 0 ] o o o S 43
9.  Local COMMUNILY FACHILIES . .vvveeeeeiiieiiiie ettt e e e e et e e e e e et re e e e e e e abae e e e e e e enraeeeeseennsnneeas 45
10. COMMUNITY ASPITATIONS 1evvtuiiiiiieee ittt e et ettt sre e s e e e e eeeeeaaebaba s eeeeesaeeanesssaaaassssesseeeaeesennsenses 49
11. AN TG =T o RPN 53
Appendix 1: Lancaster District Local PIan PoliCies Maps .........uuuuiiieiiiiiiiiiiieieeee e eecvn e vee e e eeeeee s 55
Appendix 2: Wildlife Corridors connecting Woodland ............coeeiieiiiiiiii ittt e e e 59
YN o] o1 o Lo e Bl o I=Y 1 =Y o I XY= 61
Appendix 4: Halton’s Recent Flooding History and RESPONSES........cuiuiiriiiiiiiiieeie ettt et 68



Page 12

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

Policies

Policy HA-1: Conserving & Enhancing Local Landscape Character ..........cceeeeiiiiiiee i ecvvee e 17
Policy HA-2: Protecting and Enhancing Wildlife and GeodiVersity .........cceevieiieeiii e 20
Policy HA-3 - Area Of SEPAratioN ......uuiee it e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e s es e e e s s e s arasbaaaeeaeeeeeaaaaaaas 21
o [TV o Ve R o Tor= | W € =Y =T o Iy o [ L3S 23
o] [ Tol A o VS Tl o (oo o 1oV 27
Policy HA-6 - Protecting Historic CharaCter........cooooi oottt e aee e e e eeeaaeaas 31
Policy HA-7 - Meeting Local HOUSING NEEAS ........uiiiiiiiiiieiee et tee e ettt e e et e e e s esaaae e e e e s eaaaaaeesessnnbaaeaeeens 36
Policy HA-8 - Halton Urban DevelOPMENT ........coi ittt e e e e e e e e e e s e st a s raareeaeeeeeaaaaaeas 38
Policy HA-9 - High Quality and Sustainable DeSIZN.........coccuiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeriee ettt e sae s e e s saeeeeenes 42
POIICY HA-10 = ACEIVE TraVeliuuieiiiiiie ittt ettt e st e e s te e e s sat e e s sabeeesabaeesssbaeesnbeeensnsseeenes 44
Policy HA-11 - ComMmMUNItY FaCHlities ..ocuuviieeieiieiiiiiiie sttt e e s s e e e s sasaaeee e s ssntaeaaeseas 46
Maps

Map 1 - Halton-with-Aughton Designated Neighbourhood Plan Area and Parish..............ccoocciiiiiiiiiiieieeenn, 6
Map 2 - Policy HA-1 Conserving and Enhancing Local Landscape Character Areas.........cccooeceevnvrvvvrinieeeeeeeennn. 18
Map 3 - Policy HA-4 LOCal GreeN SPACES ATBAS ....eeieeeiiririieeeeiiiireieeeeeiirereesessssseeeesssassssesesesssssssssesesssssssseseesans 24
Map 4 - Halton Urban DevelopmMENt Aras ......cccoie e i ettt tee et e e e e e e e e e e e ee e e s e s e e e e nnaaenraareaaeseeaeaaaeans 39
Map 5 - Policy HA-11 Community Facilities Locations (Halton) ........cccccuviiiiiiiiiiiee e 47
Map 6 - Policy HA-11 Community Facilities Locations (AUEhtON) .......cccuviiieiiiiiiiiiee et 48
Map 7 - Local Plan Strategic Policies and Land Allocations Map .......cccuvvieeiiiiiiieiee e ecciireee e eecvrre e e eanaeeee e 56
Map 8 - Local Plan Landscape Designations, National Landscape and Open Countryside ..........cccccevecvnveeeeenn. 57
Map 9 — LOCal Plan HOUSING DEIVEIY....cuueeiiiiiieeeee ettt tee e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e s aer b e s aaeeaeeseeaeaaaeas 58
Map 10 - Wildlife Corridors connecting Woodland ............coooiiiiiieiicciiieie e raee e 60
Map 11 - Halton Conservation Area Appraisal 2009, Townscape Appraisal Map.........ccooeveeeciiciiiiiiieeeeeeeeennn. 67
Y Yo A e o1 1o o I [ NV Y o T TP 70
Map 13 - Areas at risk of flooding during a 1.33% AEP rainfall @vent.........ccccoocuiieiiiiiiiiiei e 71
Map 14 — Drainage Network Capacity during 1.33% AEP rainfall event........ccccoieeiiiiiiiiiie e, 72
Map 15 — Indicative location of Do-Something Option 1 .........cccciiiiiiiiiiiiiieeec e ee e 73
Map 16 — Indicative location of Do-Something OPtionN 2 ......cccuiiiiiiiiiiiieeee e e aaneee e 74
Map 17 — Indicative location of Do-Something Option 3 .........cciiiiiiiiiiieeeeeee e e e ee e 75



Page 13

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

1. Introduction and Background

Introduction

1.1.

1.2.

Welcome to the Neighbourhood Development Plan (NDP) for Halton-with-Aughton Parish.

The Plan includes a vision and objectives and a set of local planning policies to guide decisions about
development in the Parish up to 2031. It has been prepared by a Steering Group of parish councillors
and local residents and is informed by the responses to the informal consultation on the
Neighbourhood Plan which was undertaken from October to November 2019. The Plan has been
revised and updated following further informal consultation on the emerging Draft Plan from 8
April — 5" May 2024 and formal consultation from 15 July — 8" September 2024.

What is an NDP?

1.3.

1.4.

1.5.

1.6.

1.7.

Neighbourhood Plans, also known as Neighbourhood Development Plans or NDPs, are planning
policy documents used to help determine planning applications by the local planning authority (here,
Lancaster City Council). NDPs were introduced through the Localism Act 2011 to give local people a
greater say in planning decisions that affect their area. NDPs contain local planning policies designed
to reflect the needs and priorities of local communities. They are prepared by parish councils.

NDPs can identify where development should take place, set out local design principles so that
buildings respond positively to local character and built heritage, and protect the natural
environment and open spaces. They are an important part of our planning system because by law
planning applications are determined in accordance with the development plan! unless material
considerations indicate otherwise?. Made (adopted) NDPs are part of the local statutory
development plan for their area.

NDPs cannot be prepared in isolation. They must be ‘in general conformity’ with strategic planning
policies - in this case, the strategic policies in A Local Plan for Lancaster District 2011 —2031 Part One:
Strategic Policies and Land Allocations DPD, Adopted 29%™ July 2020. (Non-strategic policies are
contained in A Local Plan for Lancaster District 2011 — 2031 Part Two: Review of the Development
Management DPD, adopted 29*" July 2020.) Immediately following adoption Lancaster City Council
started a partial review of the adopted Strategic Policies and Land Allocation Development Plan
Document (DPD) and the Development Management DPD to ensure that the climate emergency is
adequately considered and to include the necessary mitigation and adaption measures necessary
(Climate Emergency Local Plan Review or CELPR). Work on the partial review is at an advanced stage
with its adoption expected in Summer or early Autumn 2024.

On 12™ September 2023 Lancaster City Council took the decision to undertake a full review of the
Local Plan. The Review will revisit a range of issues that will include (but is not limited to) matters of
housing, employment, climate change, design, and the natural environment.

NDP Policies must also 'have regard to' national planning policy, as set out in the National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF) which was updated on 20" December 20233, and other National Planning
Practice Guidance, Ministerial Statements and Government advice.

! The development plan includes local and neighbourhood plans that have been brought into force.



Page 14

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

1.8. Overall, the Plan must meet a set of ‘basic conditions’ set out in national guidance. These include
being in general conformity with strategic policies and having regard to national policies as set out
above, as well as not breaching European obligations (transposed into UK law) and contributing to
the achievement of sustainable development. An independent examiner will consider whether the
Plan meets the basic conditions (or will, subject to certain recommended modifications) when the
Plan reaches examination stage.

1.9. Preparing an NDP is a lengthy process set out in Government regulations: the Neighbourhood
Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended). This process is summarised in Figure 1 -
Neighbourhood Development Plan Process. The process reflects the requirements that NDP policies
must be underpinned by a clear and robust evidence base of technical resources and be informed by
extensive public consultation.

1.10. The NDP has reached the Submission Stage. The Plan will be subject to a 6-week consultation, an
independent examination and finally the referendum.

1.11. During the referendum stage the whole parish will be asked to vote on whether the Plan should be
approved and adopted. If there is a majority Yes vote (50% of turnout + 1), the Plan will be made by
Lancaster City Council and used to help determine planning applications alongside Lancaster’s
planning policies and national policies.

Designation

1.12. The Parish Council of Halton-with-Aughton agreed it was important to exercise their rights to
influence local development and in 2015 applied for the area to be designated a Neighbourhood
Development Planning Area. Lancaster City Council approved this application on 27" October 2015.
The designated area is the same as the Parish boundary and is shown Map 1 - Halton-with-Aughton
Designated Neighbourhood Plan Area and Parish. The policies and proposals in the NDP only apply
to development within this boundary.

Drafting of the Plan & Public Consultation

1.13. The decision to start work on the initial Draft Neighbourhood Plan was made in late 2017 resulting
in an informal public consultation of the first draft plan in autumn 2019. Following COVID, work on
the emerging plan resumed in autumn 2022, with another informal public consultation occurring in
spring 2024 and a formal consultation occurring during the summer.

1.14. The Plan is underpinned by a technical evidence base of documents including the Halton
Conservation Area Appraisal 2009, Lune Valley CLT Housing Needs Survey 2019, and A Landscape
Strategy for Lancashire 2000, Jacobs Flood Risk Management Study 2020 and a Landscape Character
Assessment for Halton 2023. The evidence base documents are all published on the NDP page of
the Parish Council website.

2 3 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and section 70(2) of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990.

3 All references to NPPF paragraph numbers refer to the December 2023 version which was the most up to
date version at the time of the publication of the Draft Plan (July 2024).



Page 15

679TE80000DV SO ¥20T S3y3 aseqeiep pue 1ysuAdod umosd @

ysLpd pup paiy upjd pooyinoqybiap paipbubisag uoyybny-yiim-uoy|oH - T dojn

#TA ueld 3uawdojanag pooylnoqysiaN uoysny-yim-uoljeH




Page 16

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

Preparing the Formal

Designation Plan Consultation

LCC Consult for Submit to

Lancaster City Revise Plan
6 weeks Council (LCC)

Halton-with- |
Aughton
Neighbourhood
! Planmade |

Examination Referendum

Figure 1 - Neighbourhood Development Plan Process

Parish Council Actions and Community Aspirations

1.15. The Parish Council is aware that there are many important local concerns which have been
raised in public consultations which cannot be addressed through planning policies in the
NDP. These are complementary to the Plan and actions to address them will also contribute
towards the Vision and Objectives.

1.16. These are detailed in Community Aspirations along with possible courses of actions for
consideration by the Parish Council. They include Traffic Calming and Parking; enhanced
Community Facilities; protecting and improving Green Spaces; community management of
verges and residual green spaces protected by planning conditions; and more public
footpaths.



Page 17

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

2. A Description of Halton-with-Aughton Parish

2.1.

2.2.

2.3.

2.4,

2.5.

2.6.

2.7.

2.8.

Halton-with-Aughton sits on the north bank of the River Lune in the local authority area of
Lancaster City Council in the county of Lancashire. The Parish covers an area of 15.85 km?.
The main village of Halton is located 3 miles from Lancaster city centre and a small portion
of the Parish to the south-west lies within the urban boundary of the City of Lancaster. This
area also includes a section of the M6 motorway corridor and the major intersection of
Junction 34. However, most of the Parish has a very rural character as it extends north-
eastwards into the open countryside and the Forest of Bowland National Landscape.

Aughton forms a separate township within the parish of Halton-with-Aughton. It consists of
some 55 residences of which 29 form a loose grouping around the church and recreation
room, with the remainder dispersed around the township, including a hamlet of 10 dwellings
at Middle Highfield. The core of the village retains much of its 17" century character and
apart from a small number of barn conversions there has been no significant development
for at least the last two decades. There is a small village green in the centre of the village.

The population expanded from 2,277 (2011) to 2,900 (2021) which is an increase of 27%.

In total, about 362 new homes, from 1 bed flats to 5 bed houses, will have been added in
Halton village from 2011 to 2024; an increase of 38%, taking the total number of village
homes to about 1,320.

The close proximity of the City of Lancaster provides significant employment opportunities
for local residents. Within the Parish local businesses are largely linked to agriculture,
tourism and local shops and services. The NDP does not include policies and proposals on
employment in addition to those in the Local Plan as these higher-level policies
comprehensively address employment related issues in the neighbourhood plan area.

Halton-with-Aughton enjoys a range of venues for social activities. There are two public
halls, one public house, a social club and a scout hut. The parish also has a thriving Church
of England primary school, two churches, a library, a doctor’s surgery, a post office,
hairdressers, shops and two cafes.

The Centre @ Halton is at the heart of Halton village and is run by a team of volunteers,
Halton Community Association (HCA) which is a registered charity. Itis used by many activity
groups. Services are supported by holding fundraising events, hiring out the facilities and
hosting a Coffee Shop to fund improvements and bring new ideas to the Centre. It also
includes a Changing Places toilet.

Outdoor facilities next to The Centre building include a skate park, multi-use games area
(MUGA), children’s play areas, recreation area/football pitch, picnic area, parking, and
boules area.



Page 18

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

2.9.

2.10.

2.11.

2.12.

2.13.

2.14.

2.15.

2.16.

2.17.

The former Luneside Engineering works at Halton Mill down by the river was converted into
workshops and offices to rent in 2013. Run by the Green Elephant Co-operative it also has
meeting rooms to hire and hosts a variety of events and classes.

Aughton Recreation Room was built by local farming families in 1923 to provide a social and
community space within the historic township of Aughton and has been run as a registered
charity since 2009. The trustees hire out the premises for private functions to create an
income to subsidise community events and recreational activities at what has become
known as ‘Aughton Village Hall’. The Hall is closely associated with the Vale of Lune Young
Farmers Club.

Many in the Parish are reliant on private cars for transport. The 2021 Census figures show
that the proportion of households with 2 or more vehicles was significantly higher than the
national average. The nearest train stations are at Carnforth and Lancaster. There are buses
that run through Halton to Carnforth, Lancaster and via Caton through the Lune Valley,
however, the eastern two-thirds of the parish has no public transport, leaving those
residents of Aughton with very limited travel choices.

There are several public rights of way within the Parish including a renowned circular route
included in many published Guidebooks from the Crook of Lune to Aughton via the Highfields
and returning via the banks of the Lune. Both the National Route 69 of the National Cycle
Network and Lancashire Cycleway Northen Loop [90] pass through the Parish.

The Parish contains significant built heritage assets. There is evidence that Halton was a place
of considerable importance before the Norman Conquest in 1066. It was an Anglo-Saxon
Manor, and this led to the construction of the 11th century castle. The rural character
changed in the mid-18th century in response to the industrial revolution when a blast
furnace and foundry were established. The construction of mill buildings and mill workers’
cottages followed.

Halton Conservation Area includes the historic core of the village, Castle Hill with St Wilfrid’s
Church to the south-west, Foundry Lane and St Wilfrid’s Hall to the north and properties on
High Road, Low Road, and at Manor House and Town End Farm. The Parish has 48 Listed
Buildings including the Castle Hill Motte and Bailey, and Halton Cross which are scheduled
monuments.

Halton-with-Aughton has a distinctive landscape character and includes coastal drumlins, a
drumlin field, the floodplain of the River Lune and the river gorge at Halton. The landscape
is largely lowland agriculture with a characteristic patchwork of small fields. As well as stands
of trees and mature hedges, some of which form green corridors along the River Lune and
within the village, there are several designated remnants of ancient woodland including Dale
Wood, Gutterflat Wood, Aughton and Burton Woods. Burton Wood is also a Site of Special
Scientific Interest (SSSI), and Aughton Woods is managed by the Wildlife Trust. The diversity
of flowers and birds in the woods in Springtime is especially notable.

To the west of the M6 the Parish includes Halton Army Camp, a training camp on the banks
of the River Lune.

The Thirlmere Aqueduct, which was completed in 1925 and supplies water to Manchester,
enters from the north of the parish. It then travels south to cross the river Lune between
Crook O'Lune and Aughton. The bridge allows pedestrian access, so forms part of a popular
circular walk along the riverbanks from Crook O'Lune.



Page 19

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

2.18. The Local Plan Part One: Strategic Policies and Site Allocations Policies Map (see Appendix

2.19.

1: Lancaster District Local Plan Policies Maps) shows that most of the Parish is in the Open
Countryside (Policy EN3). There are several site allocations for housing, which are either
developed or in the process of being developed, an established employment area and
several areas of open space / recreation provision. There is also an Area of Separation (Policy
ENG) identified to ensure that strategic growth to the north of the city does not result in the
two settlements (Lancaster and Halton) merging.

These and other higher level strategic planning policies provide the Lancaster planning
context with which the NDP policies must be in general conformity.

10



Page 20

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

3. Vision and Objectives

3.1. An NDP must include a shared Vision and Objectives which the planning policies will help to
deliver.

3.2. The consultation in 2019 did not include a Vision or Objectives but the Draft Plan referred to
the feedback received from local people in 2013 for the Parish Plan which showed what they
valued. This has been used to define a Vision for the Halton-with-Aughton NDP:

Vision

In 2031 local people will value Halton-with Aughton as a place where they want to spend their lives
and bring up their families taking advantage of the many opportunities the locality affords.

The rural setting with its beauty and tranquillity will be conserved. The broad views across and
along the Lune Valley of fells, woodland and open green fields will continue to provide a strong
sense of living in a rural landscape, whilst the motte and bailey on Castle Hill and the surrounding
Conservation Area remain a focus for appreciation of the history of the parish. The historic core of
Halton village will be protected, and green spaces will support opportunities to enrich biodiversity
wildlife in the parish.

Halton-with-Aughton will have vibrant and engaged communities and parishioners will enjoy a
range of venues for social activities and the best of rural life.

11



Page 21

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

3.3. The NDP Objectives are informed by the ‘Issues for the Neighbourhood to Address’ which
were set out in the 2019 Draft Plan and have been updated in 2024 following the informal
consultation. These are:

e Objective 1: To ensure new development is integrated into its setting, whether itisin
the heart of the villages, or in the more rural areas.
This will be delivered through NDP Policies HA1, HA6 and HAS.

e Objective 2: To conserve and enhance the distinctive rural character of both villages
and the countryside.
This will be delivered through NDP Policies HA1, HA3, HA4, HA6, HA8 and HA9.

e Objective 3: To protect and enhance sites of biological importance, including the
remnants of ancient woodlands, to improve the wildlife value of other green spaces
within the Parish, and to ensure opportunities are taken to link and extend green
corridors through the villages and along the river, so that connectivity between areas
of wildlife importance is maximised.

This will be delivered through NDP Policies HA1, HA2 and HA4 and Parish Council
Actions and Community Aspirations.

e Objective 4: To ensure new housing meets the local needs of the Parish.
This will be delivered through NDP Policy HA7.

e Objective 5: To recognise the importance of community facilities, sport and
recreation facilities in in the Parish by ensuring existing facilities are protected and
proposals for new and improved facilities are supported including through financial
contributions from new residential developments.

This will be delivered through NDP Policy HA11.

e Objective 6: To promote sustainable transport alternatives and to support measures
which increase walking, cycling and use of public transport and which reduce
reliance on private cars.

This will be delivered through NDP Policy HA10 and Parish Council Actions and
Community Aspirations.

e Objective 7: To reduce surface water flooding at key risk areas.
This will be delivered through NDP Policy HA5 and Parish Council Actions and
Community Aspirations.

e Objective 8: To protect green spaces and take opportunities to enhance their wildlife

value.
This will be delivered through NDP Policy HA4.

12



Page 22

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

Neighbourhood Plan Policies

3.4.

3.5.

3.6.

3.7.

The following sections set out the planning policies for Halton-with-Aughton Parish and
these will be used to help determine planning applications for development. The evidence
and rationale behind each policy are set out in the supporting text.

The policies are necessarily wide ranging in their scope and taken together, should help to
deliver the future development within the Parish that is both sustainable and appropriate.

The policies will help deliver the Objectives and Vision.

The following maps indicate which areas would be covered by the policies:

e Map 2 - Policy HA-1 Conserving and Enhancing Local Landscape Character Areas
e Map 3 - Policy HA-4 Local Green Spaces Areas

e Map 5 - Policy HA-11 Community Facilities Locations (Halton)

e Map 6 - Policy HA-11 Community Facilities Locations (Aughton)

13



Page 23

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

4. Landscape and Natural Environment

Landscape Character

4.1.

4.2.

4.3.

4.4.

The beautiful landscape setting of Halton-with-Aughton is one of the defining characteristics
of the neighbourhood plan area and it is highly valued by residents and visitors.

Part of the neighbourhood plan area, to the west of the M6 and north of A683 is within the
North Lancashire Green Belt (Local Plan: Part One Policy EN4 The North Lancashire Green
Belt). NPPF paragraph 152 sets out that ‘inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful
to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances.’
Paragraph 154 advises that local planning authorities ‘should regard the construction of new
buildings as inappropriate in the Green Belt’ apart from certain exceptions which are set out.
Paragraph 155 explains that ‘certain other forms of development are also not inappropriate
in the Green Belt provided they preserve its openness and do not conflict with the purposes
of including land within it’ and describes these types of development.

At a national level Natural England has identified a number of National Character Areas
(NCAs) and the neighbourhood plan area largely falls within NCA 20. Morecambe Bay
Limestones, with a small area to the west of the M6 corridor in NCA 31. Morecambe Bay and
Lune Estuary.

At a County level, the Landscape Strategy for Lancashire 2000 identifies and describes a
number of Landscape Character Areas. Parts of Halton-with-Aughton fall within the following
areas and relevant extracts are provided below:

e 12 Low Coastal Drumlins which are found on the north-west coast of the study area
where the last retreating ice sheets left a series of rounded boulder clay hills in their
paths.

e 12a Carnforth-Galgate ... The Low Coastal Drumlins provide a convenient transport
corridor; the Lancaster Canal, M6, A6 and mainline railway run side-by-side in a north-
south orientation.... The drumlins provide elevated points from which there are views
over the salt marshes to Morecambe Bay... Traditional farmsteads and older
settlement cores are built of stone, but the modern development is often built using
red brick. Buildings on top of the drumlin hills are particularly visible. Woodland is
limited to small plantations, woods associated with former estates and rarely,
fragments of ancient woodland in unusual hilltop or hillside settings.

e 13 Drumlin Fields which occur inland, on higher land than the Low Coastal Drumlins.
They are found on the edges of upland areas where the retreating ice sheets left
moulded boulder clay deposits in their paths.

e 13c Docker-Kellet ... The area is underlain by limestone and is distinguished by large
scale undulating hills of pasture, some formed from glacial till and others which are
outcrops of limestone, or reef knolls .... The smooth rolling scenery is emphasised by
the network of stone walls. Greater variety of texture is provided by the isolated areas
of moorland which protrude from the field, for example at ... the River Lune which
cuts a gorge through the hills at Halton. This gorge provides a major transport route
through the hills with a number of parking, picnic and camping sites scattered along its
length. Woodlands are often associated with designed landscapes ...

e 11 Valley Floodplains which is found on the valley floors of the course of the major
lowland rivers throughout the study area.

e 11d Lune Valley. The Lune floodplain is a flat floodplain surrounded by rolling
drumlins and hills. The Lune is a major lowland river with a classic pastoral, tranquil

14




Page 24

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

4.5.

4.6.

4.7.

4.8.

4.9.

4.10.

4.11.

floodplain; medium-large, regular fields of lush green pasture are bounded by low
clipped, often gappy, hedgerows with hedgerow trees. River terraces and bluffs along
the edge of the floodplain are sculptural elements which often support stone farm
buildings and the remains of motte-and-bailey castles. These mottes provide visible
evidence for the historic importance of the Lune as a routeway. ... Stone bridges are
again a feature and mark historic crossing points of the river. There is also evidence of
the industrial past and present; the route of a dismantled railway is still visible in the
landscape.

A significant part of the eastern part of the Parish lies within the Forest of Bowland National
Landscape. Development within and close to National Landscapes are expected to conform
to a high standard of design, to be in keeping with local distinctiveness and, fundamentally,
seeks to conserve and enhance the National Landscape’s natural beauty. National
Landscapes enjoy the same levels of protection in planning terms as National Parks.?

The Forest of Bowland Area of Qutstanding Natural Beauty Landscape Character Assessment
2009 describes various landscape character types in the National Landscape. The Parish
includes areas in J Valley Floodplain (J1 Lune) and K Drumlin Field (K1 Gressingham).

The overall strategy for the Valley Floodplain Landscape Character Type is to conserve the
diverse pattern of standing water, floodplain hay meadows, mature floodplain trees and the
network of hedgerows and dry-stone walls. The strong intervisibility with surrounding
Landscape Character Types should also be conserved and key landscape features
appropriately enhanced where in decline. Where lost, the natural river form should be
restored and conserved.

The overall strategy for Drumlin Fields is to conserve the distinctive rolling landform, and to
maintain the distinctive landscape pattern of pasture fields delineated with dry stone walls
and hedgerows. Inter-drumlin wetlands should be retained and enhanced. The strong built
vernacular character, and skyline and views into and out of the area should be retained. Built
development on ridgelines and hill tops should be avoided.

The Parish Plan 2013 recognised the importance of the landscape character in the Parish and
set out ‘Parish Planning Guidance’ — principles to preserve, and where possible, enhance
characteristic habitats of the landscape where built development would take place.

The principles were carried forward into the Draft Plan for Consultation 2019. The responses
from residents indicated support for the NDP to have a strong focus on conserving and
enhancing local landscape character. There were comments suggesting that locally
characteristic features such as trees and hedgerows should be protected and used in
planting schemes. The importance of preserving the current landscape and views was noted.

The NPPF supports a positive approach to conserving landscape character. Paragraph 135
advises ‘Planning policies and decisions should ensure that developments ... c) are
sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built environment and
landscape setting.” Paragraph 182 goes on to say, ‘Great weight should be given to
conserving and enhancing landscape and scenic beauty in National Parks, the Broads and
Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty.’

4 See Forest of Bowland Management Plan 2019 — 2024
https://www.forestofbowland.com/files/images/FOB%20ManPlan0719bLoRes.pdf

15



Page 25

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

4.12.

4.13.

4.14.

Local Plan Part One Policy EN2: Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty sets out that the
landscape character and visual amenity of the National Landscape and their settings will be
conserved and enhanced, and development will be guided by the relevant National
Landscape Management Plan. Policy EN3: The Open Countryside refers to areas of open
countryside that define the rural context of the district. A small area of the Parish in the
west falls within Policy EN5: Local Landscape Designations (Land South of the Bay Gateway);
these areas will be conserved, and important natural features safeguarded.

Local Plan: Part Two Policy DM6: Housing Provision in the Forest of Bowland National
Landscape sets out that the number, size, types and tenures of all homes provided should
closely reflect identified local needs and meet certain criteria. Proposals for major
development will not be permitted in the National Landscape, unless the proposal can be
demonstrated to be in the public interest and exceptional circumstances exist. In
determining whether exceptional circumstances exist, the Council will consider, amongst
other things, any detrimental effect on the environment, the landscape and recreational
opportunities and the extent to which it could be moderated. Policies DM43: Green and
Blue Infrastructure, DMA45: Protection of Trees, Hedgerows and Woodland and DM46:
Development and Landscape Impact aim to protect and enhance trees, hedgerows and
landscape, and these policies have been enhanced in the Climate Emergency Local Plan
Review (CELPR).

Halton-with-Aughton NDP Policy HA-1 provides design guidelines to ensure development

proposals respond positively to local landscape character by conserving those features which
contribute to the Parish’s distinctive landscape character areas.

16



Page 26

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

Policy HA-1: Conserving & Enhancing Local Landscape Character

Landscape Character Areas are identified on Map 2 - Policy HA-1 Conserving and Enhancing Local
Landscape Character Areas.

The design of all new buildings should minimise any adverse visual impacts on the local landscape
character of Halton-with-Aughton Parish. Development should conserve important local features
which contribute to the distinctive landscape character of the neighbourhood plan area and use
designs and planting in landscaping schemes to enhance them. In particular:

1.

Policy HA-1 Conserving and Enhancing Local Landscape Character

In the Valley Floodplain landscape character area (flood zones 2 and 3) development
should, where feasible:

a) Protect and incorporate into landscaping schemes, natural flood risk management,
for example areas of standing water, floodplain hay meadows, mature floodplain
trees and the network of hedgerows and dry-stone walls;

b) Take opportunities to restore and conserve the natural river form where it has been
lost, and to re-naturalise water courses;

¢) Avoid adverse visual impacts on open views across and along the floodplain;

d) Incorporate suitable screening and soft landscaping to provide a gentle and green
transition from built form to the open countryside;

In Low Coastal Drumlins and Drumlin Fields landscape character areas, development
should, where feasible:
a) Retain and enhance the distinctive rolling landform and landscape pattern of
pasture fields delineated with dry stone walls and hedgerows;
b) Retain and enhance inter-drumlin wetlands;
¢) Avoid built development on ridgelines and hill tops.

In all areas:

a) Planting schemes should use locally appropriate native broadleaved woodland and
hedgerow species;

b) Landscaping designs should be climate resilient and use species which are drought
tolerant;

¢) Measures should be taken to minimise light pollution and other disturbance to
wildlife; and

d) Opportunities should be taken to restore contaminated brownfield land.

e) Measures should be taken to protect the night sky from light pollution and
minimise other disturbance to wildlife, particularly in Dark Sky Discovery Sites.

17



Page 27

8T

679TE£800000V SO ¥Z0T S3YSH dseqerep pue 1ySLAdod umoi) @

¥TA ueld 3uawdojanag pooylnoqysiaN uoysny-yim-uoljeH



Page 28

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

Natural Environment

4.15.

4.16.

4.17.

4.18.

4.19.

4.20.

The NPPF is clear that planning policies should contribute to and enhance the natural local
environment by protecting and enhancing sites of biodiversity or geological value (paragraph
180 a). Paragraph 185 advises that ‘To protect and enhance biodiversity and geodiversity,
plans should: a) Identify, map and safequard components of local wildlife-rich habitats and
wider ecological networks, including the hierarchy of international, national and locally
designated sites of importance for biodiversity; wildlife corridors and stepping stones that
connect them; and areas identified by national and local partnerships for habitat
management, enhancement, restoration or creation;, and b) promote the conservation,
restoration and enhancement of priority habitats, ecological networks and the protection
and recovery of priority species; and identify and pursue opportunities for securing
measurable net gains for biodiversity.’

The Local Plan policies maps (see Appendix 1: Lancaster District Local Plan Policies Maps)
identify the main environmental and landscape policy designations from the Local Plan
which cover all of the parish apart from a small area to the south-west:

e Policy EN2: Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty

e Policy EN3: The Open Countryside

e Policy EN5: Local Landscape Designations

e Policy EN7: Environmentally Important Areas

The neighbourhood plan area includes several important wildlife sites (and parts of sites)
which are identified in Local Plan: Part One Policy EN7: Environmentally Important Areas.
These are the Nationally Designated Site EN 7.7 Burton Wood SSSI; and the following
Regionally Designated Sites:

e Halton Gorge and Quernmore Valley Geological Heritage Site;

e lLambclose Wood and Gutterflat Wood Biological Heritage Site;

e Applehouse Wood, Walks Wood Biological Heritage Site;

e River Lune Biological Heritage Site;

e Great Close Wood Biological Heritage Site; and

e Dale Wood Biological Heritage Site.

Local Plan: Part Two Policy DM44: The Protection and Enhancement of Biodiversity
requires development proposals to protect and enhance biodiversity and / or geodiversity
with guidance for nationally designated sites and environmentally sensitive sites and
species and ecological networks.

Halton-with-Aughton’s natural environmental assets form part of the network of green and
blue infrastructure (GBI) linking across the neighbourhood plan area, to the City of
Lancaster and out to the open countryside. There is an aspiration to identify opportunities
to improve this infrastructure.

Halton is fortunate to have two remnants of ancient woodland, Dale Wood in the west,
and Gutterflat/Lambsclose Wood along the river to the east. Ancient woods have the most
richly biodiverse habitats, with highly complex ecosystems, developed over hundreds of
years, supporting a great number of species of plants, fungi, insects, and other wildlife; yet
they now cover only 2.5% of the UK. Dale Wood and Gutterflat/Lambclose Wood are very
special places and require our protection, once gone they cannot be replaced. They can,
however, be restored and enhanced. Forge Wood is separated from Gutterflat Wood by an
area of scrubland, it was once part of the ancient woodland before industrialisation in the

19



Page 29

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

4.21.

4.22.

4.23.

19th century (see old maps prior to 1850). It is now regenerating; with protection years of
decline are being reversed and the two woods reconnected.

Map 10 - Wildlife Corridors connecting Woodland indicates how wildlife corridors connect
the woodlands around Halton. The river provides an important corridor, whilst roads create
barriers to the movement of wildlife.

These local wildlife corridors and areas of wildlife importance can be lengthened and
strengthened, through the village and along the river and stream banks. Community
Aspirations lists some hopes and ideas that have been raised by residents and the Parish
Council.

Policy HA-2 Protecting and Enhancing Wildlife and Geodiversity sets out how such
biodiversity net gains may be achieved on development sites, or if this is not possible within
the Halton-with-Aughton neighbourhood plan area.

Policy HA-2: Protecting and Enhancing Wildlife and Geodiversity

Policy HA-2 Protecting and Enhancing Wildlife and Geodiversity

Development proposals should protect and enhance biodiversity and/or geodiversity and
minimise both direct and indirect impacts.

Development proposals will be assessed against the requirements set out in A Local Plan for
Lancaster District 2011 -2031 Part Two: Review of the Development Management DPD
Policy DM44: The Protection and Enhancement of Biodiversity (or any future policy).
Development proposals will only be permitted if it can be concluded that the proposals,
either alone or in combination with other plans or projects, will not adversely affect the
integrity of the national site network. Where a proposal has implications for internationally
designated sites it must be accompanied by information to allow the competent authority
to consider the impacts of development.

Development should not result in any significant loss of biodiversity and/or geodiversity and
should seek to enhance existing natural assets. Where there is unavoidable loss or damage
to habitats, sites or features because of exceptional circumstances, mitigation and
compensation will be required. Development which causes loss of trees, hedgerows and
woodland should include replacement of those assets within the site or, where this is
demonstrated to not be practical, contribute to off-site provision.

Proposals to meet Government biodiversity targets should first aim to do this on the
development site itself.

Any offsite provision should prioritise biodiversity net gain within the Parish through

suitable habitat enhancements. This could include for instance the following measures:

a) Linkages to and enhancement of existing wildlife corridors (see Map 10 - Wildlife
Corridors connecting Woodland);

b) Woodland management and planting to improve local areas of broadleaved woodland;

¢) Restoration of gappy hedgerows and planting new hedgerows with traditional local
species;

d) Conservation and enhancement of hay meadows; and

e) Protection and enhancement of watercourses and ponds, and re-naturalisation of
culverted watercourses.

20




Page 30

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

Area of Separation

4.24.

4.25.

4.26.

4.27.

4.28.

4.29.

4.30.

The area of the Parish to the west of the M6 corridor is subject to significant development
pressure and is in close proximity to the built-up area of the City of Lancaster.

Lancaster City Council has identified an Area of Separation between Lancaster and Halton to
ensure that strategic growth to the north of the City (Policy SG9) does not result in the
merging of the two distinct settlements of Lancaster and Halton. Policy EN6: Areas of
Separation is clear that proposals will not be supported where they have impacts on wider
openness within the area and result in coalescence between settlements and affect overall
distinctiveness.

In response to development pressure in this area, the Parish Council organised a public
consultation process in October 2022 to better understand local peoples’ concerns. The
consultation took the form of an online and paper questionnaire, with public meetings held
on October 2022. The responses were collated and showed that over 90% of respondents
wanted to maintain the area’s role as an area of separation to protect the village of Halton’s
identity and character.

In the summer of 2023, EPD were tasked with producing a Landscape Character Assessment
(LCA) report for the Area of Separation to further justify the designation of this land. The
study forms part of the evidence base for the NDP and is published on the neighbourhood
plan page of the parish council website.

The LCA notes that there are two listed buildings located in the Area of Separation (Carus
Lodge and Carus Lodge Cottage), both Grade Il.

The report states: ‘4.11 The entire Separation Area landscape character area with a few
exceptions due to changes in elevation and the presence of a small woodland is also within
visual range of the Grade Il listed buildings of Carus Lodge, the Piers, Walls and Railings to
Carus Lodge and Carus Lodge Cottage. The buildings’ curtilage and historical context is within
an area of fields with a parkland character. Any development in this character area adjacent
to Carus Lodge and Carus Lodge Cottage would have significant impacts on their setting.
There would be a significant resulting adverse effect on the visual amenity, the fabric of the
landscape and potential loss of woodland in this location’.

Policy HA-3 provides further detail to Strategic Policy EN6 to help ensure this area remains
open and to prevent Halton merging with the City.

Policy HA-3 - Area of Separation

Policy HA-3 Area of Separation

The Area of Separation identified in Policy EN6 in the Local Plan for Lancaster District 2011-2031 Part
One: Strategic Policies and Land Allocations DPD Lancaster District Local Plan will continue to be
protected to preserve the visual and physical separation between the City of Lancaster and Halton
village. Proposals which would have a significant adverse impact on the setting of the heritage assets
of Carus Lodge and Carus Lodge Cottage, or on the woodland and the open, parkland character of
the landscape around these assets will not be acceptable.

21




Page 31

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

Local Green Spaces

4.31.

4.32.

4.33.

4.34,

4.35.

4.36.

4.37.

The NPPF supports the designation of land as Local Green Space through neighbourhood
plans to allow communities to identify and protect green areas of particular importance to
them. Local Green Spaces must meet the criteria set out in the NPPF and can be used to
recognise the wider value that these areas have to the local community.

NPPF paragraph 106 sets out: ‘The Local Green Space designation should only be used where
the green space is:
a) in reasonably close proximity to the community it serves;

b) demonstrably special to a local community and holds a particular local significance,
for example because of its beauty, historic significance, recreational value (including as
a playing field), tranquillity or richness of its wildlife; and

¢) local in character and is not an extensive tract of land.’

Local Plan Part One Policy SC2: Local Green Spaces identifies several Local Green Spaces in
the District but there are none in Halton-with-Aughton.

The Parish Plan of 2013 and Draft Plan 2019 identified several candidates for Local Green
Spaces and there were many comments in the consultation responses supporting the
protection of these and other areas considered to be important for various reasons.

As part of the work to identify Local Green Spaces in the Local Plan the District Council
prepared a robust methodology that was subject to public consultation. This methodology
was used to assess each of the sites identified in the Plan along with other potential
candidates identified by the NDP Steering Group.

The Local Green Space Assessment Report provides more information about the assessment
process. There were 33 areas suggested, the NDP Steering Group then decided to limit Local
Green Space designation to those areas which would benefit from the additional protection.
Those areas considered to meet the criteria in the NPPF, and which are not protected by
other policies in the Local Plan were proposed as Local Green Spaces in the emerging Draft
Neighbourhood Plan.

The NPSG invited landowners to comment informally on the proposed Local Green Spaces
as part of the informal consultation on the emerging Draft Plan in Spring 2024. The
landowner of sites B Lune Riverbank (formerly C) and E Forge Wood (formerly F) supported
their inclusion in the NDP and noted that the two areas form crucial parts of the network of
green and riparian corridors so essential in maintaining biodiversity in the village. Former
sites B Dale Wood and G Steeply sloping and flat scrubland North of river between the Hydro
and Green Beck were removed from the policy on the advice of Lancaster City Council and
further information was added to the Green Space Assessment Report to support the
justification of the retained sites.

22



Page 32

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

Policy HA-4 - Local Green Spaces

Policy HA-4 Local Green Spaces

The following areas shown on Map 3 - Policy HA-4 Local Green Spaces Areas are designated
Local Green Spaces:

o LGS-A: St Wilfrid's Park

LGS-B: Lune Riverbank — Halton Bridge to Halton Mill

LGS-C: Wooded bank — Quarry Road to The Centre

LGS-D: Town End Farm field

LGS-E: Forge Wood

Development will not be permitted within a Local Green Space unless there are very special
circumstances which outweigh the harm to the Local Green Space including the loss of the
particular local significance that justified the designation.

23




Page 33

144

\,_/.u ,

6Z9TE800000V SO ¥Z0T S3yBu dseqerep pue 3ysiiAdod umoid @

SDaly sa20dS uaalo |p207 p-YH Ad1jod - € doin

;/!Ji‘frm.m‘am. B aseqerep pue 1ybLAdod b e
S By sBemes |~ ) (@ Wﬁw

s - O
ocd 5 = >

mmﬂmﬁmm%\ wzﬁuua\mwe S4BU 1 JuBL 9seqeIep pue JBUA 4,8 "
e e o — e

2\

i

o
A ﬁw

AEkign

i
e

]‘\\uﬂ 7. I.,H\WM% ....‘_\.LHM S

e -

Mo @

¥TA ueld 3uawdojanaq pooydnoqysiaN uoysny-ym-uoljeH




Page 34

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

Flooding

4.38.

4.39.

4.40.

4.41.

Halton-with-Aughton Parish has been subject to more frequent extreme weather events in
recent years, and several areas in Halton have been affected by fluvial (river) and surface
water flooding. Halton has experienced five flood events since 2002, with the two most
recent events in December 2015 and November 2017. Further detailed information about
these events is provided in Appendix 4: Halton’s Recent Flooding History and Responses.

The responses to the Draft Plan in 2019 showed that there was support for more sustainable
design and the need to address climate change and concerns about the scale and design of
recent developments. The CELPR will provide a positive and detailed planning policy
framework to ensure development is as sustainable as possible and does not exacerbate
flooding. The NDP does not include further policies on sustainable design of new buildings
as this is dealt with in the Local Plan. However, the level of public concerns about flooding
and the need to provide bespoke responses to the area’s problems support a case for a
planning policy in the NDP to help ensure future development does not exacerbate known
existing, and unresolved problems.

The Flood Risk Management Study — Halton Initial Assessment produced by consultants
Jacobs on behalf of Lancashire County Council, was published in February 2020. The aim of
the initial assessment was to establish whether a workable, sustainable, and justified
solution to reduce the risk of flooding can probably be found, or whether the project should
take a different course or be stopped.

The report established that in extreme rainfall, peak run-off already exceeds the capacity of
key elements of the existing drainage and culverts through the village — see Map 13 - Areas
at risk of flooding during a 1.33% AEP rainfall event and Map 14 — Drainage Network
Capacity during 1.33% AEP rainfall event. It therefore advocates minimising peak run-off
into the village system from upstream sources, and proposes several indicative ‘Do
something’ options:

e Option 1: East Halton - Flood storage or Sustainable Drainage Solutions (SuDS): This
aims to reduce the amount of surface water flowing onto, and down, Low Road towards
Forgewood Drive. This can be achieved by capturing and attenuating surface water flow
paths either side of Low Road. Attenuation could take the form of formalised storage
areas with a controlled outlet as required, or SuDS. See Map 15 — Indicative location
of Do-Something Option 1.

e Option 2: Schoolhouse Lane - Flood storage or SuDS: This aims to reduce the amount
of water reaching properties on Schoolhouse Lane and Lythe Fell Avenue by attenuating
surface water from the land north of Schoolhouse Lane. Attenuation could take the
form of formalised storage area with a controlled outlet as required, or SuDS. See Map
16 — Indicative location of Do-Something Option 2.

e Option 3: North-East Halton - Flood storage or SuDS, Highway drainage, Land drainage:
This aims to reduce the amount of surface water flowing into north-east Halton, mainly
from Arrow Lane Watercourse and down Kirkby Lonsdale Road. As multiple flow
pathways are involved there are several components to the option. These are
attenuation (either formalised storage area or SuDS), management of overland flow
pathways by using swales or land drains, and additional highway drainage. See Map 17
— Indicative location of Do-Something Option 3.

25



Page 35

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

4.42.

4.43.

4.44.

4.45.

The Report’s Conclusions set out: ‘Three Do-Something options have been shortlisted and
developed. These focus on capturing and attenuating surface water runoff originating in the
catchments to the north and east of Halton before it reaches the urban boundary. Each Do-
Something option is designed to tackle a specific overland flow pathway or flood mechanisms
across four distinct areas. An additional option, Do-Something Option 4, has also been
recognised as a potential option for development, although Lancaster City Council may
already be developing this option.’

Of the three options assessed, Option 3 emerged as the best economically performing
option. However, the property values affected by flooding in Halton are not high enough to
justify the national ‘partnership’ grant funding needed for solutions. So: ‘It is recommended
that Lancashire County Council identify potential alternative funding sources to ascertain the
financial feasibility of delivering Flood Risk Management in Halton...’

As far as the Parish Council is aware, no alternative funding has been found, and none of the
report’s eleven further recommended steps have been undertaken. So, NDP Policy HA-5
Flooding has been prepared to minimise flood risk from new development, given the
existing, unresolved, situation in Halton. Policy HA-5 paragraphs 3 & 6 forms a constraint on
possible development sites [see Housing Need, para 6.29].

So that flood risk avoidance is given sufficient priority in their site planning, developers will
be expected to undertake Flood Risk Assessments at the beginning of the design process so
that sufficient flood risk management space requirements are built into site layouts and
assessments, from the start.

26



Page 36

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

Policy HA-5 - Flooding

Policy HA-5 Flooding

All development proposals in the Neighbourhood Plan Area should be designed to minimise flood
risk and take opportunities to reduce flood risk.

Given the evidence of flood risk in Halton village, development proposals in the area identified in
Map 12 - Halton Study Area (reproduced from Figure 1-1: Halton study area in the Jacobs Flood
Risk Management Study 2020) will be expected to:

1. Be designed to minimise flood risk and take opportunities to reduce flood risk;
2. Avoid areas at risk of flooding in the design flood event;

3. Safeguard the sites of the ‘Do something’ Options 1 to 3 from development identified in the
Jacobs Flood Risk Management Study 2020 (see maps 15, 16 & 17 in Appendix 4: Halton’s
Recent Flooding History and Responses) to ensure they are available for future potential flood
mitigation schemes when and if funding becomes available for implementation;

4. Take opportunities to support the delivery of one or more of the ‘Do something’ options in
the Flood Risk Management Study where they are located in areas which would benefit from
improved flood management schemes, including those areas identified on maps 15, 16 & 17
in Appendix 4: Halton’s Recent Flooding History and Responses. This support may for
example, consist of privately funding and delivering one or more of the ‘Do something’
options, or contributing towards the ‘Do something’ options. Such opportunities must be
considered in addition to the incorporation of sustainable drainage systems to manage the
runoff generated by new development;

5. Recognise that development can provide opportunities for the provision of flood risk
mitigation. This could include, for example, the use of natural flood management measures in
addition to sustainable drainage systems to manage the runoff generated by new
development. Proposals should seek to ensure that such opportunities are taken and
delivered;

6. Not contribute to further surface water flooding by avoiding discharging any flows into the
existing overloaded network of surface water drains and culverts (see Map 14 — Drainage
Network Capacity during 1.33% AEP rainfall event and Jacobs Flood Risk Management Study
2020). Developments must dispose of surface water only by: (a) either infiltration into the
ground, or (b) discharging directly, through new drains, into a watercourse with sufficient
capacity [to be demonstrated]. To assist this, developments may also take measures to reduce
the causes and impacts of flooding, such as through over-attenuation and restricted discharge
rates below the minimum standards set out in the Defra Technical Standards for SuDS and
paragraphs 055, 056 & 063 of Planning Practice Guidance - Flood risk and coastal change>;

7. Demonstrate, e.g. by means of a drainage analysis, how ‘exceedance flows’ (runoff flows that
exceed the design capacity of the development’s drainage system, so flow off the site over the
surface) will not cause increased off-site flooding by tracking excess surface water flow routes
all the way through the village, down to the River Lune discharge point, and showing how they
will not cause flooding to any properties on the way;

5 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-and-coastal-change

27



Page 37

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

8. Minimise rainfall runoff from sites by, for example, using SuDs, avoiding non-permeable
surfacing of gardens, driveways and highways, providing water butts, and where practicable
incorporating green and blue roofs;

9. Proposals will be expected to give consideration to the impacts of climate change on all
sources of flooding in accordance with most up to date Government Guidance®.

6 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-assessments-climate-change-allowances

28



Page 38

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

5. Conserving our Built Heritage

5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

The Parish contains a wide range of built heritage assets that are important locally and
nationally and which make a significant contribution to the character of Halton and Aughton
and the surrounding area. This link between past and present is important to many
parishioners and the Neighbourhood Plan provides an opportunity to help ensure future
development is sensitive and that change enhances rather than detracts from the evidence
of the area’s long history.

There are 46 statutorily Listed Buildings including 2 scheduled monuments — see Listed
Buildings.

A list of proposed Non designated Heritage Assets has been prepared by the NDP Steering
Group — see Non-Designated Heritage Assets. This list does not include various buildings of
special character such as St Wilfrid’s Hall, the Congregational Chapel of 1898, the War
Memorial, the Old School, the railway station platform and goods shed (in Quernmore
Parish), and Halton Bridge since these are already protected by the Conservation Area.

Halton Conservation Area

5.4.

Part of the village of Halton is designated as a Conservation Area — see Halton Conservation

Area Appraisal, December 2009. This sets out a summary of Special Interest as follows:

e Origins as an important Anglo-Saxon manor held by Earl Tostig, brother of King Harold;

e Earthworks of 11 century castle;

e Unplanned linear mediaeval layout along High Road and Church Brow parallel with the

River Lune;

e Architectural and historic interest of the area’s buildings, including 20 listed buildings;

e Major listed buildings include the Manor House, Clock House, Tower House and
Townend Farm;

e Further buildings of interest include 17" century farmhouses and the Victorian St
Wilfrid’s Hall;

e 16th century tower of St Wilfrid’s Church, otherwise rebuilt by E G Paley of Lancaster in

1876;

e Prevalent use of locally quarried building stone for buildings and boundary walls;

e Prosperous agricultural community in the 17% century;

Significance of iron working in the 18™ century;

Also, major production of cotton and oilcloth in the 18" and 19" centuries;

e Influence of the railway after 1846;

Landscape setting of the Lune valley with extensive rural views;

Important treescape along the Lune and to the north of Castle Hill;

e Small details that help to define local identity, such as small areas of stone setts and
cobbles, decorative datestones, stone gate piers and the war memorial.

29



Page 39

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

5.5.

5.6.

5.7.

5.8.

5.9.

The Townscape Appraisal Map (Map 11 - Halton Conservation Area Appraisal 2009,
Townscape Appraisal Map) identifies a range of important features including focal points,
views and vistas, significant open spaces, landscape and trees, and public realm features.

The materials, styles and detailing include use of local sandstone in elevations and boundary
treatments, use of ‘slobbering’ (i.e., the application of an uneven render to a rubblestone
surface, nowadays often painted white) on elevations, stone slabs, slate and clay-tiles in
roofs, and use of mullioned windows with drip mouldings, gables with kneelers and copings,
and ornate datestones.

The 2019 consultation on the emerging Draft Plan had a strong focus on design and heritage,
with issues carried forward from the Parish Plan. The strong level of support for the
protection and enhancement of the historic character and in particular the historic core and
Conservation Area were noted, together with the evident local pride in the area’s historical
development and built heritage assets and archaeology. The responses to the 2019
consultation included comments about the need for improved public access to the motte
and bailey and Castle Hill and support for an industrial history walk along the north bank of
the river. There were concerns however about planning policies being too restrictive in
terms of heritage and design.

Lancaster District Council Local Plan Part One Policy SP7: Maintaining Lancaster District’s
Unique Heritage notes that ‘Lancaster district has an extraordinarily rich and varied historic
environment which is described in more detail through this chapter of the Plan. The heritage
assets within the district have all played a major role in helping to shape the district’s
distinctive identity.” The Policy lists a range of important assets that are protected including
Motte and Bailey Castles along the Lune Valley such as the one at Halton, remaining historic
agricultural structures which have shaped the character of rural areas, remnants of the
district’s industrial heritage such as mills and other significant buildings, and key cultural
assets including parks. The Council will, amongst other things, seek to identify, protect, and
enhance local heritage assets.

NDP Policy HA-6 Protecting Historic Character sets out design principles to ensure
development is sympathetic to the important and distinctive historic character of the Parish.

30



Page 40

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

Policy HA-6 - Protecting Historic Character

Development proposals will be expected to preserve or enhance the historic character and
appearance of the Neighbourhood Plan Area.

Designs and detailing should be sympathetic to the character of the surrounding area and make a
positive contribution to the street scene and setting. In particular, proposals should address the

following design guidelines:

1. Parish-Wide

a)

b)

c)

2. Halton Historic Core

a)

b)

Policy HA-6 Protecting Historic Character

The distinctive form and layout of the settlements, which stem from the Parish’s long and
important history, should be retained. New development will be expected to ‘nestle’ into
the historic landform and townscape by respecting the scale, materials, detailing and
boundary treatments of traditional buildings.

New development should respect the historically distinctive and different characters of the
two settlements of Halton and Aughton and protect the dispersed character of the Parish’s
rural area. Proposals which detract from that pattern, and which would lead to village
sprawl, or increasing sub-urbanisation of the rural setting, will not be supported.

Sites of potential historic or archaeological interest should be protected whenever possible.
Special weight should be given to the protection of sites of local character and
distinctiveness within the Parish. These include prehistoric sites, surviving medieval field
boundaries and patterns, former industrial sites and historic farm buildings.

Development proposals within the Halton Conservation Area should preserve or enhance
the significance, character, appearance and archaeological significance of the Conservation
Area in accordance with the Halton Conservation Area Appraisal.

Designs should reflect the architectural and historic traditions of the village in terms of
style, materials, scale and variety. Such measures should extend beyond the main building,
or extension, to include surface and boundary treatments and ancillary structures. Mixing
styles or historical references in the same building and inappropriate pastiches of generic
period features should be avoided.

31



Page 41

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

6. Housing Need

Introduction

6.1.

6.2.

6.3.

6.4.

6.5.

6.6.

6.7.

There is an opportunity for the Neighbourhood Plan to include planning policies and
proposals to help ensure future housing development includes house types, tenures and
sizes which meet the housing needs of local people.

More than 90% of the Parish’s population live in the main village of Halton which will remain
the focus for new housing development. In addition, the hamlets of Aughton, Halton Green,
Halton Park and surrounding farms and houses together provide around 40 homes, and
there are about 20 further individual farms and houses scattered through the rural area.

The neighbourhood plan area includes a range of house types. The 2021 Census showed
that the proportion of dwellings which were a whole house or bungalow was 95.2%, flats,
maisonettes or apartments made up 4.0% and caravans or other mobile or temporary
structures comprised 0.7% of dwellings. There was a relatively high proportion of larger
properties: only 4.2% were 1 bedroom, 23.7% were 2 bedrooms, 41.3% were 3 bedrooms
and 30.8% had 4 or more bedrooms. In terms of tenure, 47.4% of households owned their
properties outright, 35.9% owned with a mortgage or loan or shared ownership, 6.4% were
in social rented accommodation, and 10.3% were in private rented or lived rent free.

There is a Traveller Site on land to the north of Foundry Lane, Halton and adjacent to the M6
motorway, with 2 static caravans and 3 touring caravans.

The Local Plan for Lancaster District — Part One: Strategic Policies and Land Allocations DPD
provides the strategic planning framework for housing delivery. Policy SP2: Lancaster
District Settlement Hierarchy identifies Halton under Part 3 Sustainable Rural Settlements
Outside of Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty: ‘These settlements will provide the focus of
growth for Lancaster district outside the main urban areas subject in the AONBs to the
constraints of the protected landscapes where a landscape-capacity approach will be taken.’
Aughton falls under Part 4 Rural Villages: ‘These settlements will accommodate development
that meets evidenced local needs only.’

Policy SP6: The Delivery of New Homes sets out that between 2011/12 and 2030/31 the

Council will seek to deliver a 20-year housing requirement of 10,440 new dwellings. This

figure includes 409 dwellings under Policy H2 Residential Delivery in Rural Areas. Policy H2

identifies 4 strategic sites in Halton:

e H2.6 Halton Mills, Halton (20 dwellings)

e H2.7 Land South of Low Road, Halton (60 dwellings)

e H2.8 Land Between Low Road and Forge Lane, Halton (90 dwellings)

e H2.9 Land to the Rear of Pointer Grove and Adjacent to High Road, Halton (66
dwellings).

Within some settlements including Halton, the City Council expects via the Neighbourhood
Plan process, the respective Parish Council’s to proactively and positively plan for housing
growth within their communities in the context of this DPD.

32



Page 42

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

6.8.

6.9.

6.10.

6.11.

6.12.

6.13.

6.14.

The strategic sites have all been developed or are in the process of being developed, as
follows:

e H2.6 Halton Mills, Halton: (‘Lune Walk’) 20 affordable dwellings (4 flats and 16 houses)
- completed; plus Halton Senior Cohousing site, with planning permission for 20
dwellings — decision pending.

e H2.7 Land south of Low Road, Halton (‘Forest Heights’): 60 houses — completed.

e H2.8 Land between Low Road and Forge Lane, Halton (‘Foundry Close’): 12
apartments and 68 houses — completed.

e H2.9 Land to the rear of Pointer Grove and adjacent to High Road, Halton (‘Bowland
Fold’): 2 apartments and 63 houses — in progress.

Policy SG9: North Lancaster Strategic Site also includes an area within the Parish north of
Halton Road and between the canal and the army camp which is identified for housing. This
area is considered to be an extension of the Lancaster suburbs and is quite separate from
the village of Halton.

In total, about 360 new homes, from 1 bed flats to 5 bed houses, will have been added in
Halton village from 2011 to 2024; an increase of 38%, taking the total number of village
homes to about 1,320. There are no further Local Plan designated strategic sites in the
parish.

Affordable housing thresholds are set out in A Local Plan for Lancaster District 2011-2031
Part Two: Review of the Development Management DPD Policy DM3: The Delivery of
Affordable Housing. Halton-with-Aughton is in Rural East:

e Greenfield 10 units and over on-site: 40%

e Brownfield 10 units and over on-site: 30%.

However, in Halton, the three recent commercial developments on sites H2.8 and H2.9 have
all provided less than these targets, with viability assessments setting out ‘abnormal costs’.
The reasons given for such abnormal costs are the engineering costs of dealing with the
steepness of a site [H2.9], and the lack of surface water capacity in existing drains, requiring
each site to provide considerable additional space, and extra engineering costs, for on-site
drainage works — SuDs or infiltration ponds [H2.7, 8 and 9]. One result is that LCC has spent
$106 funds on purchasing land for the 100% affordable’ 20 homes at Lune Walk site [part of
H2.6]. These physical constraints are important in later discussion of future potential
development sites [see NDP Part 7 paragraphs 26 and 27 and Policy HA-8].

Policy DM6: Housing Provision in the Forest of Bowland is also relevant for the parts of the
parish in the National Landscape. This policy requires at least 50% of new homes to be
delivered as affordable homes. For schemes of 2-5 dwellings, this is expected to be provided
as a financial contribution. For proposals of 6 or more dwellings, provision will be on site.

The NPPF places a strong emphasis on housing development. Paragraph 60 advises ‘To
support the Government’s objective of significantly boosting the supply of homes, it is
important that a sufficient amount and variety of land can come forward where it is needed,
that the needs of groups with specific housing requirements are addressed and that land with
permission is developed without unnecessary delay. The overall aim should be to meet as
much of an area’s identified housing need as possible, including with an appropriate mix of
housing types for the local community.’

33



Page 43

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

6.15.

6.16.

6.17.

6.18.

Halton-with-Aughton is a designated rural area’. NPPF paragraph 65 sets out ‘Provision of
affordable housing should not be sought for residential developments that are not major
developments, other than in designated rural areas (where policies may set out a lower
threshold of 5 units or fewer). To support the re-use of brownfield land, where vacant
buildings are being reused or redeveloped, any affordable housing contribution due should
be reduced by a proportionate amount.’

Paragraph 82 goes on to say, ‘In rural areas, planning policies and decisions should be
responsive to local circumstances and support housing developments that reflect local
needs.’

The District’s Annual Monitoring Report 2020 -218 notes that there were 17 affordable
completions in Halton at the Foundry Close and Forest Heights developments in the previous
12 months. 20 affordable units have been developed on Lune Walk by South Lakes Housing
in partnership with the Lune Valley CLT in 2023. These are all included within the completed
totals quoted in paragraph 7 above.

So, the NDP area has seen significant growth since 2011. Although the strategic sites have
been developed the area continues to see pressure for development due to its many
attributes: close proximity to the City of Lancaster and university, good access to the national
motorway network and location within a beautiful landscape setting, partly within the Forest
of Bowland National Landscape, and near to the Lake District and Yorkshire Dales National
Parks.

” The Housing (Right to Acquire or Enfranchise) (Designated Rural Areas in the North West and
Merseyside) Order 1997 STATUTORY INSTRUMENTS

1997 No. 622 HOUSING, ENGLAND AND WALES

The Housing (Right to Acquire or Enfranchise) (Designated Rural Areas in the North West and
Merseyside) Order 1997

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1997/622/made?view=plain

8 A Local Plan for Lancaster District 2020 — 2031 Plan period 2011 — 2031 Authority Monitoring
Report 2020/2021 [January 2022]
https://planningdocs.lancaster.gov.uk/NorthgatePublicDocs/01010681.pdf

34



Page 44

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

Housing Needs Survey, November 2019

6.19.

6.20.

6.21.

6.22.

6.23.

A Housing Needs Survey (HNS) was undertaken in 2019 for the parishes of Halton-with-
Aughton, and Caton, Slyne, Quernmore and Skerton. It provides up to date evidence to
support an NDP planning policy on house types and tenures in the neighbourhood plan area.

Key findings from the area profile included the following:

e At the time of the 2011 Census, the study area showed high proportions of larger and
detached dwellings and of home ownership. 84% were under-occupied to some
degree, the majority of which were owned.

e There was a low proportion of renting, with rented homes most likely to have 2
bedrooms. Of (the low proportion of) 1-bedroom dwellings, 45% were socially rented,
and 25% privately.

e The over 60 age group made up a high proportion of the study area, and where the
household representative person (HRP) was over 65, 87.2% were owner-occupiers.
There was a small proportion of renters in this age group.

e The over 65 group is projected to grow by 34.5% over the 25-year period from 2016 to
2041, becoming the equal largest group by that point.

The study found that affordability of purchase and rental of local housing appears
challenging to households wishing to move, especially those newly forming and on below
average incomes. Newly forming households on lower quartile incomes could afford shared
accommodation only, and existing households would struggle with anything larger than a 1-
bedroom dwelling.

In terms of market housing the highest priorities given by respondents about new house
building were for first time buyers and those needing affordable homes, to rent or part buy.
Respondents saw the highest priority house type to be 2 to 3-bedroom family homes, and
small homes for single people and couples. There are shortages of:

e 1 and 2-bedroom houses;

e 1and 2-bedroom bungalows;

e 3 or more-bedroom bungalows;

e 1 and 2-bedroom flats; and

e 1 and 2-bedroom other housing type.

The overall HNS conclusion noted that ‘it is clear that the housing profile of the area is not in
step with the predicted needs of local households. Like many rural settlements the population
is predominately elderly and ageing, but with some younger and newly forming households
being unable to afford the premium prices associated with villages rather than town
environments.’

35



Page 45

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

6.24. Since the Housing Needs Survey (November 2019) developments have delivered or are
delivering many more homes, and some affordable ones; but these have not met all local
needs for more affordable and smaller 1 to 3 bed units, including housing for older residents
and newly forming households. The still unsatisfied demand for affordable homes is
demonstrated by the actual experience of the early 2023 bidding process for the 13
affordable rented flats and houses in the Lune Walk development (H2.6). All the Lune Walk
affordable rented homes now have a resident with a strong Halton connection, as set out by
the agreed policy; but since there were about 4 ‘Halton’ bids for each one, three quarters of
Halton-connected bidders are still searching for an affordable home.The results of early 2023
bidding process for the 13 affordable rented flats and houses in the Lune Walk development

(H2.6):

Property Type LCC ‘District’ bids for each one ‘Halton’ — based bids for each

one
(as at Feb 24)

1 Bed flats Average 30 Range 24 —42 Average 5 Range 3to 7
[4 ‘offers’]

2 Bed House Average 52 Range 27 - 84 Average 4 Range 1to 5
[6 ‘offers’]

3 Bed House Average 86 Range 83 —90 4 bids for each offer
[2 ‘offers’]

4 Bed House Average 27 Range 27 - 28 Average 2 Range 0 to 3
[3 ‘offers’]

6.25. The 2019 consultation on the Draft Plan generated various comments in relation to housing.
These included the need for more starter homes and fewer larger (4 bedroom) properties,
the need for housing for older people and those wanting to downsize, more affordable and
shared ownership schemes and concerns about design. There were also concerns about
infrastructure capacity and the development boundary / need to protect Halton’s identity as
a village, separate from the City of Lancaster.

6.26. Halton-with-Aughton NDP Policy HA-7 Meeting Local Housing Needs requires development
to contribute to local needs for smaller housing, suitable for older people seeking to
downsize whilst remaining within the community, and for younger and newly forming
households seeking more affordable accommodation in the area.

Policy HA-7 - Meeting Local Housing Needs

Policy HA-7 Meeting Local Housing Needs

Proposals for new residential development should demonstrate how they contribute to a suitable
mix of tenure, type and size of dwelling across the Neighbourhood Plan Area based on the results
of the Parishes of Halton-with-Aughton, and Caton, Slyne, Quernmore and Skerton Housing Needs
Survey for the Lune Valley Community Land Trust 2019, or if available, more up to date evidence of
housing need.

In particular, the provision of affordable, smaller dwellings of up to 3 bedrooms will be supported.

36



Page 46

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

Halton Urban Development

6.27. Map 4 - Halton Urban Development Areas shows the land around Halton. There are some
clear planning and landscape limitations to development:
e Tothe west:
o EN4 - North Lancashire Green Belt
o ENG6 - Area of Separation
o M6 motorway
e To the south: the River Lune
o To the east: the Forest of Bowland National Landscape
e Tothe north: steep slopes in some areas

6.28. A crucial constraint to further developments, especially to sites north and east of the
village arises from the existing flooding risk, and Policy HA-5 - Flooding para 3 & 6:

3. Safeguard the sites of the ‘Do something’ Options 1 to 3 from development
identified in the Jacobs Flood Risk Management Study 2020 (see maps 15, 16 &
17 in Appendix 4: Halton’s Recent Flooding History and Responses) to ensure they
are available for future potential flood mitigation schemes when and if funding
becomes available for implementation

6. Not contribute to further surface water flooding by avoiding discharging any

flows into the existing overloaded network of surface water drains and culverts

(see Map 14 — Drainage Network Capacity during 1.33% AEP rainfall event and
Jacobs Flood Risk Management Study 2020). Developments must dispose of

surface water only by: (a) either infiltration into the ground, or (b) discharging

directly, through new drains, into a watercourse with sufficient capacity [to be

demonstrated]. To assist this, developments may also take measures to reduce

the causes and impacts of flooding, such as through over-attenuation and
restricted discharge rates below the minimum standards set out in the Defra
Technical Standards for SuDS and paragraphs 055, 056 & 063 of Planning Practice
Guidance - Flood risk and coastal change

6.29. If such sites were to be developed, leaving space for these possible interventions will
reduce the layout space available for homes, site value and viability.

6.30. Given the whole of the area around Halton is within Policy EN3: Open Countryside, the focus
is now to promote the redevelopment of small in-fill sites, and previously developed or
unused land and buildings within the built-up areas, to help ensure efficient and sustainable
use of land. Potential sites also include:

e land adjacent to Town End Farm, Low Road: the higher end of the site along Low
Road, above areas which are in Flood Zones 2 and 3. The site would need an access
road off Forge Lane, not Low Road. Much of the site is in Flood Zone 2 and 3; this
comprises Local Green Space LGS-E.

e Sites between Dale Wood and the M6 motorway; but subject to motorway noise, and
next to the cemetery. It would need improved access.

37



Page 47

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

6.31. Planning Practice Guidance advises that ‘National policy provides an incentive for brownfield
development on sites containing vacant buildings. Where a vacant building is brought back
into any lawful use or is demolished to be replaced by a new building, the developer should
be offered a financial credit equivalent to the existing gross floorspace of relevant vacant
buildings when the local planning authority calculates any affordable housing contribution
which will be sought. Affordable housing contributions may be required for any increase in
floorspace.’ This is known as the vacant building credit.

6.32. NDP Policy HA-8 Halton Urban Development identifies suitable development within and
around the built-up area.

Policy HA-8 - Halton Urban Development

Policy HA-8 Halton Urban Development

Development within Halton will be supported within the built-up area provided it satisfies other
policies within the Lancaster District Local Plan and Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood
Development Plan.

1. Proposals should not conflict with or adversely impact on future flood risk control sites (see
NDP Policy HA-5 - Flooding).

2. Proposals in areas with clear physical constraints, should provide satisfactory evidence, e.g. an
outline viability assessment, to demonstrate how these constraints can be overcome.

3. Developments that use infill sites, re-use previously developed land, or sensitively convert
existing buildings will be supported.

38



6€

679TES00000V SO 720T SIy31 dseqelep pue 3ysuAdod umosd @
unqun uolbH - ¢ don

] o= i

spaJy uawdojanaqg

Page 48

£2-22Z02Z pue 324 uaain

o

54nojuo) - S uleLa]

(puejBu3) sadeaspuen jeuonen

¥TA ueld 3uawdojanag pooylnoqysiaN uoysny-yim-uoljeH



Page 49

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

7. High Quality and Sustainable Design

7.1.

7.2.

7.3.

7.4.

7.5.

7.6.

The Neighbourhood Plan provides an opportunity to influence design in new development
and to promote high quality contemporary and sustainable designs.

Development is concentrated in the large village of Halton and to a lesser extent the smaller
settlement of Aughton, with scattered farms and rural buildings in the surrounding
countryside, which are largely of traditional materials and designs.

The 2019 Draft Plan set out various design related issues and accompanying parish planning
guidance linked to character areas (‘Halton Area Zones’) which had been identified in the
2013 Parish Plan. These zones were focused on the built-up areas of the village of Halton,
Halton Camp and the Rural District including the village of Aughton.

Since the Parish Plan was prepared, the character of some of these zones has changed due
to new development; these include substantial new development in the Halton Mills area
and the strategic housing site to the northeast of the village (Local Plan Strategic Site H2.9).
The Plan also included planning guidance for Zone G — Halton Camp although there are no
known plans for disposal and redevelopment at the current time. Due to the significant
changes in character resulting from recent new development the identified area zones are
no longer appropriate and they are not carried forward into the NDP.

The Government places a strong focus on good design in new development. NPPF Paragraph
131 sets out ‘The creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable buildings and places is
fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve. Good design is
a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and
helps make development acceptable to communities.” Paragraph 132 goes on to say,
‘Neighbourhood planning groups can play an important role in identifying the special
qualities of each area and explaining how this should be reflected in development, both
through their own plans and by engaging in the production of design policy, guidance and
codes by local planning authorities and developers.’

At a Lancaster District level Local Plan Part 2 Policy DM29: Key Design Principles requires
new development to be as sustainable as possible and make a positive contribution to the
surrounding landscape and / or townscape and sets out the Council’s expectations. The
Policy sets out general principles, and principles addressing accessibility and highway safety,
green Infrastructure and the natural environment and other environmental considerations.
Policy DM30: Sustainable Design sets out that sustainable design has an important role to
play in improving the overall sustainability performance of new development, offering
opportunities to deliver improved efficiency and reduced environmental impacts. The
Council is supportive of proposals that deliver high standards of sustainable design and
construction. This Policy has been updated in the CELPR to Policies DM30a: Sustainable
Design and Construction, DM30b: Sustainable Design and Construction - Water Efficiency
and DM30c: Sustainable Design and Construction - Materials, Waste & Construction.

40



Page 50

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

7.7.

7.8.

Local Plan for Lancaster District Part Two: Review of the Development Management DPD
Policy DM29: Key Design Principles sets out that 'new development should be as sustainable
as possible.' Policy DM30: Sustainable Design sets out that 'The Council is supportive of
proposals that deliver high standards of sustainable design and construction.'. This may
include:

I Measures to reduce energy consumption and carbon dioxide emissions, and water

consumption;

1. Opportunities for energy supply from on-site, decentralised, renewable or low carbon
energy systems;

1. Opportunities to contribute to local and community-led energy initiatives.'

NDP Policy HA-9 - High Quality and Sustainable Design has been prepared to help ensure
new development respects local character and is of a high-quality sustainable design.

41



Page 51

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

Policy HA-9 - High Quality and Sustainable Design

Policy HA-9 High Quality and Sustainable Design

New residential and commercial development and conversions of existing buildings will be
expected to respect traditional local character.

Density, scale, mass and height should be appropriate to the surrounding area and proposals
should incorporate references to the local vernacular through use of traditional local materials
and detailing.

High quality and innovative contemporary designs will only be supported where they would
enhance the setting and provide visual interest.

New housing should be designed to reflect the guidelines for sustainability and energy and
resource efficiency in Local Plan for Lancaster District Part Two: Review of the Development
Management DPD Policy DM29.

In particular, schemes in Halton-with-Aughton will be supported where they address the

following criteria:

a) The design of buildings should minimise heat and energy loss and developers should seek
to incorporate the highest recognised government standards of insulation and energy
efficiency applying at the time or any other such standards required by the Local Plan.
Passivhaus standards will be encouraged wherever possible;

b) Solar, heat recovery, air source and ground source energy are encouraged where there is a
minimal visual impact;

c¢) The orientation of buildings and roof pitches should incorporate passive solar design
principles;

d) Use of re-used, reclaimed and recycled materials is encouraged, and where possible
materials should be sourced from local suppliers;

e) Consideration should be given to the provision of high quality, accessible and attractive
open spaces and land for food growing;

f) External and accessible electric vehicle charging points should be provided.

42



Page 52

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

8. Transport

8.1.

8.2.

8.3.

8.4.

8.5.

8.6.

8.7.

8.8.

8.9.

8.10.

In terms of climate change transport is the largest emitting sector of greenhouse gas
emissions, producing 24% of the UK’s total emissions in 2020°.

Travel and transport are key local issues in the neighbourhood plan area and therefore the
NDP provides a positive local planning framework to support a move away from private car
use and encourage low or zero carbon alternatives which also improve health and welling.

Halton is located close to the City of Lancaster, but many residents are reliant on private cars
to access employment and services. The NDP can support a transition towards ‘active
travel’; walking and cycling and use of public transport by guiding development to areas
close to community facilities and services and improving linkages to local public rights of
way, including the cycle route to Lancaster.

Many in the Parish are reliant on private cars for transport. In 2021 the Census figures show
that 29.5% of households had 1 car or van, 35.9% had 2 cars or vans and 13.5% had 3 or
more cars or vans. 56.1% of the working age population drove a car or van to work, 2.4%
were a passenger in a car or van, 2.3% used a bicycle and 4.0% were on foot. 30.6% worked
mainly at or from home??,

Local Plan Part One Policy T2: Developing the Cycling and Walking Network advises that the
Council are committed to supporting and promoting the role of cycling and walking in the
district, building on the existing network and the Cycling Network is identified on the Policies
Map. Local Plan Part Two Policy DM61: Prioritising Walking and Cycling aims to protect,
maintain and improve the pedestrian environment and advises that cycling improvements
should be equitably implemented across all communities.

The Local Plan Policies Map identifies several cycle routes in the neighbourhood plan area.

The National Cycle Network Route 69 passes along the River Lune Millennium Park Path to
the Crook O’Lune then up Park Lane, Kirkby Lonsdale Road, Aughton Road onwards to
Gressingham.

The Lancashire Cycleway Northern Loop (90) passes through Nether Kellet along Kellet Lane,
down Foundry Lane and over Halton Bridge onto the River Lune Millennium Park Path.

Whilst only briefly passing through the parish at the Crook O’Lune, the River Lune
Millennium Park Path linking Caton to Lancaster provides a crucial local recreational
resource for walking, cycling and horse riding and allows residents to access employment
and services in Lancaster City Centre without the need to drive.

In addition to being a popular area for walking and cycling, Halton-with-Aughton attracts
horse riders. There are several equestrian businesses including the British Thoroughbred
Rehabilitation Centre and Oakenhead Livery. Beaumont Grange livery and Beaumont Cote
Livery are just outside the parish boundary. There are also several privately owned horses
kept within the Parish.

° Department of Transport, Transport and Environment Statistics, 2022

10 Note -

the travel to work figures were likely to be affected by the Covid-19 pandemic.
43



Page 53

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

8.11.

8.12.

There are routes for horse riding above the Bay Gateway linking to the Green Lane byway
and around the Hermitage Field on the permissive Bridleway and a bridleway from near the
Red Well/Stables Pub. Horse riders have to use increasingly busy roads to access these
routes and there is a need for more multi-user routes suitable for all vulnerable road users
which link the existing fragmented network. All routes should have user friendly surfaces
that drain well and are ecofriendly such as ‘flexipave’ or ‘nuflex’ which have been used
successfully on other routes by Lancashire County Council.

Community Aspirations and Next Steps set out in Part 12 of the NDP supports higher levels
of use of public footpaths and cycle and horse-riding routes in the area. NDP Policy HA-10
sets out how development in Halton-with- Aughton should support a move towards low or
zero carbon transport alternatives.

Policy HA-10 - Active Travel

To promote active travel and reduce reliance on the private car developments should:

Policy HA-10 Active Travel

1. Support homeworking by providing sufficient internal space by including a second bedroom
/ office, or additional external space with broadband provision in residential developments;

2. Belocated close to local facilities, services and employment uses;

3. Be accessible to bus stops;

4. Provide safe pedestrian and cycle access to and from the site as well as enhancing safety
within the village, e.g. by contributing towards crossings across Low Road/High Road.

5. Provide linkages to walking and cycling routes and bridlepaths including routes to the City
of Lancaster and local facilities and to the countryside;

6. Support improvements to nearby PROW - see NDP Part 11 Community Aspirations and
Parish Council Actions;

7. Include secure external storage for bicycles and be capable of supporting external charging
point for bicycles and cars.

8. Halton Bridge across the River Lune is a crucial local asset that links Halton to Lancaster and
Caton. Proposals should take opportunities to support cycling and walking linkages to
Halton Bridge. Proposals to close or remove the bridge will be resisted.

8.13. Sufficient internal space to support homeworking should be taken to mean at least 2

bedrooms including a single bedroom which could be used as a study / office, or sufficient
floor area to allow for a workspace.

44



Page 54

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

9. Local Community Facilities

9.1.

9.2.

9.3.

9.4.

9.5.

9.6.

The following community facilities are available in Halton-with-Aughton:

e The village community centre known as The Centre @ Halton, with playing field, multi-
use games area (MUGA), skate park and play areas;

e The Recreation Room in Aughton with play area;

e Two churches: St Wilfrid’s in Halton, and St. Saviour’s in Aughton;

e St Wilfrid’s Church of England Primary School;

e Halton Mill;

e Doctor’s surgery and pharmacy;

e Post Office counter

o Library;

e Halton Social Club;

e Scout hut; and

e Children’s play areas at St Wilfrid’s Park, Schoolhouse Lane and Mill Lane.

There is also a disused children’s centre attached to the library which is currently used for
storage.

The shops, chip shop and hairdresser on High Road are identified as a Rural Local Centre in
the Local Plan which recognises the role of the local service businesses and provides
protection for them.

All these provide much needed and highly valued services for the community.

The NPPF advises in paragraph 97 that ‘planning policies and decisions should a) plan
positively for the provision and use of shared spaces, community facilities (such as local
shops, meeting places, sports venues, open space, cultural buildings, public houses and places
of worship) and other local services to enhance the sustainability of communities and
residential environments; ... and c) guard against the unnecessary loss of valued facilities and
services, particularly where this would reduce the community’s ability to meet its day-to-day
needs.’

Halton NDP can identify and protect the use of the community buildings for community uses
in accordance with Local Plan Part One Policy SP9: Maintaining Strong and Vibrant
Communities which advises that the Council will seek to protect important facilities that act
as hubs of the community, whether they be valuable areas of open space, local services or
community buildings and support their improvement and diversification. Local Plan Part
Two Policy DM56: Protection of Local Services and Community Facilities sets out criteria for
assessing proposals that would result in the loss of buildings / uses, which currently (or have
previously) provided the community with a local service including local shops and
community facilities.

45



Page 55

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

9.7.

NDP Policy HA-11 identifies local community facilities in Halton-with-Aughton for protection.

Policy HA-11 - Community Facilities

The following local community facilities act as hubs for the local community and provide important
local services in line with Local Plan Part One Policy SP9: Maintaining Strong and Vibrant
Communities:

o o =0 @ D gs @ W[

They are identified on Map 5 - Policy HA-11 Community Facilities Locations (Halton) and Map 6 -
Policy HA-11 Community Facilities Locations (Aughton).

These facilities should be retained. Their loss, including the change of use of these facilities, will
only be considered acceptable where:

a)

b)

. Halton Social Club

. Scout hut

. Children’s play area St Wilfrid’s Park

. Children’s play area at Schoolhouse Lane
. Children’s play area at Mill Lane.

Policy HA-11 Community Facilities

The Centre @ Halton

The Recreation Room, Aughton

St Wilfrid’s Church, Halton

St. Saviour’s Church, Aughton

St Wilfrid’s Church of England primary school
Halton Mill

Doctor’s surgery and pharmacy;

Post Office counter

The library

It can be demonstrated that the facility is no longer viable, having been actively marketed
for a period of twelve months; or

The proposed alternative use would provide equal or greater benefits for the local economy
and community.

46



LY

679TE800000V SO ¥20T S1y3l aseqelep pue 1ysuAdod umosd @
(uoi|pH) suoiIpI07 sanL4 Aylunwwo) TI-yH Adijod - s dow
" b

Page 56

¥TA ueld 3uawdojanag pooylnoqysiaN uoysny-yim-uoljeH



Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

Page 57

Map 6 - Policy HA-11 Community Facilities Locations (Aughton)

© Crown copyright and database rights 2024 OS AC0000831629

48



Page 58

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

10. Community Aspirations

10.1. The Parish Plan and 2019 Draft Plan included several proposals to tackle traffic and parking,
to improve community facilities, to manage green spaces for community benefit and to link
up wildlife corridors, and to improve opportunities for walking, cycling and horse riding.

10.2. These are largely community aspirations rather than planning policies.

10.3. They were updated with additional suggestions following the informal consultation on the
emerging Draft Plan from April to May 2024.

Traffic Calming, Parking and Transport

10.4. The Parish Council would like to see an extension of the 20-mph zone to include all of Low
Road and High Road with speed cushions and road markings at all entrances to the village.

10.5. Key areas where traffic speeds are a local concern include the entrance to the village of
Halton on High Road, coming in towards the shops and the entrance to the main village on
Low Road, coming past the entrance to Forest Heights.

10.6. Traffic congestion on parts of High Road and though the Lythe Fell estate need to be
addressed.

10.7. Lack of parking or inconsiderate parking (e.g. parking on the pavement) is a concern in
several areas, particular on High Road and near the shops. Occasional overflow car parking
around The Centre @ Halton is desired, particularly on football match days or during events.

10.8. Safer pedestrian crossing points would greatly benefit residents and encourage more active
travel by foot. Crossing points are desired on Low Road close to The Centre @ Halton, near
the roundabout to allow pedestrian access to the Memorial Garden, Castle Hill and The Red

Door Café and on High Road adjacent to the shops.
10.9. Campaign to improve public transport services for Halton and Aughton including more off
peak / evening use services.
Community Facilities

10.10.Also identified in the Parish Plan was a need for a full-size football pitch to meet the growing
demand. This seems unlikely, so the football club have found an alternative solution.

10.11.There is a medium-term plan to improve the children’s play areas at St Wilfrid’s Park and
The Centre @ Halton.

10.12.Public access to Castle Hill. There is an active project with an aim to enable public access to
Castle Hill.

49



Page 59

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

10.13.Aughton Recreation Room improvements. The trustees of Aughton Recreation Room have
an active programme of improvements to the hall using a mixture of grant funding, own
funds and volunteer assistance.

10.14.The library needs substantial work to maintain and improve it.

10.15.Facilities for older residents may be desirable, such as a bowling green.
Green Spaces and Wildlife Corridors
10.16.A combination of Halton Gardening Group, Lune Valley CLT and the NDP Steering Group

considered various green spaces and potential wildlife corridors. The methodology, sites
considered and assessments can be found in the Local Green Space Report.

10.17.The result of the assessment is summarised in Landscape and Natural Environment and Map
10 - Wildlife Corridors connecting Woodland shows the current wildlife corridors within the
village.

10.18.Lancaster City Council Green and Blue Infrastructure (GBI) Strategy 2021 highlights the
importance of connecting high quality, multifunctional green and blue spaces together to
create corridors and chains that make up the wider GBI network. Using the GBI toolkit,
opportunities for improving the GBI infrastructure can be identified with residents and local
groups. The six main aspects of the GBI are:
e Recreation/Accessible Greenspace

e Ecology & Biodiversity

e lLandscape

e Active Travel

e Water Management

e Historic Environment.
Footpaths

10.19.Halton-with-Aughton is poorly served by Rights of Way (ROW) footpaths given its size and
population. Those that do exist often do not link up with others. Customary paths have
disappeared due to building developments along the Lune (between the Greyhound Pub and
what is now the motorway bridge), and along the north of the village, particularly in the post-
war period. Parish Councils can propose ‘permissive footpaths’ and make ‘Rights of Way
Improvement Proposals’ (ROWIP) through ‘Path Creation Orders’, under Section 3 of the
Highways Act, 1980, both on publicly and privately-owned land. The existing list of Definitive
Rights of Way are maintained by Lancashire County Council.

10.20.The creation of additional footpaths would enhance the recreational facilities of our parish.
Several new paths were proposed in the Halton Parish Plan 2013, with further suggestions
added during the initial stages of drafting this plan in 2019. These suggested new paths are
listed below.

50



Page 60

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

10.21.The proposed routes would require agreement from landowners who may be concerned
about the impact it would have on their use of the land. Detailed discussions and
negotiations with landowners would be needed to take these proposals forward, along with
funds to physically create the paths.

10.22.The following proposed paths are long-term aspirational routes that were previously
suggested in the Halton Parish Plan 2013:

Dale Wood/Castle Hill: Linking Low Road/Church Brow with the Burial Ground Road via
Dale Wood. It could start at Castle Hill or the Church grounds. This route would provide
the first section of a Northern Village Loop for the village of Halton.

Northern Village Loop: Linking Foundry Lane with Arrow Lane across the fields, to
provide a northern route across Halton.

Mill Lane River Bank: Linking Halton Mill along the river to Halton Bridge. Parts of this
already exist, so the objective is to have a continuous, clear route along the top of the
riverbank so that walkers need not walk along the road.

Forge Wood fields: Linking Low Road (near School House Lane) to the river via the fields.
This would enable those on the eastern edge of the village access to the river path that
leads through Gutterflat Wood. This proposed route has been walked informally for at
least 70 years.

Burton Wood Link: This would provide a shortcut between the existing public right of
way that follows the large bend in the river between Lawson Wood and Burton Wood.
It would make the route approximately 1.5miles shorter.

10.23.The following proposed paths are long-term aspirational routes that were suggested during
the initial draft of this plan in 2019:

Churchyard Link: Linking St Wilfrid’s churchyard to the footpath adjacent to the M6
bridge on Halton Road, via the woodland. This would provide a short circular route when
combined with the Dale Wood/Castle Hill route and also connect the two burial grounds.
School House Lane Extension: Extending the existing path that starts from School House
Lane through to Halton Green. The existing Right of Way stops short of Halton Green
and turns sharply right towards the Low Road where the pavement becomes very
narrow on a busy road.

Monkley Ghyll: Linking Halton Green with Park Lane via Monkley Ghyll Beck. Private
tracks already exist along parts of this route. It would create a very pleasant walk,
enabling walkers to link up the path from School House Lane with the existing path that
runs from Park Lane through Nether Highfield.

Middle Highfield River Link: Linking the “Highfields” ROW to the Lune at a half-way point,
via Burton Woods to enable the option of a shorter loop. The current path does not
connect with the Lune path until Aughton is reached. Private tracks already exist along
parts of this route.

Army Camp: The existing footpath along the northern boundary of the Army Camp which
runs from the camp entrance to the M6 Bridge should be safeguarded by conversion to
a Public Right of Way. It provides a valuable pedestrian route between Lancaster and
Halton. It is owned by the Ministry of Defence and was dedicated to the Parish Council
in 1988. The instrument of dedication includes the following provisions: “that it is only
used as a footpath and the path is to remain as a grassed, surfaced, rural footpath.”

10.24.Any new paths should be multi-use to allow horse riding and cycling.

10.25.Existing path networks should be maintained so that they remain usable, i.e. encouraging
the County Council or landowners to repair or replace stiles.

51



Page 61

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

Rural Land Management

10.26.To work with landowners and farmers to protect verges and hedgerows from large farm
machinery and to encourage schemes for improved management of existing hedgerows and

new hedgerow planting.

10.27.To work with farmers and landowners to access funding for environmental improvement
schemes.

52



Page 62

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

11. Next Steps

Monitoring and Review

11.1.

11.2.

11.3.

11.4.

11.5.

The Parish Council will review the NDP at an appropriate time to ensure it remains up to date
and relevant.

The Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan is a ‘living’ document and as
such will become an integral component of the stewardship of the Parish Council.

The Parish Council meetings will include a regular agenda item to monitor and action
activities to progress the implementation of the Neighbourhood Development Plan. A
regular agenda item will also be included to monitor the use of policies within the plan by
the City Council when determining applications in the parish.

The Parish Annual Meeting will report on annual progress achieved and set out the
programme aims and key activities for the subsequent year ahead integrating this within its
own forward planning processes.

The Parish Council will monitor the progress of implementing the Neighbourhood
Development Plan every 3 years. The focus of the monitoring will be to ensure that the
policies made are effectively contributing to the realisation of the vision and objectives set
out in the Neighbourhood Development Plan. Any resulting proposals to correct and
improve policies to meet the vision and objectives will require to be undertaken through a
review of the Neighbourhood Development Plan in full collaboration with Lancaster City
Council. Evidence will also be reviewed and updated as required.

53



Page 63

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

Halton-with- | Monitoring Monitoring Data Responsibility

Aughton Process

NDP Policy

Policy HA-1 Review of Applications refused/approved on landscape grounds where | Parish Council
Planning Policy HA-1 of the Neighbourhood Plan is cited as a reason
Applications | for decision.

Policy HA-2 Review of The extent to which successful planning applications enhance | Parish Council
Planning local biodiversity by one or more measures set out in the
Applications | Policy.

Policy HA-3 Review of Applications refused/approved where Policy HA-3 of the Parish Council
Planning Neighbourhood Plan is cited as a reason for decision.
Applications

Policy HA-4 Review of Applications refused/approved where Policy HA-4 of the Parish Council
Planning Neighbourhood Plan is cited as a reason for decision.
Applications

Policy HA-5 Review of The extent to which successful planning applications address | Parish Council
Planning flood risk by incorporating one or more measures set out in
Applications | the Policy.

Policy HA-6 Review of The extent to which successful planning applications respond | Parish Council
Planning positively to historic character by one or more measures set
Applications | out in the Policy.

Policy HA-7 Review of Percentage of houses granted planning permission which Parish Council
Planning meet up to date housing needs and percentage where
Applications | smaller 1-3 bedroom dwellings are provided (target 100%).

Policy HA-8 Review of Percentage of development in Halton which uses infill sites, Parish Council
Planning re-uses previously developed land, or comprises the sensitive
Applications | conversion of existing buildings (target 100%).

Policy HA-9 Review of Applications refused/approved on design grounds where Parish Council
Planning policy HA-9 of the Neighbourhood Plan is cited as a reason
Applications | for decision.

The number of planning applications which incorporate three
or more measures set out in the Policy (Target 100%)

Policy HA-10 | Review of The number of planning applications which incorporate one Parish Council
Planning or more measures set out in the Policy (Target 100%)
Applications

Policy HA-11 | Review of The number of identified community facilities remaining in Parish Council
Planning Halton each year from the baseline in the Policy.
Applications

54




Page 64

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

Appendix 1: Lancaster District Local Plan Policies Maps

The following maps show the various designations covering Halton-with-Aughton Parish as defined
in the Lancaster District Local Plan, including:

e Map 7 - Local Plan Strategic Policies and Land Allocations Map
e Map 8 - Local Plan Landscape Designations, National Landscape and Open Countryside
e Map 9 - Local Plan Housing Delivery

55



Page 65

99

679TE800000V SO 720 S1y3l dseqelep pue 1ysiiAdod umotd @

doy suoiapa0ojjy pun] pup saidijod 316a1p.a1s upjd [pI07 - £ Ao

opisAunG 3 15000 A BUROWII]

nod ALID

A4 LSVONVT

Aiepunog uedin 1

JouIs|q JeIseaUET Jo} AYDBIBIH [IB19Y - LOL c
Bujjiejey pue Seiuad umoyL

|euep sejseoue] gl EL
8InoyY 8jokn) |euoneldsy

anoy ajokn Bunsixg

omen Buypdd - zL

Bpiy pue yied ver - LLL g
Kuanssuuo) pue )iqissesdy ‘uodsuely

2unsia pue uoneaisay ‘soedg usdo - g8 _

.se8ly ueld pooynoquBian - LS D
Sluswees a|qeuleIsng - Z4s .

sapUNWWo) 2|qeu|eIsng

JeuoiBay

sealy WEHodLW| Ajjeyuswiu N3

g usaig anyseaue ywon - o3 [
apisinunod uadQ - eNI
JUBWUQJIAUT JRINIEN B4 L

seely Juawioidw3 paysiqelss - 103 D
Juawfojdwz @ Awouos] ayl

UOISIAOIG Szm?ﬁmr\ﬁbmnm :DhD "- e .“
Kisnjeq Buisnoy

puaban

BuisnoH [einy - 2H D

L]

“snvezonoL 10 0207 108 puB KD Ui

1 A paanpoid dee

SISO T

M5 dwed §
ueneiey

Suopieiueld
Hed YloN

o

o uaajeH

whey

208 Ayuag
et

)

v

~ uzaioypg

é g

uojjeH - depy Sa121|0d SUOIJEIO||Y puET pue saldljod dibajens

¥TA ueld 3uawdojanag pooylnoqysiaN uoysny-yim-uoljeH




Page 66

LS

679TE800000V SO 70T SIS aseqeiep pue 1ysuAdod umosd @

apisAipuno) uadp pup adpaspun [puoilpN ‘suonpubisag adpaspuny ubjd [pIO]

TEUUTETIIUT |
sesly Ue|d pooyinoqybiap -
. [ | sealy juepodw| A|gjuswuodiaug - JNJ
HORISWIONZ SO WOl BJED SLIBJUOD SHeiseGaldEtIRienS .

uoljeladag jo Ealy - ONT ¢
£20z WU aseqejep pue JYBUAdoD UMOID 5 BIEP SO SUIEILOD

}8g usslig) 81ysesue’] YUoN - yN3 |
apisAnunog uado - ¢N3J

wyz L 50 0 |euoiBay adeospue Bumes UGN E JAineag |eimen Bulpuelsing jo Baly - ZNJ [ [L_
— L L 1 i | |euonen E uoneubiseq adeaspuer (2207 - GNI Joulsi Jeiseoue u
el 90 £0 0
gLe'serl ¥20z/10/LE
SN
asnoyyoosg :Emuﬁ, S
uojed
uojjeq
=
f—
e S
==
f ¢
4 @
auk|s
—y
| w 1 7 e |

uoybny-Lyim-uoljey

hIybnen

¥TA ueld 3uawdojanag pooylnoqysiaN uoysny-yim-uoljeH




Page 67

89

679TE800000V SO 20T S1y31 aseqelep pue 1ysliAdod umold @

Ai1an1jag Buisnoy upjd [p207 — 6 doN

sealy Ue|d pooyinogybiaN - L OS [ ywmois oiberens

153 Aq 1afe| deyy ‘sionquiuos sdepy Aunwiwog s ‘sajeqye
) pUE "OU| “joogase] ‘Yosoiiy 1 0 @ Eep depy
w 8’0 70 20 0
P I Buisnoy jeiny - zH ] A1anjeg Buisnoy
Iw g0 =] €10 0
088'vZ:L ecoc/iiile
& o SIed ssauishg —
Iy Js)seoue] 5
o
,,” £ - o ek i i BN
-~ dwe ]
»-7 Buwuiel] uojeH T oo =
o gl BUEFEE™ N\ =

~= o)l

o

Rk O3

i ‘wmmm.‘mwmm&mm,
oG
g

usalg uojey \

il

POOARTSIO

\
3

\ I
\ iue.| 9109

w 2%
—= punoig [eung
3|EpLLIGHO N

/)

¥TA ueld 3uawdojanag pooylnoqysiaN uoysny-yim-uoljeH




69

(payderie siopli1od uaaud Jo dew 99s) saoe|d Ul saduaA snossuald pue sadpay qnays Juepunge
apisSuoje ‘sade||In Y3 UIYLIM S33J] JO SPURLS PUB SPOOM ||BLUS SB ||9M SB ‘S3I3(¢ pue JaAL 9y} Suoje pue|pooMm JO sayd3aJis sey uoiydny-yiim-uoljey ‘syueld
JO |esiadsip ay3 9seasoul 0S|e p|NOM SIY] "92J1 01 3241 WoJ) ‘Spaiq Ajje1dadss ‘S|ewiue ||ews JO JUsWaAOW 3y} 91ell|1oe) ued Aayl 89 Alisianipolq Suisealoul ul
Med e Aejd ||11s ued S10pLUIOD [EWIUIW, YINS JuswaAed e Suoje sqniys JO aul| e 01 UMOP SPOOM pue sp|al woly ‘sadAl Jo a8uel e ul WO SIOPIIIOD pue| :pue] e
'sade||IA om1 9y} JO
1S9M pue Yyou 3yl 01 39 U343 9yl YUM Syueq pue pue|poom 3pISIaAL 3yl SUi199uUu0d ‘suoqqld ueliedld se 10e $y03¢ AJeIpISqns SH pUB SUNT JDAIY BY] :191BA\\ e
'sadA1 yroq sey uoiysny-yum-uoljeH ‘A|91eunliod ‘pue| pue Ja1em JJop1II0d U3J3 Jo sadAl 1ouUnSIp oMl d4e dIBYL P

Page 68

‘|es4adsip paas pue uajjod paseaJoul wodj Suiiyauag salads jueld se yans ‘s10a4)a
9AISOd papudIUIUN OS|e U0 aJe 3J3Y] 'SJaYy3o ueyl AjaAilisod aiow 10834 $3199ds dWOS SJUIS “J0j PIPUDIUI 3JB SIOPIII0I YINs $3123dS YdIym JIpISU0D 3sSNW dUQ '€

'SJ0pI1I0D
9Y3 1noyim 3|qissod aq 30U pjnom Yyaiym ‘ Suiisixa-0d ‘9°1 pue| Jo eale sawes ayi Ajjlenuia Adnado 03 suewny pue sjue|d ‘Sjewiue yiogq Moje SI0pIII0d Yans ‘Os|y
"}B3JY3 SIY} ddnpau Ajjeizualod ued siopliiod uaaud/ap|IM ‘AdiSiaAIpolq 03 3eaJy3 Suisealdul ue snyi Si S3eligey [ednjeu Jo uojjejudawsel ‘Saseatdul Uuolduxa

‘S95E9109p UOIIBJSIW UBYM 9SNEISQ Pa3IduU0d 3¢ 01 Paau suoipod yons ‘sa19ads SAISSUOD 01 pUB JUBUWSI B p3j|ed S| jeligey [ednieu jo uolliod Sululewal ¥ g

‘speod ‘s8ulp|ing "8'd ‘s24n31onJ3s pue salAlde uewny Aq pajesedas suonendod a41p|im Sui30aUU0D 1e1IgRY JO SEDJE e SIOPIII0D UdBJS/BHIPIIM T

puejpoo SuidauUu0d SI0pIII0) JIIPIIM 2 Xipuaddy

¥TA ueld 3uawdojanag pooylnoqysiaN uoysny-yim-uoljeH



09

6¢9TE800000V SO 20T S3y8H aseqelep pue 3ysuAdod umotd @
T doy

g

=)

pupjpoo Bui3rauuod siopliio) lpiIM - 0

i 1
o) = 2] ,.ll._.u

Page 69

ysiied
\ 9|(QISS8d2y UON .

N spuejpoo

i
\ LS
\ N\

S

i pue|poOM JUBUY

¥TA ueld 3uawdojanag pooylnoqysiaN uoysny-yim-uoljeH



Page 70

19

"gN[d [120S PAsuI| B dwWedaq I S,056T dY1 Ul "1sod susapiem pied
Jle |e20] 9y} SB Pasn sem WO0O0J sawes sy} pue ‘a1ayl pajquiasse aiam
Sysew seg ‘saandeAsd 40} 943Udd UoIIdadal se pasn sem 1 Z MMM Sulung

‘Wo0J uoIiduNy
e ojul dn usado 01 wayl pamojje yaiym uonied Suipjo} e Aq palesedas
9J9M SWOO0J 0M] 1SB| 3SaY31 ‘wooJ uipeas e pue wood sawes e ‘wood

uoljeH
‘peoy mo1

(a3muasuy
|oLIOW3N
AbAN uOoLH)

Sp4el||lq ¥ "SWo0J 934y} Ylm £Z6T Ul }Ing Sem ainliisul ayl "8T6T "a3e||In
- ¥T6T JO ,JeM 1B3JD,, BY) Ul SOAI| JI9Y) 1S0| OYM U0IY3NnY-yliM-uoljeH 3y} 03 ddUedHIUSIS qanpp
10O Uawi ay1 Jo saweu ayl d1eniadiad 01 pardala sem Suip|ing ayL |BIDOS pUE J1103SIH |eros uojeH | ¢
-ade||In 3y}
10 98pa uJa1sea ay3 1e Poo3s 1Byl SsoJd apisAem e jo aseq ay3 Ajqissod uoyeH
S1'}| ‘Suipeasds wouj ansde|d syl JuaAaid 03 31 U] SUIOD JIDY] YSem peoy ysiH
01 pey 23e||1A 3y Suliaiud sauoAue pue Je3aUlA YliM pPa||I} SEM MO||oY : yum uoinoun(
9y3 pies si 3| ‘ande|d ay3 JO Swil 9y} WoJ) dlep 0} paindad S| aU0ls Ay L 9yl 1e uoljeH
py auoisAuudd ¢
"'aueq asnoy|ooyds spiemol peoy y3siH jo
eaJle ay} Jo,,
9pIS YInos ay3 uo sde|d e woJly 996T Ul UOIIRIO| JUDJINI S} O} PIAOIA Jo uapued ays u|
Atowsw aA1129)|02,,
"3pIS QUO UO YJew S,U0Sew MmoJlle ay3 03 Suinqliuod auols
ue seH "dol ay1 ul mojjoy aienbs mojjeys yum auois panied 98ie] | 2ouediiudis [ed11031SIH Auuadoayl | T
sydeaSoloyd uondiisag uoisn|pul Joj uosedy | ssaippe 13 swepN | oy
S19sSy a8ejuaH pajeusisag-uoN

$}9sSy 93eMI9H € Xipuaddy

¥TA ueld 3uawdojanag pooylnoqysiaN uoysny-yim-uoljeH



Page 71

9

*ZT0T Ul paysiganiaJt sem |[lw 3yl uaym sauesquiaw Ajd 9|3uls

e yum paoe|daJ Joou a1e|s |eulS1I0 8yl YUM ‘43N0 papJleoq sassnal

1sod uaanp g Sury a8.4e| y10q sey a4n3onJis Jooy ‘sjooJ paydud ajgnop
ANoJ YUM [[lw }Ing au03ls Ajulel 'S066T @Y ul paso|d yeyl Auedwod
8unaaui8ua uoisipald |nyssadons e 3uuaauidul apisaun paysl|qelss
SJDIP|OS YS1|0d JWI0) JBM SY3 JOY "S2J03S pue Sydelleq se

Away ay3 Aq pasn sem [jiw 3yl MM Suling "y1o|d |10 JO in1dejnuew
9y} J0} 0Z6T PUB 068T US9MIS] SWIIBWOS }|INg "UO}jeH 1e aun1

JOAIY 9Y3 JO yueq 3y} UO POO0IS YdIyMm S|jiw paJamod Ja3em JO Sa143S

‘eaJe ay3 ul
uolesdiwuwi jo Aloisiy
[e1o0s Jem 1sod ay3 jo
14ed ‘os|y ‘aJiyseoue
SS0JDJE S||IW 21401S1Y
JO SS0O| 9Y3 JO 1X33U02
ay1 U uediudis
‘98e||1An 3y} Jo Aioisiy
[elasnpui jo ajdwexa

uoljeH ‘aueq ||IN

B JO 1IN0 ululewaJ ||iwi 1se| 3y si (||1IA SIPPIA AjJawiioy) || uoljeH 8ujurewau yse’ N uoyeH | ¢
‘s1uqap Suleo|4 wody s33| ulew ay3 309304d (*,28p1g
01 3pIs weaJisdn 3yl uo sadeuq pauldul [euollppe Yim ‘siaid 91594} Auuad ayl,
pa2eUQ-SS0JD JO S314SS B UO J31eMm 3y3 anoge panoddns si aSpliq ayi Jo ,23pug yoag
‘Yy1EdUIBPUN ISP 31240UOI B Ul PASEIUD 4N1DNJIS AU JO Yonw YUm Auuaq, ‘,98puig
340MD111e| UOJI Pa1aALI AneaY JO sweaq a|gnop saJniea) adpliq ayL uoJ| dyl, ‘,28pug
A A g uoljeH, se
paso|d Ajjeuly uolels pue Aemjies ayy uaym 99T |13un adpLq umouy AljesoT)
(|01 e se 1 91esado 03 panuluod pue 33plig 3yl paumo Auedwod )
Aemjies ay] "€T6T Ul UOleH Ul 93plig USPOOM P|O 3Y3 JOJ JUSWdE|dal e9de oy ul aue7 yoag Auuag
Aemjies sy jo Aoasiy
B 10NJ1SU0d 03 Pash aJam 33pliq punoyAaio p|o syl wody syusuodwod pue uoleH py
9yl pue J3jsesue] 0}
Ja1seaueq ul 98pliq Aem|ies punoyAain ayy ade|dad 01 syuom Suimol|o4 uollels usaamiag
2UedJIU3IS |e21I0ISIY
‘Auedwod Aemjies JOPIM 93e||IA 3yl 03 28pug
9yl Agq 6%8T Ul 3jInq ‘a8pliq ||03 uspoom e pade|das 38plq Juaaind 3yl | 3duediusis |eII0ISIH yvgAuuaqg | ¢
sydeaSojoyd uondusag uoisnjoul 1oy uoseay | ssaippe g swep | joy

¥TA ueld 3uawdojanag pooylnoqysiaN uoysny-yim-uoljeH




Page 72

€9

J93seoue ‘uoleH ‘INVT YILSYINVT ‘IDA0T SNHVD Il S68TL0T 39001 SNYVD
Jajseoue ‘uoljeH ‘Qv0Y HOIH ‘TTT “ASNOH 33YL ININ Il 768TLOT 4SNOH F34L NN
Ja)sedue] ‘uoleH ‘Qv0Y HOIH ‘64 ‘ASNOHINYVA SHYITTIN Il €68TL0T ISNOHWYY4H SYITTIIN
Jajseaue ‘uoljeH ‘INVT NIIYD ISNOHINYVYA
‘ISNOHINYYH 1SV3 NIFYD NOL1IVH 40 1SV3I-HLYON OL NYvd Il ¢68TL0T 1SV3 N334D NOLTVH 40 1SV3I-HLYON OL Nuv4d
JajseoueT ‘uoljeH ‘INVT NIFYD ‘ISNOHINYYL 1SVI NIFYD NOLIVH Il T68TL0T ISNOHNYY4H 1SV3 N3IFYD NOL1VH
JayseoueT ‘uoljeH ‘INV1 AYVYANNOL ‘SIDVLLIOD AHOLD3H Z ON I 068TLOT S3I9VLLOD AH4O1D34 T ON
Jo3seoueT ‘uoljeH ‘133Y1S HOYNHD ‘Ald41IM Ald47IM 1S 40 HOYNHD 40
1S 40 HOYNHD 40 QYVAHOYNHD OL SILVO ANV SH3ld 3LVD 40 HIvd Il 688TL0T AYVAHOUNHD OL S3LVD ANV S¥3ld 31VD 40 dIvd
JajseoueT ‘uoljeH ‘\\OYg HOYNHD ‘ISNOH LVOd IHL I 888TLOT 3SNOH Lv09g IH1L
J9iseaue
‘uoljeH ‘MOYE HOYNHD ‘STIVM ONINNV14 ANV ISNOH MD01D Il L88TLOT STIVM ONDINVTd ANV 3SNOH X201
JajseoueT ‘uoljeH ‘INV1 NIFHYO ‘ISNOHINYVL LSIM NIFYD NOLIVH x|l 0SveoceT ISNOHINYVYL LSAM NIFYD NOL1TVH
JajseoueT ‘uoljeH ‘Qvoyd MO1 ‘ISNOH YONVIN || 06€V9TT 3SNOH YONVIN
Joyseaue ‘AgjjeA aun Jamot ‘1ONAINDY INNT TYNVYI YILSYINV] I TSPCoET 12NAa3aNoVv INNT TVYNYD Y31SVINV1
1USWNUOIA
Jajseaue ‘uoljey ‘aueq Aipunod pajnpayas Ov¥¢T0T uoljeH "A9|ieq pue a110W ||IH 9|3s€)
1USWNUOIN
191seaue] ‘uoljeH ‘PUIM IS 4O Yyaunyd pajnpayas 06%7600T uojjeH "pJeAydinyd s,pL[IM 1S Ul SS0JD YsIH
apeso 3unsn JquinN
uoned’o] | Aio3are) aSemsaH Anu3asn awepN

s3ulp|ing pa3sIT

¥TA ueld 3uawdojanag pooylnoqysiaN uoysny-yim-uoljeH




Page 73

¥9

Jaiseoue ‘uoiysny

-yum-uo}eH ‘Qv0d NOLHONY ‘(3SNOH NYIHLYON) ‘A1314HOIH YVA Il 09079711 (3SNOH NY3IHLYON) ‘A13I4HDIH ¥V
JaiseoueT ‘uoysny-yym-uoijeq

‘NOLHONY ‘N18 2V ‘NOLHONY ‘MOYE NOLHONY ‘ASNOH TIAHD I €S019TT ISNOH TIAHD

JaiseoueT ‘uoleH ‘AAOYd HOYNHD 1SV3-HL4ON Ol

‘1SV3-HLYON OL ONINIOrav 3SNOH HOVO0D ANV 13LOH NOIT ILIHM I 0€6TLOT ONINIOrdy 3SNOH HOVOD ANV 13L0H NOIT 3LIHM
Jaiseaue ‘uoljeH

‘MOYE HOYNHD ‘YVAHOYNHI NOL1VH ‘INNTFT0SNVIN MYHSAVHE Il 6C6TL0T QYVAHDYNHD NOLTVH INNTFTOSNVYIN MVHSAV4g

JaiseoueT ‘uolysny-yum-uoljeH ‘avoy (3SNOHINYVA

NOLHONV (ISNOHINYYH4 NYILSIM-HLNOS) ‘A131I4HOIH 31aalN I 8C6TLOT NY3ILSIM-HLNOS) ‘d13IHHDIH ITAdIN
Jaiseaue

‘uoydny-yum-uoljey ‘INV1 NYVd ‘ISNOHINYYA YYVd NOLTVH Il €06TL0T ISNOHINYVI MYVd NOLTVH
Ja1seaueT ‘uolydny-yum-uoljeH ‘NOLHONY

‘ANVT MYVd ‘NYVYd ONINIOIaV ANV ISNOHNYYH AVIHSIMVYH 1 ¢06T.L0T NYVd ONINIOIrAv ANV ISNOHINYV4 AVIHSIMVH

Jaiseoue ‘uolysny-yim-uoyeH ‘INV1 NYVd ‘MHYVd NOLIVH I TO6TLOT M14Vd NOLTVH
Jaiseaue] ‘uolysny-yum-uoljeH ‘NOLHONY

‘13341S NIVIN ‘SNYVE ONINIOrdv aNVv 3SNOH NOLHDNY I 006TL0T SNYV4A ONINIOIdv dNVv I3SNOH NOLHSNY
Jaiseoueq ‘uoiysny

-Yyum-uoleH ‘NOLHONY ‘13FYLS NIVIA ‘IOVLILOD SINVEMIN I 668T.0T 19V110D SOINVAMIN

JaisesueT ‘alowudand ‘avod MOT ‘INNT dANNT 40 M00HD 1V

40 )00YD LV ANNT Y3AIY FHL 4IAO I5Aldg AVMTIVYE NY3LSIM I 868T/0T ANNT YIAIY FHL HIAO IDAI4G AVMTIVY NdILSIM

JaiseoueT ‘uoleH ‘QvOyd MO ‘319aidg INNT NOLYD I L68T/L0T 35dl49 INNTNOLVYD

JaiseaueT ‘uo}eH ‘INV1 YILSVYINVT ‘I9VLLO0D 319d01 39V1102 35d01SNYVD ONINIOrav

SNYVI ONINIOIAy ‘39d01 SNYVI OL SONINIVY ANV STIVM ‘SH3Id I 968TL0T 39407 SNYVYD OL SONITIVY ANV STIVM ‘SH3id

¥TA ueld 3uawdojanag pooylnoqysiaN uoysny-yim-uoljeH




Page 74

S9

Ja1seauet ‘uoljeH ‘MOYE HOYNHD ‘Ald4TIM LS 40 HOYNHD

ard471M 1S 40 HOYNHD JHL 40 HOYOd HOYNHD

JHL 40 HOYOd HOYNHD 40 1SV3I-HLNOS SIYLIN ¥ LNOAV “TVIANNS Il 0C6LTET 40 1SV3-HLNOS SFHLIN ¥ LNOTV IVIANNS
Jaiseaue ‘uoljeH

‘M0OYg HOYNHD “TTVH NOL1VH 43NH04 01 SH31d3LVD 40 ¥Ivd Il €68LTET TIVH NOLTVH 43INY04 OL S431d3LvD 40 HIvd
Ja3iseoue ‘uoiydny

-Yyum-uoleH ‘Av0oy JTVASNOT AGIHIN “ISNOHINYVH ILVOHOON I CS8LTET ISNOHINYVYL FLVOHO0N

Jarseoue ‘uoyeH ‘aQvoy INYV4 S¥37d3d

HOIH ‘NYV4 SY431a3d 1V ISNOHINYVH 40 HLYON SIYLIN 0€ NYvd Il 6V8LTET 1V I3SNOHINYY4 40 HLYON S3HLIN 0€ NYvd
Ja3isesue ‘ysued [IAD-UoN

“d431SYONV1 ‘AvYOY NOLTVH ‘(80T 434INNN) 39A149 AVOY NOL1VH Il €66V76TT (80T ¥3I4INNN) 3IDAIYd AVOY NOLTVH
Jajseoue ‘uoy3ny-yim-uoljeH ‘a13lI4HOIH

4IMO1 3d9 2V1 ‘NOLIVH ANV NYVd ‘A131IdHDIH ¥YIHLIN Il E8YYITT A71314HOIH Y43H13IN
Jajseaue ‘uoydny

-Yyum-uoyeH ‘NOLHONY ‘13341S NIVIA “TTIVH d10 NOLHONY Il EIVPITT TIVH d10 NOLHDNV
Jaiseouen

‘uoysny-ysm-uoyeH ‘NOLHONY ‘13FYLS NIVIN ‘SIHD3IE FHL I LTVYITT S3HD339 JHL

JaiseaueT ‘aepa|il-yum-uoied ‘avoy MO1 ‘INNT INNT40 XO0YD LV

40 X00YD LV INNT Y3AIY IHL YIAO I5d149 AVMTIVY NYI LSV Il 80V¥9T1 ANNTY3IAIY FHL HIAO I9AIdd AVMTIVY NY31SV3

J93seoueT ‘uoljeH ‘N3FYD NOLIVH ‘Av0od MO1 ‘ISNOH Y239 NIFYD Il €8EVITT 4SNOH X23d N335

Jajseoue ‘uoyeH ‘NOLIVH ‘Av0od MOT ‘ISNOHINYY4 ANI NMOL Il TLEVITT ISNOHINYVY4 AN3 NMOL

JajseoueT ‘uoljeH ‘INV1 YILSYINVT ‘IOV.LLOD 319001 SNYVI Il SYEVITT 39V110D 39d0TSNYVD

Jaisedue] ‘uoyeH ‘MOYd HOYNHD ‘Ald41IM LS 40 HOYNHD I 8607911 Ald47IM "LS 40 HOYNHD

¥TA ueld 3uawdojanag pooylnoqysiaN uoysny-yim-uoljeH




Page 75

99

JaiseaueT ‘uoyeH ‘Av0Y HOIH ‘68 ‘I9V110D @13I4 Il [A5 74°1 ) 39v110D0 a13aid

JaiseaueT ‘uo}eH ‘INV1 AYVYANNOL ‘SIOVLLIOD AYO1D34 T ON Il 6vvC9ET S39VL10D AHOL1D34 T ON

Jaiseoue] ‘uoljeH ‘M\OYd HOYNHD ONINIOrav

‘ONINIOrav NYVd ANV S319VLS YIWHO04 ANV ISNOH 4IMOL Il 8V C9ET NYVE ANV S319VLS 4IWHOd ANV ISNOH YIMOL
Jaiseouen

‘uoljeH ‘MOYd HOYNHD “TTVYH NOLTVH Y3NH04 OL AVMHIYY Il 0EC9eT TIVH NOLTVH 43INH4O4d OL AVMHOYY

JayseoueT ‘uoyeH ‘AMOYd HOYNHD ‘@ld41IM LS 40 HOYNHD FHL ard47iM 1S 40 HOYNHD 3HL 40 HLNOS OL

40 HLNOS O1L AY4VAHOYNHD OL 3DNVYINT 1V S43Id31V9 40 dIvd Il 6C¢VC9ET AYVAHOYNHD OL 3DNVY1INT 1V SH31d31V9O 40 dIvd
Jaiseouen

‘uo1ysny-yum-uoleH ‘Odd NOLHONY ‘SNYVE NOLHONY Il 8¢9eT SNYVd NOLHDNY

JaiseoueT ‘uoljeH ‘AVOY MOT ‘ASNOH YONVIA 40 LSIM SH3Id 31LVD Il STYCoET 4SNOH YONVIN 40 1S3M SH3Id 31VD

Jajseaue ‘uoljeH ‘avoy ISNOHINYVA

MO1 “ISNOHINYY4 ANI NMOL 40 1SV3 IHL OL ONIA1INg NYVA Il AN Z4c TN aN3 NMOL 40 1SV3 IHL OL SNIATINg INYVA

¥TA ueld 3uawdojanag pooylnoqysiaN uoysny-yim-uoljeH




Page 76

L9

679T€800000V SO 20T s1ysl aseqelep pue 1ysuAdos umoid @

dely |esieaddy adeasumo] ‘600¢ |esiesddy ealy uoljeAsasuo) uoyjeH - TT dejn

(e 2000 1) Vs raId o apin serend
o o s s

Aomuiong 1 Aoy o4 0 At 9 Jo 0480 1o hanm ST 0
et 341 310 {4 A48, S A 830 s AL

saug Jo sBuipping aapedony 77
WAWNUOL] WBPUY PAINPaLdS
adedg uadQ weyudig

smalA ey udig

dnou 0. 4o 904) wedyyudig

sBuiping aanisog

sBuipying ponsr)

Aiepunog
oy UOREAIISUOY) pasodaiy

OZmENK

Adepunog ea.y UOPIEAIISUOD)

‘Q kIS 01 10N
depy [esieiddy adessumoy

AUy UOPEAIISUOD UOI[EH

J1puno) A1 Jarsesue

i

uoljeH

¥TA ueld 3uawdojanag pooylnoqysiaN uoysny-yim-uoljeH



Page 77

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

Appendix 4: Halton’s Recent Flooding History and Responses

1. Storm Desmond flooding. On 5" December 2015, Storm Desmond’s saturated ground conditions and very
high rainfall caused the highest river flow recorded in the UK, in the River Lune, and caused extensive
flooding:

a. River Lune ‘fluvial’ flooding along its northern bank, affected Lancaster Cohousing land (but not
into the houses) and the park home site next to Halton Bridge. It also caused damage at Crook O’
Lune, and landslides and bank erosion in some places; and flooded the Halton Lune Hydro,
stopping power generation for some months.

b. Cote Beck stream flooding, from excess flows down the beck, ‘backed up’ by the Lune flood level
at the bottom, flooding the Tower House area and Red Door café of the village.

c. Flooding all roads into and out of the village, preventing access.

d. ‘Surface water’ flooding from runoff over the surface, in excess of drain capacity, and down roads
and through gardens, in various places in the village.

2. 2017 flooding. In the 24 hours from 09:00 Wednesday 22" November 2017 the weather station at
Hazelrigg recorded 73.6mm of rainfall - the highest level in more than 50 years since the centre started
weather observations, causing flooding again:

a. The worst ever extensive ‘surface water’ flooding, including from upstream fields’ runoff, in excess
of drain capacity, of many village streets and gardens, and some houses, in Pennystone Road, High
Road, Halton Road and Low Road causing families to have to leave their homes.

b. Cote Beck stream flooding, from excess flows down the beck, which again flooded the Tower
House area and Red Door café of the village.

c. A high, but not so damaging, River Lune flood (but it stopped the Halton Lune Hydro again).

3. Inresponse to the flooding, a village Flood Action Group (FLAG) was set up. It had various public meetings,
and meetings with statutory authorities; and continued to liaise with them on agreed actions during 2018
and 2019. The actions included:

a. Environment Agency — updating flood records, and the Surface Water Flood Risk Map;

b. Lancashire County Council (as the Local Lead Flooding Authority, LLFA) —removed some 70 tons
of stones from the Cote Beck bed and culverts), instigating a study of how the motorway and new
link road drainage have contributed to its flooding, and of how its flood risk can be reduced. It
commissioned a detailed survey and study of the drainage capacity and flood risk in the village:
the Flood Risk Management Study - Halton Initial Assessment (the Jacobs Report) from consultants
(see 5 below). Lancaster City Council (LCC) as the road drainage maintenance authority, cleaning
all he drains, and reorganising the annual timing of cleaning, to be after leaf fall and before the
likely November onwards flood season; and to liaise with the Parish Council to ensure that parked
cars do not prevent this.

3. The FLAG, in conjunction with the newly set-up River Lune Forum, consulting with LCC Planning, and
submitting proposed improvements to the flood risk management requirements of both the LCC draft
Local Plan, and the consultation on the revised NPPF. These focus particularly on requiring and
incentivising developers to carry the more sophisticated site Flood Risk Assessments that are required,
right at the start of their site planning process; so that the flood risk management requirements — space
and cost — can be built from the beginning into their land layouts, housing numbers and land price
calculations.

4. After Storm Desmond, the Parish Council instigated an emergency plan to cover major events, including
future flooding. An emergency generator is available at The Centre @ Halton, so it can be used as an
emergency centre, as well as Halton Mill and St Wilfrid’s School.

68



Page 78

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

10.

11.

12.

13.

In February 2018, Lancashire County Council commissioned Jacobs UK Ltd to undertake a flood risk study
covering Halton. The report A Flood Risk Management Study - Halton Initial Assessment, February 2020
is provided on the NDP pages of the Parish Council website.

The aim of the initial assessment was to establish whether a workable, sustainable and justified solution
to reduce the risk of flooding can probably be found, or whether the project should take a different course
or be stopped.

The report examined [Section 3] 4 options for flood reduction in Halton. It concluded, and recommended

[our emphasis]:

e “The primary mechanisms of flooding in Halton is surface water flooding, driven by the amount of
runoff entering the urban area from the surrounding upland areas. Flooding is exacerbated by local
topography, which conveys flood flows through the urban area along key road networks towards
low-lying areas. The surface water drainage network, including culverted watercourse and sewers,
also becomes overwhelmed during the 5% AEP [1 in 20 years] rainfall event onwards. A total of 104
residential and 34 non-residential properties are estimated to be at risk of surface water flooding with
Present Value damages estimated at £7.2m.”

e “. aworkable, sustainable and justified solution to reduce the risk of flooding can probably be found
in Halton.”

However, the property values affected by flooding in Halton are not high enough to justify the full national
‘partnership’ grant funding needed for solutions. So: “It is recommended that Lancashire County Council
identify potential alternative funding sources to ascertain the financial feasibility of delivering Flood Risk
Management in Halton. If it is likely that suitable funding sources can be identified, it is recommended that
an Outline Business Case is developed by Lancashire County Council, with support from Lancaster City
Council and key stakeholders such as United Utilities.”

As far as we are aware, none of the Report’s 11 further recommended steps have been undertaken.

During the informal consultation on the emerging Draft Plan in Spring 2024 flooding problems in Aughton
were also noted.

Surface water flooding is a potential problem in many areas, exacerbated by poor maintenance of the
drains and culverts. A particular concern is the extent to which flood water accumulates in the dip on the
road between Halton and Aughton, adjacent to Pikethorn Wood and Monkley Gill Wood. After heavy rain
this can become almost impassable.

These problems across both villages will only become more urgent as intense rainfall events become more
common.

The following maps are sourced from the report A Flood Risk Management Study - Halton Initial
Assessment, February 2020 produced by Jacobs for Lancashire County Council.

69



Page 79

0L

6¢9TE80000DV SO 70T S3YsH dseqeiep pue 3y3uAdod umosd @
020¢ Apnis uswadeue|A ysiy pPoo|4 SqOIe[ 324N0S

3ty Apnis uoybH - T do

uoneI0| MBAIND
pawnssy

>

“ wJie4 puj aueq

8sinoausjep
aueT MouY

398g 8100

T

0244Bu 3S=9BRP PUE 1BUAd0D UACID O BIEP SO SUIEHCD > ENEY —
ST PI313POOM
asinoausem Aeuipio —— [POT YHON =) 00s 0s¢ scl
YannD l'l'l"..l'_ll.lllllIldnrl{lﬁ 'lll"l'lll.“
- — S _—
eaiy Apmis o .H . —— T rr— , _.._OM—_.m_I y A
| pusba| ! - ~\ T 7 .
| “ . ) 5 :
\ v 1
\\ § 4 1 1
: v . -
auUN] A8AlY — " ,,_ “ -
_ B Mo\ 1
pe°® : 1,
u=9.ic) uoljeH <~ U ]

'——-—u———--——--

L) louep 3y

- uCOE:Mﬁ

#TA ueld 3uawdojanag pooynoqysiaN uoysny-yim-uoljeH




Page 80

1L

6¢9TE80000DV SO 70T S3YsH aseqeiep pue 3y3uAdod umosd @
020¢ Apnis uswadeue|A ysiy pPoo|4 SqOIe[ 324N0S

UaNa ||pfuipi dIV %EE'T b burinp buipoolf fo ysii 1o spaly - €T doy

h, 8102 uCu sseqeiEp pue pOuidoD uarD § mﬁu.-.wuowhﬁ_.ﬁ PIBUDOOM w@.ﬂ@E T e
wezso [l 00€ 06l G/ 0O
| weo-ss'o [l
wssoco || S
A woso [l | ==
wgrosoo [ J [V

(w) sypdag |-
Poold d3V %L

-y =

3UE" BSN0OYIOOYIS B

f -l * i i
'l-- ¥
| y2ag a0 _un.....u- Lﬂwwm\;
UGHEH 1SEZ-YION | ln TR T
-
-l

#TA ueld 3uawdojanag pooynoqysiaN uoysny-yim-uoljeH



Page 81

L

679TE80000DV SO 20T S1y3l sseqelep pue 3ysiiAdod umosd @
020¢ Apnis uswadeue|A ysiy pPoOO|4 SqOIe[ 324N0S

UaNa ||pfuipi 43V %EE'T bulinp A1dndo) yiomiaN abouioiqg — T do

T
v e Bumes w s | | 9102 Wby ssequiep pue uBuideD UNGE B ERD 5
LGRS AR §4 58 UG A3SELA U BN 4 M B4 0 8 BadBS

Wand g3y %E L buunp
fypseded yiomau sBeuresp voyeH

e

JUBUESassY [eu| LoyeH

uneg Ajuno D) JlSEIUE]

%00} ——

%6604

%OL G ——
%059 —
RGED =

(g %) Ayoededs adig
puaba

Praypoo

uonEjueld
do| i

#TA ueld 3uawdojanag pooynoqysiaN uoysny-yim-uoljeH




Page 82

679T€800000V SO ¥20T Syl aseqelep pue 1ysuAdos umosd @
020¢ Apnis uswadeue|A ysiy pPoo|4 SqOIe[ 324N0S

T uondop buiyrawos-oq Jo uoiapIo| an1ILIIPU| — ST do
Sij2)| N
Q0L 05 s2 O

g10Z wbu mmma“wu\ucm wbuAdog umaiD @ ElER SO SUIRIUOD

snsg 1o abeioig

suondo Buyewos-oq
'l asinousem KeupIO —

e

H3AIND) e—
Pl

puaban ;!
]

#TA ueld 3uawdojanag pooynoqysiaN uoysny-yim-uoljeH



VL

6¢9TE800000V SO 20T SIS aseqeiep pue 1ydlAdod umos) @
020¢ Apnis uswadeue|A ysiy pPoo|4 SqOIe[ 324N0S

8102 Jubu aseqejep pue JybuAdon

QD @

Z uondo buiyiawos-oq fo uoiapio| anipaipul — 9T do

SO SulejuoD

sqgnsg o abeioig F ™1

|
suondo Bunpswos-og

S5IN0UNBM MBUIPIQ =

HAAIND) e—

puaben

Page 83

\*

S/l N T
_ 08 oy 0C M

JNAN3AY 1134 JHLA

INYT 3SNOHIO0RAS

#TA ueld 3uawdojanag pooynoqysiaN uoysny-yim-uoljeH



SL

679T€800000V SO ¥20T Syl aseqelep pue 1ysuAdos umosd @
020¢ Apnis uswadeue|A ysiy pPoo|4 SqOIe[ 324N0S

€ uondo buiylawos-oq fo uoilpIof annwaipul — /1 do

JUIRIp pUE _..|||
p kemybi T =

Buiylswos-oq
EM JUBUIDIQ s

puaba

Page 84

#TA ueld 3uawdojanag pooynoqysiaN uoysny-yim-uoljeH



Page 85

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan v14

All maps subject in this document are subject to:
© Crown copyright and database rights 2024 OS AC0000831629.

You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the
organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license,
distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

Halton-with-Aughton Parish Council with the support of:

The Planning People

76




Page 86

Halton-with-Aughton
Neighbourhood Development Plan

A report to Lancaster City Council of the Independent

Examination of the Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood
Development Plan

Copy to Halton-with-Aughton Parish Council

Independent Examiner Christopher Collison

Christopher Collison
BA (Hons) MBA MRTPI MIED IHBC

Planning and Management Ltd

31 July 2025



Page 87

Contents
SUMMArY Of Main FINAINGS ......uuiiiieiie ettt e et e e e e e e e e aate e e e e e e e s e atstaeeeeeeeesnntnaeeeaeeaeans 2
N1 =d o] o YoYU T g¥o Yo Yo I 2d 11 o o 1T o =0 USPROE 3
Independent EXamiNatioN........ciciiiii ittt e et e e e et e e e e e satr e e e seataeeeseataeeesantaeeesantaeeesantaeeesnes 3
Basic Conditions and other Statutory ReqUIremMents ............eeeveeiiiiciiiiiiee et 5
D To o] U] 41T o | = OO PPN 7
CONSUIATION ..ttt ettt st e e st e e b et e s are e e b e e e amteesabee e beeesabeesneeesabeeeareeesnseesaneeanns 9
The Neighbourhood Plan taken as @ Whol€ ..........ueii i e 13
The Neighbourhood Plan POIICIES ......c..uiiiiiiee ettt e e e s e e e s ara e e e e aaaeeean 22
Policy HA-1 Conserving and Enhancing Local Landscape Character.........ccccceeeecieeeeecieeececieee e, 24
Policy HA-2 Protecting and Enhancing Wildlife and Geodiversity .......cccccceeveecciiieeeee e, 25
Policy HA-3 Area of SEParation ...t e rr e e e e e e e aa e e e e e e e ean 26
oY [ ToV A o Ve B o Tor= Y W € Y= g I o - [ o <L USSR 27
o] [Tol o 7R o To Yo o [T Y-S USSR 30
Policy HA-6 Protecting Historic CharacCter .........cceiiiciiee ettt 37
Policy HA-7 Meeting Local HOUSING NEEAS .....ccccuvieiiiiiiie ettt e e ree e e e e e 38
Policy HA-8 Halton Urban DevelopmeENT.........coociiiiiiciiie ettt e e aree e e e e e 39
Policy HA-9 High Quality and Sustainable DeSi N ........ceeiiviiiiieeiiiee et 41
POlICY HA-L10 ACLIVE TraVEI ..cveeiiiiiie ettt ettt et e e e e tte e e e e tte e e e e bte e e e e ntee e e snnaeeaeennenas 42
Policy HA-11 CommuUuNity FACHItIES ....uvvveeiiieiiciiiieeee et crre e e e e e e e aae e e e e e e 43
Conclusion and RefErEenNdUM .......cc.uii it st e s re e s are e s b e s sneeesaree s 44
Annex: Minor Corrections to the Neighbourhood Plan...........occciiiiiiiii e, 45

Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 88

Summary of Main Findings

This is the report of the Independent Examination of the Halton-with-Aughton
Neighbourhood Development Plan. The Neighbourhood Plan relates to the Parish of
Halton-with-Aughton which was designated as a Neighbourhood Area by Lancaster
City Council on 27 October 2015. Halton-with-Aughton Parish Council is the
qualifying body that has submitted the plan to Lancaster City Council. The plan
period runs until 2031. The Neighbourhood Plan includes policies relating to the
development and use of land. The Neighbourhood Plan does not allocate land for
residential development.

As the Neighbourhood Plan was submitted to the City Council before 12 March
2025, in accordance with paragraph 239 of the National Planning Policy Framework
December 2024, | must undertake this Independent Examination in the context of the
National Planning Policy Framework published on 20 December 2023.

This report finds that subject to specified modifications the Neighbourhood Plan
meets the Basic Conditions and other requirements. It is recommended the
Neighbourhood Plan should proceed to a local referendum based on the plan area.

Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 89

Neighbourhood Planning

. The Localism Act 2011 empowers local communities to take responsibility for the
preparation of elements of planning policy for their area through a neighbourhood
development plan. Paragraph 29 of the National Planning Policy Framework (the
Framework) states that “neighbourhood planning gives communities the power to
develop a shared vision for their area”.

. Following satisfactory completion of the necessary preparation process
neighbourhood development plans have statutory weight. Decision-makers are
obliged to make decisions on planning applications for the area that are in line with
the neighbourhood development plan, unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.

. The parish of Halton-with-Aughton was designated as a Neighbourhood Area (the
Neighbourhood Area) by Lancaster City Council (the City Council) on 27 October
2015. The Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan (the
Neighbourhood Plan) has been submitted by Halton-with-Aughton Parish Council
(the Parish Council), a qualifying body able to prepare a neighbourhood plan, in
respect of the Neighbourhood Area. The Neighbourhood Plan has been produced by
a Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group supported by consultants Kirkwells.

. The submission draft of the Neighbourhood Plan and accompanying documents
were approved by the Parish Council on 11 December 2024, and submitted to the
City Council on 28 January 2025. The City Council arranged a period of publication
between 10 March 2025 and 28 April 2025. The City Council subsequently submitted
the Neighbourhood Plan to me for independent examination which commenced on
23 June 2025.

Independent Examination

. This report sets out the findings of the independent examination of the
Neighbourhood Plan. The report makes recommendations to the City Council
including a recommendation as to whether the Neighbourhood Plan should proceed
to a local referendum. The City Council will decide what action to take in response to
the recommendations in this report.

Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 90

6. The City Council will decide whether the Neighbourhood Plan should proceed to
referendum, and if so whether the referendum area should be extended, and what
modifications, if any, should be made to the submission version plan. Once a
neighbourhood plan has been independently examined, and a decision statement is
issued by the local planning authority outlining their intention to hold a
neighbourhood plan referendum, it must be considered and can be given significant
weight when determining a planning application, in so far as the plan is material to
the application.

7. Should the Neighbourhood Plan proceed to local referendum and achieve more than
half of votes cast in favour, then the Neighbourhood Plan will form part of the
Development Plan and be given full weight in the determination of planning
applications and decisions on planning appeals in the plan area unless the City
Council subsequently decide the Neighbourhood Plan should not be ‘made.” The
Housing and Planning Act 2016 requires any conflict with a neighbourhood plan to
be set out in the committee report, that will inform any planning committee decision,
where that report recommends granting planning permission for development that
conflicts with a made neighbourhood plan. Paragraph 12 of the Framework is very
clear that where a planning application conflicts with an up-to-date neighbourhood
plan that forms part of the Development Plan, permission should not usually be
granted.

8. | have been appointed by the City Council with the consent of the Parish Council, to
undertake the examination of the Neighbourhood Plan and prepare this report of the
independent examination. | am independent of the Parish Council and the City
Council. I do not have any interest in any land that may be affected by the
Neighbourhood Plan.

9. | am a Member of the Royal Town Planning Institute; a Member of the Institute of
Economic Development; and a Member of the Institute of Historic Building
Conservation. As a Chartered Town Planner, | have held national positions and have
extensive experience at local planning authority Director or Head of Planning Service
level. | have been a panel member of the Neighbourhood Planning Independent
Examiner Referral Service (NPIERS) since its inception, and have undertaken the
independent examination of neighbourhood plans in every region of England,
prepared in the full range of types of urban and rural communities.

10.As independent examiner, | am required to produce this report and must recommend
either:
e that the Neighbourhood Plan is submitted to a referendum, or
¢ that modifications are made and that the modified Neighbourhood Plan is
submitted to a referendum, or

Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 91

¢ that the Neighbourhood Plan does not proceed to a referendum on the basis it
does not meet the necessary legal requirements.

11.1 make my recommendation in this respect and in respect to any extension to the
referendum area, in the concluding section of this report. It is a requirement that my
report must give reasons for each of its recommendations and contain a summary of
its main findings.

12.Paragraph 9 of Schedule 4B to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides
that the general rule is that the examination of a neighbourhood plan is to take the
form of the consideration of written representations. The Planning Practice Guidance
(the Guidance) states “it is expected that the examination of a draft Neighbourhood
Plan will not include a public hearing.”

13.The examiner can call a hearing for the purpose of receiving oral representations
about a particular issue in any case where the examiner considers that the
consideration of oral representations is necessary to ensure adequate examination
of the issue, or a person has a fair chance to put a case. This requires an exercise of
judgement on my part. All parties have had the opportunity to state their case and no
party has indicated that they have been disadvantaged by a written procedure.
Regulation 16 responses clearly set out any representations relevant to my
consideration whether the Neighbourhood Plan meets the Basic Conditions and
other requirements. Those representations; the responses of the District and Parish
Councils to my requests for clarification of matters; and the level of detail contained
within the submitted Neighbourhood Plan and supporting documents have provided
me with the necessary information required for me to conclude the Independent
Examination. As | did not consider a hearing necessary, | proceeded based on
examination of the submission and supporting documents; the written
representations and comments; and an unaccompanied visit to the Neighbourhood
Area.

14.This report should be read as a whole, and has been produced in an accessible
format.

Basic Conditions and other Statutory Requirements

15.An independent examiner must consider whether a neighbourhood plan meets the
“Basic Conditions.” A neighbourhood plan meets the Basic Conditions if:
¢ having regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by
the Secretary of State, it is appropriate to make the plan;

Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 92

¢ the making of the neighbourhood plan contributes to the achievement of
sustainable development;

e the making of the neighbourhood plan is in general conformity with the
strategic policies contained in the development plan for the area of the
authority (or any part of that area);

e the making of the neighbourhood plan does not breach, and is otherwise
compatible with, EU obligations; and

¢ the making of the neighbourhood development plan does not breach the
requirements of Chapter 8 of Part 6 of the Conservation of Habitats and
Species Regulations 2017.

16. With respect to the penultimate Basic Condition the European Withdrawal Act 2018
(EUWA) incorporates EU environmental law (directives and regulations) into UK law
and provides for a continuation of primary and subordinate legislation, and other
enactments in domestic law. An independent examiner must also consider whether a
neighbourhood plan is compatible with the Convention Rights, which has the same
meaning as in the Human Rights Act 1998. All these matters are considered in the
later sections of this report titled ‘The Neighbourhood Plan taken as a whole’ and
‘The Neighbourhood Plan Policies.” Where | am required to consider the whole
Neighbourhood Plan, | have borne it all in mind.

17.1n addition to the Basic Conditions and Convention Rights, | am also required to
consider whether the Neighbourhood Plan complies with the provisions made by or
under sections 38A and 38B of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (in
sections 38A and 38B themselves; in Schedule 4B to the 1990 Act (introduced by
section 38A (3)); and in the 2012 Regulations (made under sections 38A (7) and 38B
(4)). | am satisfied the Neighbourhood Plan has been prepared in accordance with
the requirements of those sections, in respect to the Neighbourhood Planning
(General) Regulations 2012 as amended (the Regulations) which are made pursuant
to the powers given in those sections.

18. The Neighbourhood Plan relates to the area that was designated by the City Council
on 27 October 2015. A map of the Neighbourhood Area is included as Map 1 of the
Submission Version Plan. The Neighbourhood Plan does not relate to more than one
neighbourhood area, and no other neighbourhood development plan has been made
for the neighbourhood area. All requirements relating to the plan area have been
met.

19. | am also required to check whether the Neighbourhood Plan sets out policies for
the development and use of land in the whole or part of a designated neighbourhood
area; and the Neighbourhood Plan does not include provision about excluded
development (principally minerals, waste disposal, development automatically
requiring Environmental Impact Assessment, and nationally significant infrastructure

6
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 93

projects). | can confirm that | am satisfied that each of these requirements has been
met.

20.A neighbourhood plan must also meet the requirement to specify the period to which
it has effect. The front cover of the submission version Neighbourhood Plan states
the plan period is 2024 — 2031. Paragraph 1.2 of the Neighbourhood Plan confirms
the plan period runs until 2031.

21.The role of an independent examiner of a neighbourhood plan is defined. | am not
examining the tests of soundness provided for in respect of examination of Local
Plans. It is not within my role to examine or produce an alternative plan, or a
potentially more sustainable plan, except where this arises because of my
recommended modifications so that the Neighbourhood Plan meets the Basic
Conditions and other requirements that | have identified. | have been appointed to
examine whether the submitted Neighbourhood Plan meets the Basic Conditions
and Convention Rights, and the other statutory requirements.

22.A neighbourhood plan can be narrow or broad in scope. There is no requirement for
a neighbourhood plan to be holistic, or to include policies dealing with all land uses
or development types, and there is no requirement for a neighbourhood plan to be
formulated as, or perform the role of, a comprehensive local plan. The nature of
neighbourhood plans varies according to local requirements.

23.Neighbourhood plans are developed by local people in the localities they understand
and as a result each plan will have its own character. It is not within my role to re-
interpret, restructure, or re-write a plan to conform to a standard approach or
terminology. Indeed, it is important that neighbourhood plans reflect thinking and
aspiration within the local community. They should be a local product and have
meaning and significance to people living and working in the area.

24 .1 have only recommended modifications to the Neighbourhood Plan (presented in
bold type) where | consider they need to be made so that the plan meets the Basic
Conditions and the other requirements | have identified. | refer to the matter of minor
corrections and other adjustments of general text in the Annex to my report.

Documents

25.1 have considered each of the following documents in so far as they have assisted
me in determining whether the Neighbourhood Plan meets the Basic Conditions and
other requirements:

Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 94

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan 2024-2031 Submission Draft
including Appendices 1 to 4 December 2024

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan 2024-2031 Basic Conditions
Statement December 2024 [In this report referred to as the Basic Conditions
Statement]

Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan 2024-2031Consultation
Statement January 2025 [In this report referred to as the Consultation Statement]
Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood plan (Submission Version December 2024)
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) Screening Report
Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Plan (Submission Version December 2024)
Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) Screening Report

Information available on the Halton-with-Aughton Parish Council website including
the Halton Conservation Area Appraisal 2009

Information available on the City Council website including Jacobs Flood Risk
Management Study, Halton Initial Assessment, February 2020; Landscape
Character Assessment at Area of Separation between Lancaster and Halton, May
2023; Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Development Plan Local Green Space
Assessment Report December 2024; Parishes of Halton with Aughton and Caton,
Quernmore and Skerton Housing Needs Survey for the Lune Valley Community
Land Trust November 2019

Representations received during the Regulation 16 publicity period and the
comments of the Parish Council on those representations dated 7 July 2025
Correspondence between the Independent Examiner and the City Council and the
Parish Council including: the initial letter of the Independent Examiner dated 23 June
2025; the letter of the Independent Examiner seeking clarification of a matter dated
11 July 2025 and the joint response of the City and Parish Councils dated 16 July
2025

National Planning Policy Framework (2023) [In this report referred to as the
Framework]

Lancaster City Local Plan Strategy 2008-2029 (adopted 17 February 2015) and
Lancaster City Local Plan Allocations 2008-2029 (adopted 16 July 2019)
Documents relating to the emerging Local Plan 2043

Permitted development rights for householders’ technical guidance MHCLG (10
September 2019) [In this report referred to as the Permitted Development Guidance]
Planning Practice Guidance web-based resource MHCLG (first fully launched 6
March 2014 and subsequently updated) [In this report referred to as the Guidance
which should be taken to also include all Written Ministerial Statements]

Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended)

Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (Amendment and
Consequential Provisions) (England) Order 2014

Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (Amendment and
Consequential Provisions) (England) Order 2015

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended)

Equality Act 2010

Localism Act 2011

Housing and Planning Act 2016

Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 95

e European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018
Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017 and Commencement Regulations 19 July 2017,
22 September 2017, and 15 January 2019

¢ Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended) [In this report
referred to as the Regulations. References to Regulation 14, Regulation 16 etc in
this report refer to these Regulations]

¢ Neighbourhood Planning (General) (Amendment) Regulations 2015
Neighbourhood Planning (General) incorporating Development Control Procedure
(Amendment) Regulations 2016
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017
Conservation of Habitats and Species and Planning (Various Amendments)
(England and Wales) Regulations 2018

Consultation

26. The submitted Neighbourhood Plan is accompanied by a Consultation Statement
which outlines the process undertaken in the preparation of the plan. In addition to
detailing who was consulted and by what methods. A summary of comments
received from local community members, and other consultees, and how these have
been addressed in the submission plan are presented in an accompanying
document. | highlight here several key stages of consultation undertaken to illustrate
the approach adopted.

27.Following a decision in late 2017 of the Parish Council to start work on preparation of
a Neighbourhood Plan a Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group was established. A
Housing Needs Survey that also included areas beyond the parish was undertaken
in May and June 2019. A first draft plan was published for informal consultation from
5 October 2019 to 16 November 2019. Publicity included publication of the plan on
the Parish Council website; postings on social media; coverage in ‘The Prattle’ a
local newsletter delivered to all households bi-monthly; and two public drop-in events
at ‘The Centre.” Hard copy plan documents were made available at three locations
and were available on request from the Clerk to the Parish Council. Comments
received were made available for public inspection and informed the plan
preparation process.

28.1t was recognised that circumstances had changed since the previous consultation
during the national pandemic with the adoption of Part One and Part Two Local Plan
documents and new residents moving into the area, an updated draft plan was
consulted on from 8 April 2024 to 5 May 2024 through publication online, availability
of hard copy documents and public drop-in sessions. Landowners of sites identified

Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 96

as potential Local Green Spaces were contacted in writing.

29.In accordance with Regulation 14 the Parish Council consulted on the pre-

submission version of the draft Neighbourhood Plan for a period of eight weeks
between 15 July 2024 and 8 September 2024. A copy of the Pre-Consultation Draft
Plan and supporting documentation was published, and could be downloaded from,
the Parish Council website, and was made available in hard copy format. The
consultation was also publicised through ‘The Prattle’ distributed to households
throughout the parish including to each household, and on social media. Drop-in
exhibitions were held on three dates. Consultee bodies were notified directly. The 29
responses to the consultation are presented in Appendix 10 of the Consultation
Statement and Appendix 11 sets out comments of the Steering Group in response
and any action taken, including modification and correction of the emerging
Neighbourhood Plan. Suggestions have, where considered appropriate, been
reflected in changes to the Plan that were approved on 11 December 2024 and
submitted by the Parish Council to the City Council.

30.Following submission of a plan proposal by a qualifying body, the local planning

31

authority will check it includes all items set out in Regulation 15, and then publicise
the plan in accordance with Regulation 16. The local planning authority then sends
the Independent Examiner all the documents set out in Regulation 17, which
includes a copy of any representations that have been made in accordance with
Regulation 16. The actions necessary under Regulation 16 and Regulation 17 are
entirely matters to be undertaken by, and under the control of, the local planning
authority. The Submission Version of the Neighbourhood Plan has been the subject
of a Regulation 16 period of publication. The City Council arranged a period of
publication between 10 March 2025 and 28 April 2025. The representations that
were duly made have been published on the City Council website.

. The City Council representation includes support for the objectives of the

Neighbourhood Plan and support for Policy HA-1; Policy HA-2; Policy HA-6; Policy
HA-9; Policy HA-10; and Policy HA-11. The City Council comment on Policy HA-3;
Policy HA-4; Policy HA-5; Policy HA-7; and Policy HA-8 and | refer to those
comments later in my report when considering those policies. The City Council
representation includes other general comments which | refer to in the Annex to my
report.

32.The Defence Infrastructure Organisation states on behalf of the Ministry of Defence

(MOD) “Located within the Neighbourhood Plan Area (NPA) is an existing military
establishment, known as Halton Training Camp. A plan of the Site is attached to
Appendix 1. The Site plays a role in terms of national defence and military capability, and
training. Importantly, there is an ongoing need to safeguard the facility for defence

10
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 97

purposes, and to support further development to meet operational requirements - in line
with paragraph 102(b) of the NPPF (December 2024). As such, we consider that
proposals associated with defence and military operations should be supported, where
they would enhance or sustain operational capabilities. It is also important to note that
non-military or non-defence related development within or in the areas around the Site
will not be supported, where it would adversely affect military operations or capability,
unless it can be demonstrated that there is no longer a defence or military need for the
Site. It is our position that this should be clearly outlined within the Neighbourhood Plan
in the form of a Policy, as set out at Appendix 2 of this representation. | consider this
matter in relation to Policy HA-8.

33. The representation of the Defence Infrastructure Organisation also includes reference to
community aspirations contained within paragraphs 10.23 and 10.24 of the
Neighbourhood Plan relating to the upgrading of a pedestrian route. | refer to this matter
later in my report when considering whether having regard to national policies and advice
contained in guidance issued by the Secretary of State, it is appropriate to make the
Neighbourhood Plan. The representation also refers to Policy HA-2.

34.United Utilities Water Limited has commented in respect of Policies HA-4 and HA-5.
Lancashire County Council’'s School Planning Team state “Although there is not a
direct reference to educational impacts within the report, we ask that it is recognised
that school place provision is a key element of delivering sustainable communities.”
The Coal Authority states “Our records indicate that within the Neighbourhood Plan area
there are recorded coal mining features present at surface and shallow depth including;
mine entries and probable coal workings. These features may pose a potential risk to
surface stability and public safety. It is noted that the Neighbourhood Plan does not
propose to allocate any new sites for development and on this basis, we have no specific
comments to make on this document.” Historic England also confirms no comment.
Representations on behalf of National Gas Transmission and National Grid Electricity
Transmission include general advice but do not include any comment in respect of the
policies of the Neighbourhood Plan.

35. A detailed representation on behalf of Applethwaite Homes Ltd concludes by stating
“Policy HA-5, as currently written, duplicates existing national policy in several areas,
while introducing additional ambiguities that undermine certainty for developers,
landowners, and the local authority. Given these critical weaknesses, it is our firm view
that Policy HA-5 cannot be retained. The Do-Something allocations should be deleted in
full. The retention of an ambiguous, unjustified, and ineffective flood mitigation strategy
would not only constrain the delivery of much-needed homes but also conflict with the
broader planning objectives of the Lancaster District.”

36.1 have been sent each of the Regulation 16 representations. In preparing this report |

have taken into consideration all the representations submitted, in so far as they are

11
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 98

relevant to my role, even though they may not be referred to in whole in my report.
Some representations, or parts of representations, are not relevant to my role which
is to decide whether the Neighbourhood Plan meets the Basic Conditions and other
requirements that | have identified. Where the representations suggest additional
policy matters that could be included in the Neighbourhood Plan that is only a matter
for my consideration where such additions are necessary for the Neighbourhood
Plan to meet the Basic Conditions or other requirements that | have identified.
Having regard to Bewley Homes Plc v Waverley City Council [2017] EWHC 1776
(Admin) Lang J, 18 July 2017, and Town and Country Planning Act Schedule 4B
paragraph 10(6), where representations raise concerns or state comments or
objections in relation to specific policies, | refer to these later in my report when
considering the policy in question where they are relevant to the reasons for my
recommendations.

37.1 provided the Parish Council with an opportunity to comment on the Regulation 16
representations of other parties. Whilst | placed no obligation on the Parish Council
to offer any comments, such an opportunity can prove helpful where representations
of other parties include matters that have not been raised earlier in the plan
preparation process. On 7 July 2025 the Parish Council commented on the
representations of other parties, in particular relating to the statement on behalf of
Applethwaite Homes that the Parish Council had failed to contact landowners at any
stage. The Parish Council state “As listed in the Consultation Statement (page 168),
letters were sent to the legally registered landowners who may wish to comment on
the flood zones identified in the Neighbourhood Plan. Obviously, if addresses were
out-of-date on the Land Registry, then those letters may have not arrived, but the
Parish Council certainly attempted to contact relevant landowners.” The Parish
Council also stated that whilst the Lead Local Flood Authority had commented “at
each stage” unfortunately they did not provide a Regulation 16 representation. The
Parish Council sent me a copy of the Regulation 14 representation of Lancashire
County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority dated 22 August 2024. | have taken
the comments of the Parish Council, including the enclosure, into consideration in
this Independent Examination but may not have referred to all those comments and
enclosed submission in my report

38. The Regulations state that where a qualifying body submits a plan proposal to the
local planning authority it must include amongst other items a consultation
statement. The Regulations state a consultation statement means a document
which:

a) contains details of the persons and bodies who were consulted about the
proposed neighbourhood development plan;

b) explains how they were consulted;

c) summarises the main issues and concerns raised by the persons consulted;

12
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 99

and
d) describes how these issues and concerns have been considered and, where
relevant, addressed in the proposed neighbourhood development plan.

39.The Consultation Statement includes information in respect of each of the
requirements set out in the Regulations. | am satisfied the requirements have
been met. In addition, sufficient regard has been paid to the advice regarding
plan preparation and engagement contained within the Guidance. It is evident the
Neighbourhood Plan Committee has taken great care to ensure stakeholders
have had full opportunity to influence the general nature, and specific policies, of
the Neighbourhood Plan.

The Neighbourhood Plan taken as a whole

40.This section of my report considers whether the Neighbourhood Plan, when

41

considered as a whole, meets EU obligations, habitats, and Human Rights
requirements; has regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance
issued by the Secretary of State; whether the plan contributes to the achievement of
sustainable development; and whether the plan is in general conformity with the
strategic policies contained in the Development Plan for the area. Each of the plan
policies is considered in turn in the section of my report that follows this. In
considering all these matters | have referred to the submission, background, and
supporting documents, and copies of the representations and other material
provided to me.

Consideration of Convention Rights; and whether the making of the
Neighbourhood Plan does not breach, and is otherwise compatible with, EU
obligations; and the making of the neighbourhood development plan does not
breach the requirements of Chapter 8 of Part 6 of the Conservation of Habitats
and Species Regulations 2017

. The Basic Conditions Statement states “The Submission Neighbourhood Plan is fully

compatible with the European Convention on Human Rights.” | have considered the
European Convention on Human Rights and in particular Article 6 (fair hearing);
Article 8 (privacy); Article 14 (discrimination); and Article 1 of the first Protocol
(property). The Human Rights Act 1998 which came into force in the UK in 2000 had
the effect of codifying the protections in the European Convention on Human Rights
into UK law. Development Plans by their nature will include policies that relate
differently to areas of land. Where the Neighbourhood Plan policies relate differently

13
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 100

to areas of land this has been explained in terms of land use and development
related issues. | have seen nothing in the submission version of the Neighbourhood
Plan that indicates any breach of the Convention. | am satisfied the Neighbourhood
Plan has been prepared in accordance with the obligations for Parish Councils under
the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) in the Equality Act 2010. From my own
examination the Neighbourhood Plan would appear to have neutral or positive
impacts on groups with protected characteristics as identified in the Equality Act
2010.

42.The objective of EU Directive 2001/42 (transposed into UK law through the
Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004) is “to
provide for a high level of protection of the environment and to contribute to the
integration of environmental considerations into the preparation and adoption of
plans and programmes with a view to promoting sustainable development, by
ensuring that, in accordance with this Directive, an environmental assessment is
carried out of certain plans and programmes which are likely to have significant
effects on the environment.” The Neighbourhood Plan falls within the definition of
‘plans and programmes’ (Defined in Article 2(a) of Directive 2001/42) as the Local
Planning Authority is obliged to ‘make’ the plan following a positive referendum result
(Judgement of the Court of Justice of the European Union (Fourth Chamber) 22
March 2012).

43.The Neighbourhood Planning (General) (Amendment) Regulations 2015 require the
Parish Council, as the Qualifying Body, to submit to the City Council either an
environmental report prepared in accordance with the Environmental Assessment of
Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004, or a statement of reasons why an
environmental report is not required.

44.The Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Plan (Submission Version December
2024) Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) Screening Report dated January
2025 sets out the Screening Outcome as follows “Initial internal screening of the
Neighbourhood Plan concludes that it is unlikely that the Neighbourhood Plan would
result in a significant environmental effect. The strong focus of the Neighbourhood
Plan on the protection of the environment, heritage assets, its National Landscape
focus and lack of allocations make it unlikely to result in significant effects. The
council is satisfied that the Plan is unlikely to result in significant effects.” The three
statutory bodies Historic England, Natural England and the Environment Agency
have confirmed this conclusion. | am satisfied the requirements regarding Strategic
Environmental Assessment have been met.

45. The Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Plan (Submission Version December
2024) Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) Screening Report dated January
2025 sets out a Screening Outcome as follows “The HRA Screening Report of the
Halton-with-Aughton Draft Neighbourhood Plan has considered the potential

14
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 101

implications for designated sites near the Neighbourhood Plan area boundary. The
Submission document places a strong emphasis on the protection of the area’s
natural environment. The inclusion of Policy HA-2 ‘Protecting and Enhancing Wildlife
and Geodiversity’ is a welcomed inclusion and will ensure, together with policies
within the Local Plan, that the Neighbourhood Plan would not have an adverse effect
on the integrity of the designated sites identified either alone, or in combination with
other plans or projects”. The Statutory Consultee Natural England has confirmed
agreement with this conclusion. | am satisfied that the Neighbourhood Plan meets
the requirements of the revised Basic Condition relating to Habitats Regulations.

46.There are other EU obligations that can be relevant to land use planning including
the Water Framework Directive, the Waste Framework Directive, and the Air Quality
Directive but none appear to be relevant in respect of this independent examination.

47.1 conclude that the Neighbourhood Plan is compatible with the Convention Rights,
and does not breach, and is otherwise compatible with, EU obligations. | also
conclude the making of the Neighbourhood Plan does not breach the requirements
of Chapter 8 of Part 6 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2017.

48.The Guidance states it is the responsibility of the local planning authority to ensure
that all the regulations appropriate to the nature and scope of a draft neighbourhood
plan submitted to it have been met for the draft neighbourhood plan to progress. The
City Council as Local Planning Authority must decide whether the draft
neighbourhood plan is compatible with EU environmental law obligations (directives
and regulations) incorporated into UK domestic law by the European Withdrawal Act
2018 (EUWA):
e when it takes the decision on whether the neighbourhood plan should proceed
to referendum; and
e when it takes the decision on whether to make the neighbourhood plan (which
brings it into legal force).

Consideration whether having regard to national policies and advice contained
in guidance issued by the Secretary of State, it is appropriate to make the
Neighbourhood Plan; and whether the making of the Neighbourhood Plan
contributes to the achievement of sustainable development

49.1 refer initially to the basic condition “having regard to national policies and advice
contained in guidance issued by the Secretary of State, it is appropriate to make the
plan.” The requirement to determine whether it is appropriate that the plan is made
includes the words “having regard to.” This is not the same as compliance, nor is it

15
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 102

the same as part of the tests of soundness provided for in respect of examinations of
Local Plans which requires plans to be “consistent with national policy.”

50.Lord Goldsmith has provided guidance (Column GC272 of Lords Hansard, 6
February 2006) that ‘have regard to’ means “such matters should be considered.”
The Guidance assists in understanding “appropriate.” In answer to the question
“What does having regard to national policy mean?” the Guidance states a
neighbourhood plan “must not constrain the delivery of important national policy
objectives.”

51.As the Neighbourhood Plan was submitted to the City Council before 12 March
2025, in accordance with paragraph 239 of the National Planning Policy Framework
December 2024, | must undertake this Independent Examination in the context of the
National Planning Policy Framework published on 20 December 2023. References to
the Framework in my report refer to that version. | have considered the Planning
Practice Guidance in that context.

52.Section 3 of the Basic Conditions Statement demonstrates how the Neighbourhood
Plan and its policies have regard for the Framework. | am satisfied the Basic
Conditions Statement demonstrates how the Neighbourhood Plan has regard to
relevant identified components of the Framework.

53. The Neighbourhood Plan includes in paragraph 3.2 a positive vision for Halton-with-
Aughton Parish that has social, and environmental dimensions, and indirectly an
economic dimension. Paragraph 3.3 identifies eight objectives relating to: integration
of new development; rural character; protection and enhancement of sites of
biological importance; ensuring new housing meets local needs; protection and
enhancement of community facilities; promotion of sustainable transport; reduction of
surface water flooding at key risk areas; and to protect green spaces. The vision and
objectives provide a framework for the policies that have been developed. It is
intended the policies of the Neighbourhood Plan will assist the delivery of the
objectives.

54.Section 10 of the Neighbourhood Plan sets out community aspirations relating to
traffic calming, parking, and transport; community facilities; green spaces and wildlife
corridors; footpaths and rural land management. Paragraph 1.15 of the
Neighbourhood Plan explains these are important local concerns which have been
raised in public consultations which cannot be addressed through planning policies
in the NDP.

55.The representation of the Defence Infrastructure Organisation on behalf of the
Ministry of Defence (MOD) includes “As outlined above, there is a need to safeguard
Halton Training Camp, given its role for national defence and military capability, and

training. On this point, the Neighbourhood Plan notes the presence of a footpath
16
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 103

along the northern boundary of the Army Camp, which runs from the camp entrance
to the M6 Bridge. It is the intention of the Neighbourhood Plan to safeguard the route
by way of a conversion to a public right of way, as it provides a valuable pedestrian
route between Lancaster and Halton (para 10.23); and also allow the path to be
multi-use to allow horse riding and cycling (para 10.24). The Neighbourhood Plan
correctly draws reference to the Instrument of Dedicated (dated 8th of March 1988)1
which was agreed with the Council and requires the footpath to remain for pedestrian
access only, as a grassy rural path. As such we consider the proposed upgrade and
intensification of use (including for horse riding and cycling) would pose a conflict
with military activity on the camp and an increased security risk. As such, the MOD
does not agree to this proposed amendment, as required by para 10.21 of the
Neighbourhood Plan. As such, we advise that this recommendation is removed from
the proposed submission draft, as it would represent a breach of the conditions set
and agreed.”

56.The plan preparation process is a convenient mechanism to surface and test local
opinion on ways to improve a neighbourhood other than through the development
and use of land. It is important that those non-development and land use matters,
raised as important by the Parish Council and the local community or other
stakeholders, should not be lost sight of. The acknowledgement in the
Neighbourhood Plan of issues raised in consultation processes that do not have a
direct relevance to land use planning policy represents good practice. The Guidance
states, “Wider community aspirations than those relating to the development and use
of land, if set out as part of the plan, would need to be clearly identifiable (for
example, set out in a companion document or annex), and it should be made clear in
the document that they will not form part of the statutory development plan.” The
community aspirations are presented in a dedicated section of the Neighbourhood
Plan. | am satisfied the community aspirations are adequately distinguished from the
policies of the Neighbourhood Plan however | have recommended a modification so
that their status is made clearer. | confirm the community aspirations have not been
subject to Independent Examination.

Recommended modification 1:

¢ transfer Part 10 Community Aspirations to become an Annex to the
Neighbourhood Plan

e delete paragraph 10.2 and continue paragraph 10.3 with “The
community aspirations set out below are not planning policies and do
not form part of the statutory Neighbourhood Development Plan”

o continue the final bullet point of paragraph 10.23 with “The Defence
Infrastructure Organisation on behalf of the Ministry of Defence (MOD)
has stated ‘we consider the proposed upgrade and intensification of use
(including for horse riding and cycling) would pose a conflict with

17
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 104

military activity on the camp and an increased security risk.” As such
any change to the current situation regarding this path is unlikely.”

57.Apart from those elements of policy of the Neighbourhood Plan in respect of which |

have recommended a modification to the plan | am satisfied that the need to ‘have
regard to’ national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by the Secretary
of State has, in plan preparation, been exercised in substance in such a way that it
has influenced the final decision on the form and nature of the plan. This
consideration supports the conclusion that except for those matters in respect of
which | have recommended a modification of the plan, the Neighbourhood Plan
meets the basic condition “having regard to national policies and advice contained in
guidance issued by the Secretary of State, it is appropriate to make the plan.”

58. At the heart of the Framework is a presumption in favour of sustainable development

which should be applied in both plan-making and decision-taking. The Guidance
states, “This basic condition is consistent with the planning principle that all plan-
making and decision-taking should help to achieve sustainable development. A
qualifying body must demonstrate how its plan or order will contribute to
improvements in environmental, economic, and social conditions or that
consideration has been given to how any potential adverse effects arising from the
proposals may be prevented, reduced, or offset (referred to as mitigation measures).
To demonstrate that a draft neighbourhood plan or order contributes to sustainable
development, sufficient and proportionate evidence should be presented on how the
draft neighbourhood plan or order guides development to sustainable solutions.”

59. The Basic Conditions require my consideration whether the making of the

Neighbourhood Plan contributes to the achievement of sustainable development.
There is no requirement as to the nature or extent of that contribution, nor a need to
assess whether the plan makes a particular contribution. The requirement is that
there should be a contribution. There is also no requirement to consider whether
some alternative plan would make a greater contribution to sustainable development.

60. The Framework states there are three dimensions to sustainable development:

61.

economic, social, and environmental. Table 1 of the Basic Conditions Statement
demonstrates ways in which identified policies of the Neighbourhood Plan support
the economic, social, and environmental aspects of sustainable development. The
statement does not highlight any negative impacts of the Neighbourhood Plan or its
policies.

| conclude that the Neighbourhood Plan, by guiding development to sustainable
solutions, contributes to the achievement of sustainable development. Broadly, the
Neighbourhood Plan seeks to contribute to sustainable development by ensuring

18
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 105

schemes are of an appropriate nature and quality to contribute to economic and
social well-being; whilst also protecting important environmental features of the
Neighbourhood Area. | consider the Neighbourhood Plan as recommended to be
modified seeks to:

e Conserve and enhance local landscape character;

e Protect and enhance wildlife and geodiversity;

¢ Maintain an identified area of separation between Lancaster and Halton;

e Designate five Local Green Spaces;

e Address flood risk;

e Protect historic character;

¢ Meet local housing needs;

e Establish conditional support for development within identified urban
development areas;

e Establish design principles for sustainable development;

e Promote active travel; and

¢ Avoid unnecessary loss of identified community facilities;

62.Subject to my recommended modifications of the Submission Plan including those
relating to specific policies, as set out later in this report, | find it is appropriate that
the Neighbourhood Plan should be made having regard to national policies and
advice contained in guidance issued by the Secretary of State. | have also found the
Neighbourhood Plan contributes to the achievement of sustainable development.

Consideration whether the making of the Neighbourhood Plan is in general
conformity with the strategic policies contained in the development plan for
the area of the authority (or any part of that area)

63.Paragraph 13 of the Framework states neighbourhood plans should “support the
delivery of strategic policies contained in local plans or spatial development
strategies; and should shape and direct development that is outside of these
strategic policies.” Paragraph 21 of the Framework states “plans should make
explicit which policies are strategic policies.” Footnote 16 of the Framework states
“‘Neighbourhood plans must be in general conformity with the strategic policies
contained in any development plan that covers their area.” Paragraph 29 of the
Framework states “Neighbourhood plans should not promote less development than
set out in the strategic policies for the area, or undermine its strategic policies.”

64.In this independent examination, | am required to consider whether the making of the
Neighbourhood Plan is in general conformity with the strategic policies contained in
the development plan for the area of the authority (or any part of that area). The City

19
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 106

Council has confirmed the Development Plan applying in the Halton-with-Aughton
Neighbourhood Area comprises the Local Plan for Lancaster District, Part One:
Strategic Policies & Land Allocations (climate emergency review) Development Plan
Document (Adopted 22 January 2025) and Part Two: Development Management
(climate emergency review) Development Plan Document (adopted 22 January
2025).

65. The Guidance states, “A local planning authority should set out clearly its strategic
policies in accordance with paragraph 21 of the National Planning Policy Framework
and provide details of these to a qualifying body and to the independent examiner.”
The City Council has confirmed for the purposes of neighbourhood planning the
strategic policies of the development plan are those within the Part One document.

66. The City Council has confirmed a review of the Local Plan has commenced but is not
yet at any formal stage. It is currently anticipated the Lancaster District Local Plan for
2028/29 — 2042/43 will be finalised and adopted in June 2028.

67.The Neighbourhood Plan can proceed ahead of preparation of the new Local Plan.

The Guidance states: “Neighbourhood plans, when brought into force, become part
of the development plan for the neighbourhood area. They can be developed before
or at the same time as the local planning authority is producing its Local Plan. A draft
neighbourhood plan or Order must be in general conformity with the strategic
policies of the development plan in force if it is to meet the basic condition. Although
a draft Neighbourhood Plan or Order is not tested against the policies in an emerging
Local Plan the reasoning and evidence informing the Local Plan process is likely to
be relevant to the consideration of the basic conditions against which a
neighbourhood plan is tested. For example, up-to-date housing needs evidence is
relevant to the question of whether a housing supply policy in a neighbourhood plan
or Order contributes to the achievement of sustainable development. Where a
neighbourhood plan is brought forward before an up-to-date Local Plan is in place
the qualifying body and the local planning authority should discuss and aim to agree
the relationship between policies in:

e the emerging neighbourhood plan;

e the emerging Local Plan;

e the adopted development plan;
with appropriate regard to national policy and guidance. The local planning authority
should take a proactive and positive approach, working collaboratively with a
qualifying body particularly sharing evidence and seeking to resolve any issues to
ensure the draft neighbourhood plan has the greatest chance of success at
independent examination. The local planning authority should work with the
qualifying body to produce complementary neighbourhood and Local Plans. It is
important to minimise any conflicts between policies in the neighbourhood plan and

20
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 107

those in the emerging Local Plan, including housing supply policies. This is because
section 38(5) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the
conflict must be resolved by the decision maker favouring the policy which is
contained in the last document to become part of the development plan.
Neighbourhood plans should consider providing indicative delivery timetables and
allocating reserve sites to ensure that emerging evidence of housing need is
addressed. This can help minimise potential conflicts and ensure that policies in the
neighbourhood plan are not overridden by a new Local Plan.”

68.1 am mindful of the fact that should there ultimately be any conflict between the
Neighbourhood Plan, and the new Local Plan when it is adopted; the matter will be
resolved in favour of the plan most recently becoming part of the Development Plan;
however, the Guidance is clear in that potential conflicts should be minimised. To
satisfy the basic conditions, the Neighbourhood Plan must be in general conformity
with the strategic policies of the Development Plan. The emerging new Local Plan is
not part of the Development Plan and this requirement does not apply in respect of
that. Emerging planning policy is subject to change as plan preparation work
proceeds. The Guidance states “Neighbourhood plans, when brought into force,
become part of the development plan for the neighbourhood areas. They can be
developed before or at the same time as the local planning authority is producing its
Local Plan.”

69.In considering a now-repealed provision that “a local plan shall be in general
conformity with the structure plan” the Court of Appeal stated “the adjective ‘general’
is there to introduce a degree of flexibility” (Persimmon Homes v. Stevenage BC the
Court of Appeal [2006] 1 P &CR 31). The use of ‘general’ allows for the possibility of
conflict. Obviously, there must at least be broad consistency, but this gives
considerable room for manoeuvre. Flexibility is however not unlimited. The test for
neighbourhood plans refers to the strategic policies of the development plan, rather
than the whole development plan.

70.The Guidance states, “When considering whether a policy is in general conformity a
qualifying body, independent examiner, or local planning authority, should consider
the following:

e whether the neighbourhood plan policy or development proposal supports and
upholds the general principle that the strategic policy is concerned with;

o the degree, if any, of conflict between the draft neighbourhood plan policy or
development proposal and the strategic policy;

e whether the draft neighbourhood plan policy or development proposal
provides an additional level of detail and/or a distinct local approach to that
set out in the strategic policy without undermining that policy;

21
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



71.

Page 108

¢ the rationale for the approach taken in the draft neighbourhood plan or Order
and the evidence to justify that approach.”
My approach to the examination of the Neighbourhood Plan Policies has been in
accordance with this guidance.

Consideration as to whether the making of the Neighbourhood Plan is in general
conformity with the strategic policies contained in the Development Plan for the area
of the authority (or any part of that area) has been addressed through examination of
the plan as a whole and each of the plan policies below. | have taken into
consideration Table 5 of the Basic Conditions Statement that demonstrates how the
policies of the Neighbourhood Plan are in general conformity with relevant strategic
policies. Subject to the modifications | have recommended, | have concluded the
Neighbourhood Plan is in general conformity with the strategic policies contained in
the Development Plan.

The Neighbourhood Plan Policies

72.The Neighbourhood Plan includes 11 policies as follows:

Policy HA-1 Conserving and Enhancing Local Landscape Character
Policy HA-2 Protecting and Enhancing Wildlife and Geodiversity
Policy HA-3 Area of Separation

Policy HA-4 Local Green Spaces

Policy HA-5 Flooding

Policy HA-6 Protecting Historic Character

Policy HA-7 Meeting Local Housing Needs

Policy HA-8 Halton Urban Development

Policy HA-9 High Quality and Sustainable Design

Policy HA-10 Active Travel

Policy HA-11 Community Facilities

73.Paragraph 29 of the Framework states “Neighbourhood planning gives communities

the power to develop a shared vision for their area. Neighbourhood plans can shape,
direct, and help to deliver sustainable development, by influencing local planning
decisions as part of the statutory development plan. Neighbourhood plans should not
promote less development than set out in the strategic policies for the area, or
undermine those strategic policies.” Footnote 16 of the Framework states
“Neighbourhood plans must be in general conformity with the strategic policies
contained in any development plan that covers their area.”

22
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 109

74.Paragraph 15 of the Framework states “The planning system should be genuinely
plan-led. Succinct and up-to-date plans should provide a positive vision for the future
of each area; a framework for addressing housing needs and other economic, social,
and environmental priorities; and a platform for local people to shape their
surroundings.”

75.Paragraph 16 of the Framework states “Plans should: a) be prepared with the
objective of contributing to the achievement of sustainable development; b) be
prepared positively, in a way that is aspirational but deliverable; c) be shaped by
early, proportionate and effective engagement between plan-makers and
communities, local organisations, businesses, infrastructure providers and operators
and statutory consultees; d) contain policies that are clearly written and
unambiguous, so it is evident how a decision maker should react to development
proposals; €) be accessible through the use of digital tools to assist public
involvement and policy presentation; and f) serve a clear purpose, avoiding
unnecessary duplication of policies that apply to a particular area (including policies
in this Framework, where relevant).”

76.The Guidance states “A policy in a neighbourhood plan should be clear and
unambiguous. It should be drafted with sufficient clarity that a decision maker can
apply it consistently and with confidence when determining planning applications. It
should be concise, precise, and supported by appropriate evidence. It should be
distinct to reflect and respond to the unique characteristics and planning context of
the specific neighbourhood area for which it has been prepared.”

77.“While there are prescribed documents that must be submitted with a neighbourhood
plan ... there is no ‘tick box’ list of evidence required for neighbourhood planning.
Proportionate, robust evidence should support the choices made and the approach
taken. The evidence should be drawn upon to explain succinctly the intention and
rationale of the policies in the draft neighbourhood plan.”

78.A neighbourhood plan should contain policies for the development and use of land.
“This is because, if successful at examination and referendum (or where the
neighbourhood plan is updated by way of making a material modification to the plan
and completes the relevant process), the neighbourhood plan becomes part of the
statutory development plan. Applications for planning permission must be
determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations
indicate otherwise (See section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004).”

23
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



79.

80.

81

82.

83.

84.

Page 110

“Neighbourhood plans are not obliged to contain policies addressing all types of
development. However, where they do contain policies relevant to housing supply,
these policies should take account of latest and up-to-date evidence of housing
need.” “A neighbourhood plan can allocate sites for development, including housing.
A qualifying body should carry out an appraisal of options and an assessment of
individual sites against clearly identified criteria. Guidance on assessing sites and on
viability is available.”

If to any extent, a policy set out in the Neighbourhood Plan conflicts with any other
statement or information in the plan, the conflict must be resolved in favour of the
policy. Given that policies have this status, and if the Neighbourhood Plan is ‘made’
they will be utilised in the determination of planning applications and appeals, | have
examined each policy individually in turn. | have considered any inter-relationships
between policies where these are relevant to my remit.

Policy HA-1 Conserving and Enhancing Local Landscape Character

. This policy seeks to establish principles for development to conserve and enhance

landscape character and includes additional specific principles to apply in two
identified landscape areas.

Part 3c of the policy unnecessarily duplicates the more detailed part 3e of the policy.
| have recommended a modification in this respect so that the policy “is clearly
written and unambiguous, so it is evident how a decision maker should react to
development proposals” as required by paragraph 16d) of the Framework.

The policy is in general conformity with the strategic policies of the Development
Plan. The policy serves a clear purpose by providing an additional level of detail or
distinct local approach to that set out in the strategic policies.

The policy seeks to shape and direct sustainable development to ensure that local
people get the right type of development for their community. Having regard to the
Framework and Guidance the policy as recommended to be modified, is appropriate
to be included in a ‘made’ neighbourhood plan. Subject to the recommended
modification this policy meets the Basic Conditions.

Recommended modification 2:
In Policy HA-1 delete part 3c

24
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 111

Policy HA-2 Protecting and Enhancing Wildlife and Geodiversity

85.This policy seeks ensure development proposals protect and enhance biodiversity
and/or geodiversity and minimise impacts.

86. The representation of the Defence Infrastructure Organisation includes “Criterion (5) of
Draft Policy HA-2 states that any offsite provision should prioritise biodiversity net gain
within the Parish through habitat enhancements outlined. As the Council will be aware,
the requirement for ‘biodiversity net gain’ applies to major and minor development, as
defined in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), with a list of exemptions set
out in paragraph 17 of Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the
Biodiversity Gain Requirements (Exemptions) Regulations 2024. Exemptions include
proposals delivered under Crown Permitted Development and/or Urgent Crown
Development. Whilst the MOD supports the ambition of Criteria (5); as a public body,
ecological enhancements required to support defence operations (where planning
permission is required) would be sought to be delivered on the MOD estate in the first
instance, and any off-site BNG will be delivered within the county of Lancashire or the
relevant National Character Area (Morecambe Coast and Lune Estuary) in line with BNG
guidance.” | have recommended a modification to the policy to accommodate this
point. Part 3 of the policy requires modification so that it has sufficient regard for
paragraph 186¢ of the Framework. | have recommended a modification in these
respects so that the policy has sufficient regard for national policy and “is clearly
written and unambiguous, so it is evident how a decision maker should react to
development proposals” as required by paragraph 16d) of the Framework.

87.The policy is in general conformity with the strategic policies of the Development
Plan. The policy serves a clear purpose by providing an additional level of detail or
distinct local approach to that set out in the strategic policies.

88.The policy seeks to shape and direct sustainable development to ensure that local
people get the right type of development for their community. Having regard to the
Framework and Guidance the policy as recommended to be modified, is appropriate
to be included in a ‘made’ neighbourhood plan. Subject to the recommended
modification this policy meets the Basic Conditions.

Recommended modification 3:
In Policy HA-2
¢ in part 3 after “required.” insert “Development that causes harm to, or
loss of, irreplaceable habitat including ancient woodland and veteran
trees will be refused.”
e in part 3 replace “loss of trees” with “loss of other trees”

25
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 112

¢ in part 5 replace “should prioritise” with “that prioritises”, and after
“enhancements” insert “will be supported”

Policy HA-3 Area of Separation

89.This policy seeks to preserve the visual and physical separation between the City of

Lancaster and Halton village and highlights heritage and landscape character
features upon which proposals should not have a significant adverse impact.

90. The City Council state it is unnecessary to duplicate Policy EN6: Areas of Separation

91

of the Local Plan but if the policy is to remain, a map showing the extent of the area
covered by the policy is required. The policy is supported by a Landscape Character
Assessment report that sufficiently justifies the purpose of Policy HA-3 providing
additional detail to Strategic Policy EN6 with respect to the woodland and open
parkland character of the landscape around named heritage assets. | have
recommended a modification to include a map of the area to which Policy HA-3
applies. | have also recommended a modification to clarify the second sentence of
the policy is referring to development proposals. | have recommended these
modifications so that the policy has sufficient regard for national policy and “is clearly
written and unambiguous, so it is evident how a decision maker should react to
development proposals” as required by paragraph 16d) of the Framework.

.The policy is in general conformity with the strategic policies of the Development

Plan. The policy serves a clear purpose by providing an additional level of detail or
distinct local approach to that set out in the strategic policies.

92.The policy seeks to shape and direct sustainable development to ensure that local

people get the right type of development for their community. Having regard to the
Framework and Guidance, the policy as recommended to be modified, is appropriate
to be included in a ‘made’ neighbourhood plan. Subject to the recommended
modification this policy meets the Basic Conditions.

Recommended modification 4:
In Policy HA-3 insert “Development” as the first word of the second sentence.

Include in the Neighbourhood Plan a map identifying the area to which Policy
HA-3 applies.

26
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 113

Policy HA-4 Local Green Spaces

93. This policy seeks to designate five Local Green Spaces, and establish an approach
to development proposals within those areas.

94.The City Council raises concerns about the duplication of protection proposed for
some of the sites and some of the justification. The City Council recommend that
Local Green Spaces A, C, D and E are removed for the following reasons:

LGS A - The site is already designated under Local Plan Policy SC3. While historical
significance has been mentioned, it is not clear how this site is demonstrably special
in comparison to other play areas across the district to warrant a Local Green Space
designation. Whilst historical significance has been added to the conclusion as to
why the site is considered suitable, the overall assessment suggests the reason for
designation relates more to concerns around land ownership.

LGS C - The site is already designated under Local Plan policy SC3. The Council is
not clear why this site warrants the additional designation as a Local Green Space.

LGS D - Whilst the heritage value of this site is recognised, the NPPF is clear that a
Local Green Space needs to be demonstrably special to the community it serves and
hold a particular local significance. The location of the boundary of the site is not a
clearly defined edge, and why this boundary has been chosen is not clear. Whilst not
disputing the value of this field the Council is not clear why this particular area
warrants the designation of a Local Green Space for historic significance in
comparison to other similar areas adjacent to listed buildings.

LGS E - The site has the character of a green corridor on the edge of the settlement
with access amongst most of the site’s length limited to the path. The site boundaries
are unclear and it is indicative of an extensive tract of land. The Council is not clear
why this particular area is demonstrably special and warrants the designation of a
Local Green Space.

95. United Utilities state the Local Green Space designations include underground water
and wastewater infrastructure where investment may be necessary and request
criterion 2 is extended to include support for water and wastewater infrastructure
investment in local green spaces, where the investment is needed to respond to
future growth and environmental needs.

96. Designation of Local Green Space can only follow identification of the land
concerned. For a designation with important implications relating to development
potential it is essential that precise definition is achieved. The proposed Local Green
Spaces are presented on Map 3 of the Neighbourhood Plan and more detailed maps
are included in the Local Green Space Assessment report which supports the policy.

27
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 114

The scale and discrete nature of the areas of land in question assists in
understanding the alignment of boundaries. | am satisfied the areas of land proposed
for designation as Local Green Space have been adequately identified.

97. Paragraph 107 of the Framework states “Policies for managing development within
a Local Green Space should be consistent with those for Green Belts.” The part of
the Framework that relates to ‘Protecting Green Belt land,’” including paragraphs 152
to 156, sets out statements regarding the types of development that are not
inappropriate in Green Belt areas. | have recommended a modification so that it is
clear the policy does not seek to introduce a more restrictive approach to
development proposals than apply in Green Belt without sufficient justification, which
it may not (R on the Application of Lochailort Investments Limited v Mendip City
Council. Case Number: C1/2020/0812).

98.Paragraph 105 of the Framework states “The designation of land as Local Green
Space through local and neighbourhood plans allows communities to identify and
protect green areas of particular importance to them. Designating land as Local
Green Space should be consistent with the local planning of sustainable
development and complement investment in sufficient homes, jobs, and other
essential services. Local Green Spaces should only be designated when a plan is
prepared or updated, and be capable of enduring beyond the end of the plan period.”
In respect of each of the eight areas proposed for designation as Local Green Space
| find the designation is being made when a neighbourhood plan is being prepared,
and | have seen nothing to suggest the designation is not capable of enduring
beyond the end of the plan period. The intended Local Green Space designations
have regard to the local planning of sustainable development contributing to the
promotion of healthy communities, and conserving and enhancing the natural
environment, as set out in the Framework.

99.Paragraph 106 of the Framework states “The Local Green Space designation should
only be used where the green space is: a) in reasonably close proximity to the
community it serves; b) demonstrably special to a local community and holds a
particular local significance, for example because of its beauty, historic significance,
recreational value (including as a playing field), tranquillity or richness of its wildlife;
and c) local in character and is not an extensive tract of land.” The sites proposed for
designation are small, well defined, and substantially enclosed by boundaries made
up of walls or hedgerows. The sites are easily recognised as discrete areas of land.
The proposed designations both singly and in combination do not constitute a
blanket designation of open countryside adjacent to existing settlement as a back
door way to achieve what would amount to a new area of Green Belt by another
name. | find that in respect of the intended Local Green Spaces the designations

28
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 115

relate to green spaces that are in reasonably close-proximity to the community they
serve, are local in character, and are not an extensive tract of land.

100. The Guidance states the Qualifying Body (Parish Council) “should contact
landowners at an early stage about proposals to designate any part of their land as
Local Green Space. Landowners will have opportunities to make representations in
respect of proposals in a draft plan.” (Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph: 019
Reference 1D:37-019-20140306 Revision date 06 03 2014). The areas proposed for
designation as Local Green Spaces have been subject to extensive consultation with
landowners and the local community.

101. The Local Green Space Assessment report (December 2024) includes
information which seeks to justify the proposed designations as Local Green Space.
For each proposed designation an assessment of community value is set out with
other information including recent usage, as well as a detailed map and
photographs. Relevant reasons for designation are indicated as applying in respect
of each of the sites including matters referred to in the Framework. There is no
requirement to compare sites proposed for designation with sites within the
Neighbourhood Area or elsewhere that are not proposed for designation. | have
visited the areas of land concerned and as a matter of planning judgement consider
the attributes identified to be relevant and reasonable. The Neighbourhood Plan and
evidence base provides sufficient evidence for me to conclude that the areas
proposed for designation as Local Green Spaces are demonstrably special to a local
community and hold a particular local significance.

102. The fact that an area proposed for designation as Local Green Space is
protected by other designations, for example under Local Plan Policy SC3, does not
prevent designation as Local Green Space. Different types of designations are
intended to achieve different purposes. Whilst Policy SC3 protects identified open
spaces and recreation areas from inappropriate development additional local benefit
can be gained from designation as Local Green Space by highlighting the particular
importance of the areas in question to the local community for example the Guidance
states land designated as Local Green Space may potentially also be nominated for
listing by the local authority as an Asset of Community Value. Listing gives
community interest groups an opportunity to bid if the owner wants to dispose of the
land.

103. The issue of public access has been referred to in a representation. Areas
that may be considered for designation as Local Green Space may be crossed
by public rights of way. There is no need to designate linear corridors as Local Green
Space simply to protect rights of way, which are already protected under other
legislation. The Guidance states land could be considered for designation even if

29
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 116

there is no public access (eg green areas which are valued because of their wildlife,
historic significance, and/or beauty).

104. | find that the areas proposed as Local Green Spaces are suitable for
designation and have regard for paragraphs 105 to 107 of the Framework concerned
with the identification and designation of Local Green Space.

105. The policy is in general conformity with the strategic policies of the
Development Plan. The policy serves a clear purpose by providing an additional
level of detail or distinct local approach to that set out in the strategic policies.

106. The policy seeks to shape and direct sustainable development to ensure that
local people get the right type of development for their community. Having regard to
the Framework and Guidance the policy as recommended to be modified is
appropriate to be included in a ‘made’ neighbourhood plan. Subject to the
recommended modification this policy meets the Basic Conditions.

Recommended modification 5:

In Policy HA-4 replace part 2 with “Within the designated Local Green Spaces
development proposals will be managed in accordance with national Green
Belt policy”

Policy HA-5 Flooding

107. This policy seeks to establish that all development should be designed to
minimise flood risk and take opportunities to reduce flood risk. The policy also seeks,
within a defined part of the Neighbourhood Area, to establish flood risk related
principles for development including the safeguarding of identified sites for potential
flood mitigation schemes, and expects development proposals located in areas that
would benefit from defined flood management schemes to take opportunities to
support the delivery of those schemes.

108. The City Council states “Policy ‘HA-5 Flooding’ seeks to safeguard land for
potential future flood mitigation opportunities in accordance with paragraph 172b of
the NPPF and in conformity with strategic policies ‘CC1: Responding to Climate
Change and Creating Environmental Sustainability’ and ‘SP8: Protecting the Natural
Environment’ of the SPLADPD. The Jacobs Flood Risk Management Study 2020
provides robust evidence and justification to support the areas proposed for
safeguarding”. “The wording of the policy has been amended since the Reg14 Plan
to address some of the issues raised by the Local Lead Flood Authority. The
resulting wording creates a policy which is not wholly clear on what the requirements
are. For example, ‘design flood is referred to’ but the definition is not clarified. The

30
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 117

policy includes reference to ‘may’ in various places, this raised questions over what
is expected of a development for it to meet the policy requirements. The aim of the
policy to ensure that development mitigates and takes opportunities to reduce flood
risk is supported. In particular, the policy aims to generate delivery and/or
contributions to the delivery of schemes within the Jacobs Flood Risk Management
Study. The wording does not make clear what the expectations are for development
management purposes or that such contributions would need to meet the tests in
paragraph 58 of the NPPF. The policy would benefit from some clearer wording to
ensure that it provides a clear basis for development management purposes.”

109. United Utilities states “We wish to suggest that criterion 2 is expanded to
clearly state that it relates to all sources of flood risk as per the following
amendment. ‘2. Avoid areas at risk of flooding from all sources in the design flood
event.” With respect to criterion 6, we wish to highlight that any approach to surface
water management must fully reflect the surface water hierarchy in national planning
practice guidance which states that the public combined sewer, which carries both
foul and surface water, is the last resort for the management of surface water. As
such, connection to a surface water only system is preferable to a combined
drainage. This position must be reflected in the decision-making process when
determining drainage approaches. Whilst we are supportive of the intentions of
criterion 6, we must explain that in the event that an alternative to the public sewer
for the management of surface water is not available, UUW must accept a
connection of surface water to the sewer network in accordance with our statutory
obligations and the hierarchy for the management of surface water in national
planning practice guidance.”

110. The representation on behalf of Applethwaite Homes states they are
progressing a planning application seeking outline planning permission for up to 80
dwellings on land south of Low Road, Halton. It is stated a site-specific Flood Risk
assessment and drainage strategy accompanies the application confirming the site is
located entirely within Flood Zone 1, and as a result of the drainage strategy the site
does not increase flooding within or downstream of the catchment including an
allowance for climate change. The representation states “the Neighbourhood Plan
does not appear to have had regard to a current planning application, nor the wider
evidential issues explored in the application. In particular, the Neighbourhood Plan’s
Policy HA-5 takes an approach to flood mitigation and reducing flood risk which is
not in line with national policy and does not have a robust evidence base. The Policy
should therefore be deleted.”

111. In commenting on the Regulation 16 representations the Parish Council
stated that whilst the Lead Local Flood Authority had commented “at each stage”
unfortunately they did not provide a Regulation 16 representation. The Parish

31
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 118

Council sent me a copy of the Regulation 14 representation of Lancashire County
Council as Lead Local Flood Authority dated 22 August 2024. | have taken the
comments of the Parish Council, including the enclosure, into consideration in this
Independent Examination but may not have referred to all those comments and
enclosed submission in my report.

112. On 11 July 2025 | wrote to the City and Parish Councils advising them | had
identified flaws in Policy HA-5 Flooding which prevented the Neighbourhood Plan
proceeding to referendum unless that policy, in its present form, is deleted from the
Plan. In seeking to avoid that outcome | had drafted a recommended major
modification of Policy HA-5 so that | would be able to recommend it remains part of
the Neighbourhood Plan, and shared that draft with the City and Parish Councils. In
response to my request for clarification of this matter the City and Parish Councils
jointly wrote to me on 16 July 2025 stating “The Planning Practice Guidance, which
has equal status as national planning policy to the Framework (Mead Realisations
Ltd v Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government [2025]
EWCA 32) states that, ‘all Plans should make as much use as possible of
opportunities presented by new development to reduce the causes and impacts of
flooding’ (Paragraph: 062 Reference ID: 7-062-20220825). This is not merely a
requirement to ensure development does not increase flooding but an expectation
that plans and development will reduce the causes and impacts of existing flood risk
on and off site. Paragraph: 066 Reference ID: 7-066 20220825 states, ‘Land that is
likely to be needed for natural flood management could also be protected by
safeguarding land for future flood risk management infrastructure’. There is no
mention within this part of national policy that this relates only to residual flood risk.
Policy HA-5 proposes to ensure that the areas identified are safeguarded and
developed to provide natural flood mitigation measures that contribute to reducing
the causes and impacts of significant flood risk within Halton. To accord with national
policy, it is not enough that new development simply does not make flood risk
elsewhere worse, it should contribute to reducing it. The areas identified by the
Study provide an opportunity to include natural flood risk measures within
development to reduce the causes and impact of flooding as expected by national
policy. While the Study does acknowledge that the lack of landowner support may be
an obstacle, this does not mean that such opportunities should be ignored where a
development is proposed. Development in these areas should be designed to ensure
that the areas identified are used for natural flood risk measures and contribute to
rescuing the causes and impacts of flooding on and off the site. The WMS of 2015
relating to technical standards is dated and no longer reflects national planning
policy which has evolved significantly since then. For example, many plans, including
Lancaster Local Plan include technical standards for energy efficiency beyond the
Code 4 referred to in the WMS. Policy DM34 of the Lancaster Local Plan also
includes technical standards for sustainable drainage systems. The ‘new system’

32
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 119

referred to relates to optional water, dwelling size, accessibility and energy efficiency
standards. It does not relate to wider flood risk matters. The Framework and the
Planning Practice Guidance expect plans to ensure that opportunities are taken to
reduce flood risk. It is therefore appropriate for the Neighbourhood Plan to include
policies which set out expectations for flood risk and drainage, especially where flood
risk is identified as a significant issue in an area. We therefore request that you
review your stance regarding the safeguarding of the areas of land identified within
the Study. It is acknowledged that the wording of the policy relating to the
safeguarded areas could be improved. Amending the wording to ensure that these
areas are either safeguarded for potential future flood risk measures or if they are
incorporated within an application site, the areas are designed to accommodate
natural flood risk measures that reduce the causes and impacts of flood risk on and
off site would ensure that they are not lost as opportunities to reduce flood risk in
accordance with national policy. The bullet points within the recommended modified
policy are consistent with the NPPF, PPG and policies DM33 and DM34 of the Local
Plan which seek to reduce the causes and impacts of flood risk. They are however
equally relevant to all new development, not just within the area identified in ‘Plan
12’. We request the recommended modification is altered so that the revised policy
relates to the whole of the Neighbourhood Plan area. If, despite the above, you
remain of the opinion that policy HA-5 cannot safeguard the land for flood mitigation
and/or the bullet points in your report should not relate to all development, please
would you consider making the following amendments to the recommended modified
policy: * Number the bullet points for ease of reference; « Add reference to the
Jacobs report after 'evidence of flood risk in Halton Village ' Your reconsideration of
the inclusion of safeguarding land for flood mitigation would be appreciated. We look
forward either further correspondence with regard a revised modified policy or your
report in due course.” | have taken this joint response of the City and Parish Councils
into consideration in this Independent Examination.

113. In February 2018, Lancashire County Council commissioned Jacobs UK to
undertake an initial assessment of flood risk management covering Halton. The
report was published in February 2020 which has subsequently been used as part of
the evidence base supporting the Neighbourhood Plan. The report states Halton has
experienced five flood events since 2002, with the two most recent events in
December 2015 and November 2017. The report states the main mechanism of
flooding in 2015 is likely to have been from out of bank flow from the River Lune,
whereas a combination of pluvial, surface-water and fluvial flooding mechanisms
were responsible for the 2017 event.

114. Paragraph 165 of the Framework states “Inappropriate development in areas
at risk of flooding should be avoided by directing development away from areas at
highest risk (whether existing or future). Where development is necessary in such

33
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 120

areas, the development should be made safe for its lifetime without increasing flood
risk elsewhere.” Paragraphs 167 to 172 set out a sequential risk-based approach to
the location of development and an exception test. Paragraph 173 of the Framework
states when determining any planning applications local planning authorities should
ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere, and refers to site-specific flood risk
assessments and criteria to be met for development to be allowed in areas at risk of
flooding. Paragraph 175 of the Framework states major developments should
incorporate defined sustainable drainage systems unless clear evidence
demonstrates they would be inappropriate.

115. | agree with the City Council that the policy would benefit from clearer
wording. | have recommended a modification so it is evident how a decision maker
should react to development proposals. The first paragraph of Policy HA-5 and
bullet point 1 include the imprecise terms “minimise” and “take opportunities to
reduce flood risk”. The term “will be expected to” in the second paragraph of the
policy does not provide a basis for the determination of development proposals. The
term “design flood event” in bullet point 2 is imprecise. Bullet point 4 includes the
terms “including” and “for example” that introduce uncertainty. The requirement for
development to “recognise” in bullet point 5 does not provide a basis for the
determination of development proposals. | have recommended a modification in
these respects so that the policy has sufficient regard for national policy and “is
clearly written and unambiguous, so it is evident how a decision maker should react
to development proposals” as required by paragraph 16d) of the Framework.

116. The reference to safeguarding land from development that is required, or
likely to be required, for current or future flood management in paragraph 167b of the
Framework is in the context of management of residual risk after applying a
sequential risk-based approach to the location of development. The Neighbourhood
Plan does not make provision for development and has not applied a sequential risk-
based approach to the location of development.

117. The City and Parish Councils have referred me to Paragraph: 066 Reference
ID: 7-066-20220825 of the Guidance but that paragraph relates to strategic policies.
It is Paragraph: 011 Reference ID: 7-011-20220825 of the Guidance that explains
“How should land for future flood risk management infrastructure be safeguarded?”
stating “During the preparation of strategic policies, it is useful to identify any land
which is likely to be needed for flood and coastal erosion risk management
infrastructure. Consideration can also be given to any necessary access to that land,
and any additional land which may be needed temporarily during construction.
Strategic policy-making authorities need to consult with other Risk Management
Authorities and refer to strategic flood risk documentation (such as flood risk
management plans, shoreline management plans, adaptation plans, surface water

34
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 121

management plans, and local flood risk management strategies prepared by Lead
Local Flood Authorities) and the Environment Agency’s Programme of flood and
coastal erosion risk management schemes, to identify the land that is likely to be
needed. Local Planning Authorities may then consider allocating these sites or
including policies in their plan to discourage development that could prevent or
hinder the delivery of planned flood risk management associated infrastructure. Land
could also be safeguarded for natural flood management approaches that help to
reduce the causes and impacts of flooding, particularly where development has the
potential to prevent, hinder or help to enable their delivery. Safeguarding land in this
way is particularly important for infrastructure that reduces the risk of flooding to
large amounts of existing development, or where options for managing risk in other
ways are limited.” This paragraph relates to the preparation of strategic policies. The
Neighbourhood Plan does not, and may not, contain strategic policies. The City and
Parish Councils have also referred me to Paragraph: 062 Reference ID: 7-062-
20220825 of the Guidance. That paragraph relates to use of natural flood
management techniques wherever they would be effective and states strategic flood
risk assessments should identify such opportunities.

118. | am not satisfied bullet points 3 and 4 of the second paragraph of Policy HA-5
are sufficiently justified to form part of the Development Plan. The Flood Risk
Management Study 2020 is an initial assessment only. The aim of the assessment is
to establish whether a workable, sustainable, and justified solution to reduce the risk
of flooding can probably be found, or whether the project should take a different
course or be stopped. An objective is to provide a starting point for discussion with
communities and partner organisations for use in the development of potential
schemes and negotiations regarding funding contributions. The study recognises it is
based on several uncertainties and assumptions that need to be addressed, and in
respect of which no public consultation, including with landowners and developers,
has been undertaken. The study states the options considered are not
comprehensive, and that even for options taken forward, further testing and
refinement are required. The areas of land to be safeguarded by Policy HA-5 are
referred to in the supporting document as “indicative locations.” The areas of land
proposed to be safeguarded are not sufficiently precisely defined in supporting
evidence to form part of the Development Plan. The safeguarding of the parcels of
land is stated in Policy HA-5 to “ensure they are available for future potential flood
mitigation schemes.” The Flood Risk Management Study states such schemes could
be formal storage areas or SuDS and that lack of landowner support will likely be a
major obstacle to progressing all the Do-Something options. Policy HA-5 is seeking
to prevent development of land through safeguarding, to reduce pre-existing flood
risk elsewhere. This planning obligation does not have sufficient regard for
paragraph 57 of the Framework. | have recommended bullet points 3 and 4 are
deleted for these reasons so that the policy has sufficient regard for national policy. |

35
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 122

have recommended a modification that establishes policy support, but not
requirements, for development proposals for flood risk management infrastructure or
natural flood management measures as this is sufficiently evidenced.

119. Whilst | am satisfied Map 14 of the Neighbourhood Plan adequately explains
the term overloaded, bullet point 6 does not have sufficient regard for paragraph 16f
of the Framework in that it duplicates elements of non-strategic Policies DM33
(Development and Flood Risk) and DM34 (Surface Water Run-off and Sustainable
Drainage) which set out the sustainable drainage hierarchy. The Written Ministerial
Statement of 25 March 2015 states neighbourhood plans should not set out any
additional local technical standards or requirements relating to the construction,
internal layout, or performance of new dwellings. The City and Parish Councils have
stated many plans including the Lancaster Local Plan include technical standards for
energy efficiency beyond the Code 4 referred to in the Written Ministerial Statement.
The Lancaster Local Plan is not a Neighbourhood Plan. The representation of United
Utilities states that if an alternative to the public sewer for the management of
surface water is not available “UUW must accept a connection of surface water to
the sewer network in accordance with our statutory obligations and the hierarchy for
the management of surface water in national planning practice guidance.” Bullet
point 6 does not reflect statutory obligations. | have recommended a modification in
these respects so that the policy has sufficient regard for national policy and “is
clearly written and unambiguous, so it is evident how a decision maker should react
to development proposals” as required by paragraph 16d) of the Framework.

120. | have noted the representation on behalf of Applethwaite Homes refers to the
requirement of paragraph 31 of the Framework for policies to be underpinned by up-
to-date evidence, and the suggestion that a drainage basin constructed on land off
Forest Heights may have not been factored into the Flood Risk Management Study
2020. | have not explored this latter matter as it would not affect the basis of my
recommendations of modification of Policy HA-5 set out above.

121. As recommended to be modified the policy is in general conformity with the
strategic policies of the Development Plan. The policy serves a clear purpose by
providing an additional level of detail or distinct local approach to that set out in the
strategic policies.

122. The policy seeks to shape and direct sustainable development to ensure that
local people get the right type of development for their community. Having regard to
the Framework and Guidance, the policy as recommended to be modified, is
appropriate to be included in a ‘made’ neighbourhood plan. Subject to the
recommended modification this policy meets the Basic Conditions.

36
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 123

Recommended modification 6:

Replace Policy HA-5 with “All development proposals must not increase flood
risk elsewhere. Given the evidence of flood occurrence in the Neighbourhood
Area (including evidence within the Jacobs Flood Risk Management Study,
Halton Initial Assessment, February 2020) development proposals must:

1. Avoid areas at risk of flooding from all sources;

2. Include sustainable drainage systems. (Natural flood management
measures and design elements including permeable drive surfaces
or green and blue roofs will be supported);

3. Demonstrate the development will not result in any on-surface water
flows off the development site;

4. Wherever possible discharge surface water to a surface water only
system, and not discharge any flows into existing overloaded surface
water drains and culverts identified on Map 14 of the Neighbourhood
Plan. Development proposals that dispose of surface water through
infiltration into the ground, or discharge directly through new drains
into a watercourse with demonstrated sufficient capacity will be
supported; and

5. Demonstrate how consideration has been given to climate change.

Development proposals for flood risk management infrastructure or natural
flood management measures will be supported.”

Policy HA-6 Protecting Historic Character

123. This policy seeks to protect the historic character of the Neighbourhood Area.

124. Paragraph 180 of the Framework includes “Planning policies and decisions
should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by recognising
the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside.” Paragraph 820of the
Framework states “In rural areas, planning policies and decisions should be
responsive to local circumstances and support housing developments that reflect
local needs, including proposals for community-led development for housing. Local
planning authorities should support opportunities to bring forward rural exception
sites that will provide affordable housing to meet identified local needs, and consider
whether allowing some market housing on these sites would help to facilitate this.”
Paragraph 83 of the Framework states “To promote sustainable development in rural
areas, housing should be located where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural
communities. Planning policies should identify opportunities for villages to grow and
thrive, especially where this will support local services. Where there are groups of
smaller settlements, development in one village may support services in a village

37
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 124

nearby.” Paragraph 84 of the Framework includes planning policies should avoid the
development of isolated homes in the countryside unless one or more of stated
circumstances apply. | have recommended a modification so that the policy has
sufficient regard for national policy by more clearly recognising some forms of
proportionate development may occur adjacent to the settlements of Halton and
Aughton.

125. | am satisfied it is appropriate for this policy to refer to design matters relating
to the historic and rural character of the Neighbourhood Area complementing the
more general design guidance set out in Policy HA-9 of the Neighbourhood Plan. |
have recommended a modification in this respect to improve clarity. | am also
satisfied the policy has sufficient regard for national policy regarding the
conservation and enhancement of the historic environment subject to my proposed
modification that the preservation and enhancement of the historic character should
be in a manner appropriate to its significance. The word “sub-urbanisation” requires
correction. | have recommended a modification in these respects so that the policy
has sufficient regard for national policy and “is clearly written and unambiguous, so it
is evident how a decision maker should react to development proposals” as required
by paragraph 16d) of the Framework.

126. The policy is in general conformity with the strategic policies of the
Development Plan. The policy serves a clear purpose by providing an additional
level of detail or distinct local approach to that set out in the strategic policies.

127. The policy seeks to shape and direct sustainable development to ensure that
local people get the right type of development for their community. Having regard to
the Framework and Guidance, the policy as recommended to be modified, is
appropriate to be included in a ‘made’ neighbourhood plan. Subject to the
recommended modification this policy meets the Basic Conditions.

Recommended modification 7:
In Policy HA-6
¢ in the first sentence delete “and appearance” and after “Area” insert “in
a manner appropriate to its significance”
e insert “disproportionate” before “village sprawl”
e replace “sub-urbanisation” with “suburbanisation”

Policy HA-7 Meeting Local Housing Needs

128. This policy seeks to ensure proposals for new housing development meet
local housing needs.

38
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 125

129. The City Council state the policy supports housing development in
accordance with the development strategy and hierarchy in the Local Plan and
policies which aim to meet an identified need.

130. Paragraph 63 of the Framework states that within the context of establishing
housing need the size, type and tenure of housing needed for different groups in the
community should be assessed and reflected in planning policies. The policy is
supported by and refers to evidence in a housing needs survey dated 2019. The
policy provides flexibility to respond to changing housing need.

131. The policy is in general conformity with the strategic policies of the
Development Plan. The policy serves a clear purpose by providing an additional
level of detail or distinct local approach to that set out in the strategic policies.

132. The policy seeks to shape and direct sustainable development to ensure that
local people get the right type of development for their community. Having regard to
the Framework and Guidance the policy is appropriate to be included in a ‘made’
neighbourhood plan. This policy meets the Basic Conditions.

Policy HA-8 Halton Urban Development

133. This policy seeks to establish conditional support for development within the
built-up area of Halton.

134. Paragraph 70 d) of the Framework states Local Planning Authorities should
support the development of windfall sites through their policies and decisions —
giving greater weight to the benefits of using suitable sites within existing settlements
for homes. Paragraph 124 of the Framework includes planning policies should “give
substantial weight to the value of using suitable brownfield land within settlements for
homes and other identified needs” and “recognise that some undeveloped land can
perform many functions such as ... flood risk mitigation.”

135. The City Council state “The aim of policy ‘HA-8 Halton Urban Development’ to
support development in the built-up area is consistent with the Local Plan. However,
bullet point 2 is not considered necessary as addressing constraints is an integral
part of an assessment of any proposal. The reference to viability assessment is also
misleading - is not necessary to show constraints can be overcome. | agree with
these points and have recommended part 2 of the policy is deleted. | have also
recommended part 1 of the policy is deleted as it is confusing and unnecessary to
refer to one other policy of the Neighbourhood Plan as the plan should be read as a
whole. | have recommended these modifications so that the policy has sufficient
regard for national policy and “is clearly written and unambiguous, so it is evident

39
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 126

how a decision maker should react to development proposals” as required by
paragraph 16d) of the Framework.

136. The Defence Infrastructure Organisation states on behalf of the Ministry of
Defence (MOD) “Located within the Neighbourhood Plan Area (NPA) is an existing
military establishment, known as Halton Training Camp. A plan of the Site is
attached to Appendix 1. The Site plays a role in terms of national defence and
military capability, and training. Importantly, there is an ongoing need to safeguard
the facility for defence purposes, and to support further development to meet
operational requirements - in line with paragraph 102(b) of the NPPF (December
2024). As such, we consider that proposals associated with defence and military
operations should be supported, where they would enhance or sustain operational
capabilities. It is also important to note that non-military or non-defence related
development within or in the areas around the Site will not be supported, where it
would adversely affect military operations or capability, unless it can be
demonstrated that there is no longer a defence or military need for the Site. It is our
position that this should be clearly outlined within the Neighbourhood Plan in the
form of a Policy, as set out at Appendix 2 of this representation.”

137. Paragraph 101 (paragraph 102 in the 2024 version) of the Framework
includes “Planning policies and decisions should promote public safety and take into
account wider security and defence requirements by ... recognising and supporting
development required for operational defence and security purposes, and ensuring
that operational sites are not affected adversely by the impact of other development
proposed in the area.” | have recommended a modification in this respect based on
the suggestion of the Defence Infrastructure Organisation so that the policy has
sufficient regard for national policy.

138. The policy is in general conformity with the strategic policies of the
Development Plan. The policy serves a clear purpose by providing an additional
level of detail or distinct local approach to that set out in the strategic policies.

139. The policy seeks to shape and direct sustainable development to ensure that
local people get the right type of development for their community. Having regard to
the Framework and Guidance the policy as recommended to be modified is
appropriate to be included in a ‘made’ neighbourhood plan. Subject to the
recommended modification this policy meets the Basic Conditions.

Recommended modification 8:
In Policy HA-8
o delete parts 1 and 2

40
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 127

¢ insert a new part “Proposals associated with defence and military
operations will be supported within the Halton Training Camp identified
on Map 4A, where they would enhance or sustain operational
capabilities. Non-military or non-defence related development within or
in the areas around the Halton Training Camp will not be supported,
where it would adversely affect military operations or capability, unless
it can be demonstrated that there is no longer a defence or military need
for the site.”

Insert the Location Plan for Halton Training Camp in Appendix 1 of the
Regulation 16 representation of the Defence Infrastructure Organisation into
the Neighbourhood Plan as Map 4A.

Policy HA-9 High Quality and Sustainable Design

140. This policy seeks to establish sustainable design principles for development.

141. To be read alongside the Guidance, Government published the National
Design Guide on 1 October 2019 to set out the characteristics of well-designed
places and demonstrate what good design means in practice. The National Design
Guide was updated on 30 January 2021 to align with the National Model Design
Code and Guidance Notes for Design Codes published separately (as forming part
of the Guidance) on 20 July 2021, and have been last updated on 14 October 2021.

142. Paragraph 132 of the Framework states “neighbourhood planning groups can
play an important role in identifying the special qualities of each area and explaining
how this should be reflected in development”. The policy has regard for paragraph
135 of the Framework which sets out design principles of development that planning
policies should ensure. The Design Codes and Guidance encourage high quality
sustainable design whilst recognising that innovative and contemporary approaches
may be appropriate where they positively respond to local character and context as
referred to in paragraph 135 of the Framework. | am satisfied that through use of the
term “proportionate to the scale and nature of the scheme” the policy avoids being
overly prescriptive. The design principles included within Policy HA-9 are consistent
with the approach and principles recommended in national policy.

143. The terms “will be expected to” in part 1 of the policy and “are encouraged” in
part 5b of the policy do not provide a basis for the determination of development
proposals. Part 3 of the policy is ambiguous. Part 4 of the policy without expansion
represents a duplication of Local Plan policy which paragraph 16f of the Framework
states should be avoided. | have recommended a modification in these respects so

41
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 128

that the policy has sufficient regard for national policy and “is clearly written and
unambiguous, so it is evident how a decision maker should react to development
proposals” as required by paragraph 16d) of the Framework. | am satisfied the
requirement in part 5 of the policy to address the stated criteria does not amount to
the setting of standards which would be contrary to the Ministerial Written Statement
to Parliament of the Secretary of State (CLG) on 25 March 2015.

144. The policy is in general conformity with the strategic policies of the
Development Plan. The policy serves a clear purpose by providing an additional
level of detail or distinct local approach to that set out in the strategic policies.

145. The policy seeks to shape and direct sustainable development to ensure that
local people get the right type of development for their community. Having regard to
the Framework and Guidance the policy as recommended to be modified is
appropriate to be included in a ‘made’ neighbourhood plan. Subject to the
recommended modification this policy meets the Basic Conditions.

Recommended modification 9:
In Policy HA-9
¢ in part 1 replace “will be expected to” with “should”
e in part 3 after “quality” delete “and”
e continue part 4 with the text of part 5 with the exception that in sub part b
“are encouraged” is replaced by “will be supported”

Policy HA-10 Active Travel

146. This policy seeks to establish principles for development to promote active
travel.
147. Paragraph 108 of the Framework states planning policies should provide for

attractive and well-designed walking and cycling networks.

148. Broadband provision is not deliverable through a planning policy but provision
for broadband is. Development may not necessarily be able to be located close to
local facilities, employment uses, and bus stops. The requirements within parts 4 and
6 of the policy do not have sufficient regard for paragraph 57 of the Framework
relating to planning obligations. It is not appropriate to refer to community aspirations
and Parish Council actions within a statutory land use policy. | have recommended a
modification in these respects so that the policy has sufficient regard for national
policy and “is clearly written and unambiguous, so it is evident how a decision maker
should react to development proposals” as required by paragraph 16d) of the
Framework.

42
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 129

149. The policy is in general conformity with the strategic policies of the
Development Plan. The policy serves a clear purpose by providing an additional
level of detail or distinct local approach to that set out in the strategic policies.

150. The policy seeks to shape and direct sustainable development to ensure that
local people get the right type of development for their community. Having regard to
the Framework and Guidance the policy, as recommended to be modified, is
appropriate to be included in a ‘made’ neighbourhood plan. Subject to the
recommended modification this policy meets the Basic Conditions.

Recommended modification 10:
In Policy HA-10
¢ in part 1 replace “broadband provision” with “provision for broadband”
e replace parts 2 and 3 with “Be located with regard for access to local
facilities, services, employment uses, and bus stops.”
¢ replace part 4 with “Provide safe pedestrian and cycle site access.
Where development contributions are available for locally determined
expenditure, they may be utilised to enhance road safety within the
village for example by contribution to pedestrian crossings at Low
Road/High Street.”
e delete part 6

Policy HA-11 Community Facilities

151. This policy seeks to ensure named community facilities are retained, and
establish criteria for acceptance of their loss.

152. Paragraph 97 of the Framework states planning policies should plan positively
for the provision of community facilities, guard against the unnecessary loss of
valued facilities and services, and ensure established shops facilities and services
are able to develop and modernise and are retained for the benefit of the community.

153. The policy is in general conformity with the strategic policies of the
Development Plan. The policy serves a clear purpose by providing an additional
level of detail or distinct local approach to that set out in the strategic policies.

154. The policy seeks to shape and direct sustainable development to ensure that
local people get the right type of development for their community. Having regard to
the Framework and Guidance the policy is appropriate to be included in a ‘made’
neighbourhood plan. This policy meets the Basic Conditions.

43
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 130

Conclusion and Referendum

155. | have recommended 10 modifications to the Submission Version Plan. |

recommend an additional modification in the Annex to my report. The definition of
plans and programmes in Article 2(a) of EU Directive 2001/42 includes any
modifications to them. | am satisfied that the Neighbourhood Plan is compatible with
the Convention Rights, and would remain compatible if modified in accordance with
my recommendations; and subject to the modifications | have recommended, meets
all the Statutory Requirements set out in paragraph 8(1) of schedule 4B of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990, and meets the Basic Conditions:

having regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by the
Secretary of State, it is appropriate to make the plan;

the making of the neighbourhood plan contributes to the achievement of sustainable
development;

the making of the neighbourhood plan is in general conformity with the strategic
policies contained in the development plan for the area of the authority (or any part
of that area);

does not breach, and is otherwise compatible with, EU obligations; and

the making of the neighbourhood development plan does not breach the
requirements of Chapter 8 of Part 6 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017.

| recommend to Lancaster City Council that the Halton-with-Aughton
Neighbourhood Development Plan for the plan period up to 2031 should,
subject to the modifications | have put forward, be submitted to referendum.

156. | am required to consider whether the referendum area should extend beyond

the Neighbourhood Plan area and if to be extended, the nature of that extension. |
have seen nothing to suggest that the policies of the Plan will have “a substantial,
direct and demonstrable impact beyond the neighbourhood area.” | have seen
nothing to suggest the referendum area should be extended for any other reason. |
conclude the referendum area should not be extended beyond the designated
Neighbourhood Area.

| recommend that the Neighbourhood Plan should proceed to a referendum
based on the area that was designated by Lancaster City Council as a
Neighbourhood Area on 27 October 2015.

44
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



Page 131

Annex: Minor Corrections to the Neighbourhood Plan

157. | have only recommended modifications and corrections to the
Neighbourhood Plan (presented in bold type) where | consider they need to be made
so that the plan meets the Basic Conditions and the other requirements | have
identified. If to any extent, a policy set out in the Neighbourhood Plan conflicts with
any other statement or information in the plan, the conflict must be resolved in favour
of the policy. Supporting text must be adjusted to achieve consistency with the
modified policies.

158. The City Council has proposed the following minor modifications:

¢ include a single policy map to provide clarity regarding the areas covered by
designations.

¢ clarify the monitoring framework for the Neighbourhood Plan.

e delete the Housing Opportunity Sites section of the Neighbourhood Plan
which is unnecessary.

¢ whilst the Independent Examination has been undertaken in the context of the
2023 Framework the Neighbourhood Plan should be updated to refer to the
2024 Framework. This should include an update of paragraph 4.2 within the
background text of the Neighbourhood Plan.

e the Neighbourhood Plan should be updated to refer to the policies and
references of the Local Plan (climate emergency review).

| recommend these minor modifications including updates and corrections are made.

Recommended modification 11:
Modify policy explanation sections, general text, figures, and images, and

supporting documents to achieve consistency with the modified policies; to
achieve updates and correct identified errors; to achieve necessary
clarifications; and to ensure sufficient regard for national policy.

Chris Collison

Planning and Management Ltd
31 July 2025

REPORT END

45
Halton-with-Aughton NDP Report of Independent Examination July 2025

Christopher Collison Planning and Management Ltd



	Agenda
	1 Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Plan Decision to Proceed to Referendum
	ICMD22 REPORT
	Appendix A - Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Plan - Submission Version
	Appendix B - Halton-with-Aughton Neighbourhood Plan - Examiner Report


